## UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON

Δφ.

FACULTY OF SCIENCE

School of Biological Sciences

#### THE USE OF MODEL FLOWERS TO ENHANCE OVIPOSITION BY APHIDOPHAGOUS HOVERFLIES (DIPTERA: SYRPHIDAE) IN ARABLE CROPS

by

**Robyn Linda Day** 

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

November 2007

#### UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON

#### ABSTRACT SCHOOL OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

#### Doctor of Philosophy

# THE USE OF MODEL FLOWERS TO ENHANCE OVIPOSITION BY APHIDOPHAGOUS HOVERFLIES (DIPTERA: SYRPHIDAE) IN ARABLE CROPS

#### By Robyn Linda Day

This project examines the effect of using model flowers in the margins of cereal fields on oviposition by aphidophagous hoverflies. In 2002 there was significantly more syrphid oviposition on bait plants near standardised model flowers consisting of yellow painted flower pot trays mounted on stakes at three different heights, and containing pollen and nectar, than on bait plants at control positions. Further experiments carried out in 2002 and 2003 compared oviposition near yellow and unpainted (brown) model flowers with and without food resources. In both years, significantly more oviposition was found near the yellow model flowers than near the brown ones. However, the presence or absence of pollen, nectar or both had no effect on oviposition rates. In an attempt to explain these results, insectary based tests compared the numbers of edgs laid on bean plants infested with aphids, and the numbers of landings on yellow targets by starved and normally fed gravid females of Episyrphus balteatus, the commonest aphidophagous syrphid species in the U.K. The results indicated that hunger state had no effect on either response. This suggested that syrphids may be attracted towards an apparent source of food even if not in a state of hunger, and in the presence of aphids will lay eggs even if hungry rather than continuing to search for food.

Further work was aimed at improving the attractiveness of the flower models. The results of laboratory and field experiments comparing different shades of yellow indicated that fluorescent yellows with a UV component were the most attractive. When slow release nepetalactone lures were placed close to model flowers, significantly more syrphid eggs were laid at a distance of 25m from the model flowers than at 0m, suggesting that this volatile has a deterrent effect on syrphid oviposition. There were no significant differences between oviposition rates on bait plants (2004) or yellow water trap catches of gravid female syrphids (2005) in the presence or absence of *cis*-jasmone. The results may have been affected by rain water collecting in the lids of the vials which prevented dispersal of the volatile.

In separate experiments, yellow trap catches were used to compare their attractiveness to gravid syrphids using targets of different heights, of different sizes and with different patterns. Yellow water traps placed 30cms above the ground, the largest water traps (25cm diameter) and water traps without patterns were identified as the most attractive.

An experiment carried out in the grounds of the University of Southampton assessed the effect of a model flower with the 'optimum' attributes that had been identified, on syrphid oviposition. Overall, significantly more oviposition occurred near model flowers than at control positions.

## CONTENTS

TITLE	
ABSTRACT	i
CONTENTS	ii
AUTHOR'S DECLARATION	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii

## CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1.	Aphids as pests of cereals		
1.2.	Aphid control	2	
1.3.	Hoverflies	4	
	1.3.1. Taxonomy	4	
	1.3.2. Identification of the adult hoverfly	4	
	1.3.3. Hoverfly distribution	5	
	1.3.4. Larval development	5	
	1.3.5. Mating behaviour	7	
	1.3.6. Adult feeding-pollen	8	
	1.3.7. Adult feeding-nectar and honeydew	9	
	1.3.8. Flower choice by adult hoverflies	10	
1.4. C	Dviposition	11	
	1.4.1. Oviposition preferences	11	
	1.4.2. Discrimination in oviposition	12	
	1.4.3. Syrphid/prey dynamics	13	
	1.4.4. The age of aphid colonies	14	
	1.4.5. Olfactory stimuli	15	
	1.4.6. Plant-related factors	17	
	1.4.7. Habitat manipulation	17	
1.5. A	Aims and content of the thesis	20	

## CHAPTER TWO

## THE USE OF YELLOW MODEL FLOWERS TO ENHANCE OVIPOSITION BY APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS IN THE FIELD

2.1 General introduction	21
2.2. Preliminary laboratory experiment	24
2.3. Methods and materials	24
2.4. Results	26
2.5. Discussion	27
2.6. Field experiments	28
2.7. General Methods and Materials	28
2.8. Results	33
2.9. Discussion	38
2.10. Laboratory experiment	42
2.11. Methods and Materials	42
2.12. Results	44
2.13. Discussion	47
2.14. Conclusions	48

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### COLOUR PREFERENCES IN APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS

3.1. General introduction	49
3.2. Laboratory experiment	53
3.3. Methods and materials	54
3.4. Results	56
3.5. Discussion	61

3.6. Field experiments	62
3.7. Methods and materials	62
3.8. Results	65
3.9. Discussion	69
3.10. Conclusions	71

## CHAPTER FOUR

## THE RESPONSES OF APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS TO AN APHID-DERIVED PHEROMONE AND A PLANT-DERIVED VOLATILE IN THE FIELD

4.1. Introduction	72
4.2. Nepetalactone experiments	76
4.3. Method and materials	76
4.4. Results	79
4.5. Discussion	80
4.6. Preliminary field experiment	81
4.7. Methods and materials	81
4.8. Results	82
4.9. Discussion	83
4.10. Main field experiment	83
4.10.1. Introduction	83
4.11. Methods and materials	84
4.12. Results	87
4.13. Discussion	90
4.14. Cis-jasmone experiments	92
4.15. Methods and materials 4.16. Introduction 2005 experiment	92 93
4.17. Methods and Materials	93
4.18. Results	95
4.19. Discussion	101
4.20. Conclusions	103

#### CHAPTER FIVE

## THE RESPONSES OF APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS TO TRAPS OF DIFFERENT HEIGHT, SIZE AND PATTERN IN THE FIELD

5.1. General Introduction	104
5.2. General Methods and Materials	105
5.3. Height Experiments	106
5.3.1 Introduction	106
5.3.2. Methods and materials	107
5.4. Results	110
5. 5. Discussion	114
5.6. Size Experiments	115
5.6.1. Introduction	115
5.7. Methods and Materials	116
5.8. Results	118
5.9. Discussion	123
5.10. Pattern Experiments	125
5.10.1. Introduction	125
5.11. Preliminary laboratory experiment	126
5.12. Methods and materials	126
5.13. Results	129
5.14. Discussion	130
5.15. Field Experiments	130
5.16. Methods and Materials	130
5.17. Results	131
5.18. Discussion	136
5.19. General discussion	138
5.20. Conclusions	141

### CHAPTER SIX

## THE EFFICACY OF THE OPTIMUM MODEL FLOWER ON OVIPOSITION BY APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS

6.1. Introduction	142
6.2. Methods and Materials	142
6.3. Results	147
6.4. Discussion	151
CHAPTER SEVEN	
GENERAL DISCUSSION	155
APPENDIX	164
REFERENCES	176

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are lots of people I would like to thank for a huge variety of reasons, but first of all, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Janice Hickman. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my PhD, and without her common-sense, knowledge, perceptiveness, patience and friendship, which was always there when needed, I would never have finished. I am also indebted to Janice for offering me the opportunity to broaden my horizons, for helping me through the difficult times and for devoting time to the proof-reading of this thesis.

Thanks are due to John Allen for supervising the project and for his interest in my work, to Jenny Knapp for her sound advice and many discussions on how to get insects to behave and to Owen Jones of AgriSense for providing materials for fieldwork.

I would also like to thank Rachel Fitzearle for her technical support and advice, Katie Cruickshank for her invaluable assistance with the spectrophotometry and Dave Baddams for his practical help in the greenhouse and for his friendship.

For help with field work, I would like to thank Ian Huntley for providing an excellent field environment, my husband Howard for his help with various applications and good company in all weather conditions and Mambotox for providing insects, which helped the whole thing run smoothly.

A special thank you is due to Howard, for putting up with me for the past seven years, for surviving the ordeal, for his incredible love and encouragement and for being there when it counted most.

Last, but not least, I would like to thank my family for helping me stay on track and for their tremendous patience, love, support and belief in me. Charlie needs a special mention too for his insight, 'After your thesis Grandma?'

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1. Aphids as pests of cereals

Aphids are the most important crop pests in the agriculture of the temperate climatic zones (Minks & Harrewijn, 1989), where one plant species in four is infested (Dixon, 1987). Aphids damage plants in several ways: by feeding on the phloem and draining nutrients from them, and by inoculating toxins through their saliva and thus transmitting virus diseases (Harrington *et al.*, 1989; Schepers, 1989). The production of honeydew that covers the leaves provides a rich medium for fungal growth. In turn, this leads to reduced photosynthetic efficiency, loss of plant vigour and a reduction in the potential yield (Fiebig *et al.*, 2004). The intricate lifestyle of aphids in close association with their host plants, their polymorphism, their ability to reproduce both sexually and asexually and the potential rate of population increase creates tremendous problems in agriculture. This telescoping of generations and parthenogenesis may lead to the development of 4,000 million alatae of the black bean aphid (*Aphis fabae*) on a hectare of field beans in the U.K. (Dixon, 1985).

In Britain, it has been estimated that in an average year, losses in crop yield due to direct feeding by aphids may exceed £100 million, with aphid transmitted viruses causing losses of a similar order (Tatchell, 1990). Aphids are also major pests in the United States (Brooks *et al.*, 1994), South Africa (Walters *et al.*, 1980), Ethiopia (Haile & Megenasa, 1987) and New Zealand (Kahl, 1996). In European orchard crops such as apple and pear, they frequently cause economic damage to flowers, fruitlets or fruits directly (Solomon *et al.*, 2000). The scale of the aphid problem is immense and therefore needs to be approached on an equally large geographical scale.

1

#### 1.2. Aphid control

For some years, aphid control was achieved with the persistent organochlorines (Bartlett *et al.*, 1952). However, these chemicals had a serious effect on many non-target organisms and 'biological pest explosions' became so common (DeBach, 1973) that they were withdrawn from use in 1990. Some success was achieved with the organophosphate and hexachloro-hexane (HCH) compounds, although many of these have since been banned (Gange, 1996). Insecticides not only disrupt the ecological balance by enabling pests to increase in numbers sufficient to cause economic damage, they also eliminate or greatly reduce natural enemies. Overuse of chemical sprays can also lead to a rapid increase in the proportion of certain resistant variants within aphid species (Solomon *et al.*, 2000). Pesticide usage has not only had a negative environmental impact on water catchments, it has also been linked to the sudden declines of farmland birds and beneficial insects (Holland, 2004).

Adverse public attitudes to pesticides have intensified in recent years and wide-scale application of such chemicals is becoming increasingly unacceptable (Tatchell, 1990; Peterson & Coats, 2001). Their use needs to be optimised in an environmentally acceptable way so as to maintain farm incomes and an adequate food supply. Strategies that allow broad-spectrum pesticides to be applied at reduced rates to high-value crops (e.g. brassicas) with low pest 'damage' thresholds (White *et al.*, 1995) may help to maintain predator survival (Mann *et al.*, 1991). Insect repellents may also have a role in eliminating crop pests from agroecosystems (Peterson & Coats, 2001).

The literature on the biological control of aphids is extensive. Franz (1961), DeBach (1973), Dixon (1987) and Hemptinne *et al.*, (1994) provide a broad coverage of the subject. Biological control provides one of the best alternatives to chemicals: it causes no resistance and it does not taint or damage crops. Insects that contribute to the control of cereal aphid populations include ladybirds, parasitic wasps, spiders and aphidophagous hoverflies (Tenhumberg, 2005). In Western Germany, hoverfly larvae are by

2

far the most important predators of cereal aphids (80% of all stenophagous predators) (Groeger, 1992; Tenhumberg, 1992; Winder, 1994). In the United States, hoverflies have substantially controlled several introduced aphid pests such as the spotted alfalfa aphid (*Therioaphis trifolii* (Monell)) and the walnut aphid (*Chromaphis juglandicola* (Kaltenbach)) in orchards and perennial crops (Laing & Hamai, 1976). In European orchards, hoverfly larvae are reported to be effective biological control agents in top fruit (Marboutie, 1976; Bonnemaison, 1972; Vogt & Weigel, 2000). The larvae of hoverflies from the genera *Melanostoma* have also been found to be effective predators of white butterfly (*Artogeia rapae* (L.)) and diamond-back moth (*Plutella xylostella* (L.)) larvae on a variety of plants (Valentine, 1967; Miller, 1971; Ashby and Pottinger, 1974).

In particular, the association of *Episyrphus balteatus* (Degeer) with aphids is clearly established and has been reviewed on several occasions (e.g. Wnuk, 1977; Carter *et al.*, 1980; Ankersmit *et al.*, 1986; Chambers, 1991). The larvae of *E. balteatus* are the most important predators of cereal aphids in the UK (Chambers & Adams, 1986; Pike *et al.*, 1991). They have the potential to prevent pest outbreaks if the adults arrive when aphid density is still low (Tenhumberg & Poehling, 1995). The larvae of *E. balteatus* have been known to consume over 416 aphids (*Aphis pomi*) (Stary, 1988; Gilbert, 1993). In Poland, Wnuk (1977) found that *E. Balteatus* could control aphid populations at predator: prey ratios of up to 1:200, if the rate of increase of the pest population was less than 16% per day. The larvae of *E. corollae* are also voracious predators of aphids. A single larva has been known to consume an average of 311 wheat aphids (*Diuraphis noxia*) (Rojo *et al.* 1996). The larvae of *Syrphus ribesii* (L.) are known to be efficient predators attacking aphids at a faster rate and searching more rapidly than species such as *Melanostoma*.

In aphidophagous hoverflies, oviposition preference is central to the biological control of aphids) resulting in a distribution of larvae on different hosts (Sadeghi & Gilbert, 2000a). However, the cues and behavioural mechanisms which enable females to locate and select an oviposition site are still unclear.

Hoverflies generally, and in particular what is known about their oviposition preferences, are reviewed below.

#### 1.3. Hoverflies

#### 1.3.1. Taxonomy

Hoverflies are one of the largest families of flies. Some 275 species of hoverfly have been recorded in the British Isles (e.g. Stubbs & Falk, 2000). Hoverflies are true flies from the Order Diptera, suborder Cyclorrhapha, class Insecta, phylum Arthropoda, family Syrphidae (Lee *et al.*, 1999). There are three subfamilies in the Syrphidae: Syrphinae, Eristalinae and Microdontinae (Stubbs & Falk, 2000). The Syrphinae (about 23 genera in Britain) are split into three tribes: the Syrphini (19 genera), the Bacchini (4 genera) and the Paragini (3 species) (Stubbs & Falk, 2000).

One third of the British hoverfly fauna belongs to the subfamily Syrphinae Stubbs & Falk, 2000). Syrphinae are distinct from Eristalinae and Microdontine in that the larvae are aphid predators (Gilbert, 1993; Stubbs & Falk, 2000). However, *Melanostoma* and *Platycheirus* species from the tribe Bacchini, may well be generalist predators in the leaf litter (Gilbert, 1993). *E. balteatus* constitutes 90% of the composition of syrphid species (Groeger, 1992). The larvae of *E. balteatus* have been reported from colonies of more than one hundred aphid species world-wide (Sadeghi & Gilbert, 1999).

#### 1.3.2. Identification of the adult hoverfly

Hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) can be distinguished from all other flies by the possession of a longitudinal 'false vein' between the radius and the media (Coe, 1953). The large eyes, which allow for acute vision, touch at the top in male hoverflies of most species, whereas the eyes of the female are separated by a gap (Stubbs & Falk, 2000). Male and female hoverflies are easily distinguished by looking at the underside of abdomen: males have curved asymmetrical genitalia, whereas females have pointed abdomens with

unobtrusive genitalia. Mature eggs can often be seen (in the Syrphini) through the semi-transparent abdominal pleurites (Gilbert, 1993). Individual anatomies may look different because some specimens have full or empty crops and because some females may or may not have fully developed eggs. The biology of hoverflies has been reviewed in general by Gilbert (1993), Gilbert & Jervis (1998) and Stubbs & Falk (2000).

#### 1.3.3. Hoverfly distribution

Due to their strong flight and high mobility, hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) are widespread throughout the temperate regions of the world (Lee *et al.*, 1999). In the summer, large movements of aphidophagous hoverflies have been recorded flying over the Alps and the Pyrenees (Owen, 1956; Aubert *et al.*, 1976; Gatter & Schmid, 1990). North European populations have been known to migrate in huge numbers to the Mediterranean (Gatter & Schmid, 1990; Branquart, 1999). In the UK, *E. balteatus* and *Eupeodes corollae* (Fabricius) are the most dominant and economically important aphidophagous species on arable land (Sadeghi & Gilbert, 1999).

#### 1.3.4. Larval development

Hoverflies pass through three larval stages before pupating as they develop from egg to adult. The number of eggs produced per female is species-specific and may depend on the nutritional condition and age of the female (Jervis & Kidd, 1986; Jervis & Copland, 1996). The females of most syrphid species are usually ready to lay eggs 7 or 14 days after emergence (Sadeghi & Gilbert 2000b; Dong *et al.*, 2004). In laboratory conditions, females of *E. balteatus* might lay between 2,000 and 4,500 eggs during their life-time at a rate of 1 to 2 eggs per ovariole per day (Branquarte & Hemptinne, 2000). However, Dong *et al.*, (2004) found the average found to be 488 eggs per female (maximum 701 eggs per female) with an egg-hatching rate of 88.4%. The average egg production of *E. corollae* has been reported to be 400 (Barlow, 1961; Wilkening, 1961) over its lifetime. Eggs may be elongated ovoids, soft and rather flattened and off-white in colour (Gilbert, 1993). The

egg-stage is very brief in common species, typically lasting less than 5 days, although development may vary with conditions of temperature and humidity (Gilbert, 1993).

Depending on temperature, humidity, food supply and day length and other factors, the larval stage may last only 10 days in some species and up to two years in others (Schneider, 1948 & Coe, 1953). Aphidophagous syrphid larvae are unique among fly larvae in that they are coloured. For example, the larva of *Sphaerophoria cylindrica* (Say) is greenish yellow, whereas the mature larva of *S. ribesii* varies in colour from yellow to pink on one part of the body. However, the larva of *E. balteatus* is white in colour (see Rotheray & Gilbert (1989) for detailed descriptions and keys to most genera).

The larvae of syrphid species such as E. balteatus and S. ribesii are normally sluggish during daylight hours, but voracious predators at night (Goeldin de Tiefenau, 1974). Larvae use sticky salivary secretions to immobilise prey and mouthhooks to pierce the aphid body and hold it aloft while the body contents are sucked out (Rotheray & Gilbert, 1993). Third-instar larvae can dispose of one aphid per minute and will often discard aphids half-eaten (Rotheray, 1989a). Aphid colonies are frequently obliterated resulting in periods of starvation for the larvae and third-instars have been seen crawling two metres/hr and living between three and six days without aphids (Rojo et al., 1996). Starved larvae may also compensate for their nutritional deficiencies by searching harder, capturing prey more rapidly, and sucking 50% more of the contents of each aphid before discarding it (Leir & Barlow, 1982). In the absence of a host, the larvae of Melanostoma can subsist on plant materials such as pollen (Schneider, 1969). In the laboratory, Gilbert (1993) found aphid extracts, honeydew and sucrose to be suitable feeding stimulants for the larvae of many species of hoverfly.

The fully-grown larva, having attached itself to a suitable object, clears its digestive system by voiding a black oily liquid. In many species, the larval skin of the third-instar is not shed, but hardens to enclose the pupa (e.g. Rotheray, 1989a). Adult emergence may take place in the morning after a few days,

depending on temperature and humidity. In some species, diapause may occur in the larval, pupal or adult stages when temperatures are low. The larvae of *S. ribesii* for example, over-winter in leaf litter at the foot of trees and shrubs, behind ivy leaves or in other sheltered places (Gilbert, 1993) and are known to be exceptionally cold-tolerant (Hart & Bale, 1997). Hoverfly species such as *E. corollae* and *Metasyrphus luniger* (Meigen) may overwinter as pupae. In *E. balteatus*, the bulk of the population migrates to southern Europe (Rotheray, 1989a; Gatter & Schmid, 1990; Branquart, 1999), although a few individuals may overwinter as adults (Gilbert, 1993). The limited cold tolerance of *E. balteatus* to temperatures below 5°C indicates that individual overwintering success is highly dependent on UK winter conditions (Hart & Bale, 1997).

The number of generations produced per year varies between species. *Epistrophe eligans* (Harris) for example, has only one generation each year and the adults usually appear in the spring (Rotheray, 1989b). *E. balteatus* has a single generation (occasionally two) in the U.K. with adult activity in late summer (Gilbert, 1993). *Dasysyrphus albostriatus* (Fall) and *S. ribesii* are known to have two (sometimes three) generations per year (Rotheray, 1989a). In *E. balteatus*, longevity of 55.5 and 56.8 days for female and male adults, respectively, has been observed under favourable conditions (Dong *et al.*, 2004).

#### 1.3.5. Mating behaviour

Males are generally smaller than the females, complete development slightly faster and usually emerge earlier in the season. This allows males to feed and mature their reproductive systems before females appear; thus ensuring that potential mates are not missed (Thornhill & Alcock, 1983). For many species, mating occurs 3-4 days after emergence and takes place in flight, lasting for a few minutes at most or less than a few seconds. In *E. corollae* and *Sphaerophoria scripta* (L.), mating may last several hours: the male resting on the back of the female as she flies about and rests on leaves (Gilbert, 1993).

If mating should occur while the eggs of the female are undeveloped, this may influence their final maturation (Gilbert, 1993).

#### 1.3.6. Adult feeding-pollen

The requirement for adult hoverflies to feed on pollen for the maturation of the ovarioles and the eggs has long been recognised (Schneider, 1948, 1969; Haslett, 1989a, b) and reviewed on several occasions (e.g. van Emden, 1965; Haslett, 1983, 1989b; Gilbert & Jervis, 1998). Haslett (1983) found pollen from white, yellow and violet-blue/red flowers in the gut of *E. balteatus* at various times, although the pollens of white and yellow flowers were eaten most. Ankersmit *et al.* (1986) found that many different types of pollens were suitable for *E. balteatus* adults, although those fed on maize pollen did less well and produced fewer eggs. Schuhmacher & Hoffmann (1982) showed that the width of the food furrows overlying the pseudotracheal canals in a variety of Syrphidae, corresponded to the diameter of pollen grains taken by adults; flower species whose pollen grains were larger than this were not acceptable to the flies (Gilbert & Jervis, 1998).

Pollen contains about 25% (by weight) of energy-rich carbohydrates and various lipids rich in energy (Gilbert, 1993). Females of the genera *Melanostoma* may continue to feed mainly on pollen throughout their life span. However, *E. balteatus* females may take pollen and nectar in different ratios according to whether or not they are maturing a batch of eggs (Gilbert, 1993; Jervis *et al.*, 1993). Pollen feeding may be less important in males. Pollen may only be required for the maturation of the reproductive system and the maturation of sperm requires less investment than that of eggs (Godfray, 1994). Hickman *et al.* (1995) for example, showed that 71% of gravid *Melanostoma fasciatum* (Macquart) had maximum pollen content compared with 13% of males.

Differences in mouthpart morphology (e.g. McAlpine, 1981; Gilbert, 1981; Elzinga & Broce, 1986;) are strongly associated with pollen: nectar ratios; species with a short proboscis are those observed most often taking pollen

from plants such as umbellifers (Gilbert, 1981, 1985). Long, narrow mouthparts (e.g. *Volucella, Rhingia* spp.) are used to obtain liquid nectar from flowers with narrow, tubular corollas (Gilbert & Jervis, 1998). Resources may be partitioned between insect species on the basis of tongue length (Inouye, 1978) and sugar requirements (Heinrich, 1978).

#### 1.3.7. Adult feeding-nectar and honeydew

Nectar, an almost pure solution of sugars, provides energy to fuel motor activities such as flight and mate-seeking activity (Schneider, 1969). Males of many species can be seen taking nectar from flowers or feeding on honeydew, both of which are readier sources of energy than pollen (Gilbert & Jervis, 1998). Females given sugar-rich foods (natural or artificial) have generally been found to be more fecund and longer-lived than those deprived of such foods altogether (Harris & Miller, 1991; Gilbert & Jervis, 1998). Nectar contains only trace amounts of the essential nutrients and therefore adequate amounts of pollen are also essential for maturing successive batches of eggs (Schneider, 1948).

Honeydew appears to be a particularly 'cheap' food to exploit from an energy budget standpoint (Gilbert & Jervis, 1998). Compared with long-distance foraging for most other foods, exploitation of honeydew takes up a smaller proportion of foraging time and is metabolically very undemanding (Harwood *et al.*, 1994; Shonouda *et al.*, 1998). *E. balteatus* and *S. ribesii* can often be seen feeding from leaf surfaces where aphids have produced a film of honeydew (Gilbert, 1993). Hoverflies from the genus *Xylota* specialise almost exclusively on honeydew contaminated by pollen grains from anemophilous plants such as grasses (Gilbert, 1985; Ssymank & Gilbert, 1993). In laboratory studies on other insects (e.g. Leius, 1961; Avidov *et al.*, 1970; Idoine & Ferro, 1998), fecundity and life span may be reduced when honeydew has been given as an alternative source of energy (Gilbert & Jervis, 1998). Such effects have been attributed to the occurrence, in honeydew, of oligosaccharides such as melezitose (Zoebelien, 1955; Leius, 1961; Avidov *et al.*, 1970).

9

#### 1.3.8. Flower choice by adult hoverflies

Floral resources are clearly valuable to hoverflies and likewise, constant foraging behaviour improves pollen transfer between the flowers of a species. Some of the nectar resources used by hoverflies include a variety of trees, shrubs and plants (Stubbs & Falk, 2000). Cover crops such as coriander (*Coriandrum sativum* (L.)) and buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum*, Polygonaceae), which provide both pollen and nectar (Wratten *et al.*, 1995a) are heavily visited. Hoverflies may also be abundant on late season flowers such as yarrow (*Achillea millefolium* (L.)), and fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* (Miller)) (Colley & Luna, 2000). Phacelia (*Phacelia tanacetifolia* (Benth)) flowers are especially attractive to adult syrphids (Ozols, 1964). Colley and Luna (2000) reported the relative attractiveness of phacelia, buckwheat, coriander and sweet alyssum (*Lobularia maritima*, Brassicaceae) flowers to hoverflies, showing preferential attraction of hoverfly adults to some flower species.

The colour of a flower may provide flower visitors with clues as to the age of the flowers and the presence of food rewards (Proctor & Yeo, 1973; Stavenga, 1974; Horridge *et al*, 1975; Menzel and Backhaus, 1991; Chittka & Menzel, 1992; Kevan *et al.*, 2001). For example, brown-centred, older inflorescences (e.g. ragwort (*Senecio jacobaea*)) may be ignored by hoverflies visiting younger, yellow-centred flowers (Kugler, 1950). Yellow flowers are often highly reflective and known to attract adult hoverflies (Kevan, 1983). Finch (1992) noted that yellow flowers from the family Compositae were highly attractive to syrphid species such as *E. balteatus*. Stavenga (1974) found that males of the species *E. balteatus* had a green-yellow sensitive pigment in the dorsal part of the eye which corresponded to the reflectance of yellow flowers within the 490 - 500nm action spectrum. Sensitivity to spectral curves near 350, 450 and 520nm has also been found in *Eristalis tenax* (L.) (Horridge *et al.*, 1975).

Within flowers, colour patterns may also function as pointers to assist foraging insects to find a food resource (Kugler, 1943; Manning, 1956). Other

parameters such as floral structure, height and size, time of reward presentation during the day (Kevan & Baker, 1983), shape, plane of symmetry (Chittka & Menzel, 1992) and scent (Gilbert, 1993) may serve as additional identification cues. The range of flower species exploited may also depend on plant ecological factors such as abundance, species richness and nectar reward (Pyke, 1982). Physical environmental factors such as light, cloudiness, wind, temperature and humidity also influence flower visiting; syrphids are sun-lovers and tend to be inactive during cloudy periods (Kevan & Baker, 1983).

#### 1.4. Oviposition

#### 1.4.1. Oviposition preferences

Having fed on pollen and having mated, the females complete egg development and then seek out places to lay (Gilbert, 1993). The distribution of eggs is crucial; newly hatched larvae are relatively sessile and are unable to move any great distance to search for an appropriate host (Sadeghi & Gilbert, 2000a). Overall the evidence suggests that most syrphid larvae are able to develop successfully on a wider range of prey than those selected by ovipositing females (e.g. Wiklund, 1981; Smiley, 1978; Rausher, 1983). Although Rüžička (1975) reported that both elder (*Aphis sambuci* L.) and bean (*Aphis fabae* Scopoli) aphids were unsuitable food for the larvae of *E. corollae*, reducing early survival, Sadeghi & Gilbert (2000b) found no significant effect of aphid species on offspring survival. Rarer aphid-feeding larvae (e.g. *Parasyrphus* spp.) are often found on only a restricted range of hosts, or even on only one type (Gilbert, 1993).

In the laboratory, Sadeghi & Gilbert (2000b) found that *E. balteatus* and *S. ribesii* showed significant differences in selecting an aphid species for oviposition. Without exception, the females of both species ranked the sycamore aphid the highest, followed by the rose aphid and then the pea aphid. The lowest preference was for the nettle aphid. The distribution of eggs also changed with female age, with the most preferred declining in preference

and the least increasing in preference. This supports the literature suggesting selectivity of oviposition (Reepmeyer, 1969; Milne, 1971; Phoon, 1973; Niemczyk & Pruska, 1986; Budenberg & Powell, 1992).

Chandler (1968d) divides aphidophagous syrphids into two categories, each differing in oviposition behaviour: one group primarily aphid-seeking (Aphidozetic) and the other primarily plant-seeking (phytozetic). The first group, comprising mostly Syrphus species, tend to lay single eggs nearly always close to aphid colonies (Chandler, 1968a, d) thereby providing an immediate food source for the emerging larvae. The second group, comprising certain *Melanostoma* and *Platycheirus* species, tend to lay eggs in small batches often on uninfested plants (Chandler, 1968a,b; Sanders, 1979). Chandler (1968d) suggests that such specific differences in preference would tend to decrease interspecific competition. However, the choice of an oviposition site may depend not only on the presence of aphids or aphidassociated stimuli, but also on aphid colony size (Kan, 1986, 1988a,b, 1989), the spatial position of the aphid colony (Chandler, 1968b; Sanders, 1983a,b) and host-plant characteristics (Dixon, 1959; Chandler, 1968a). Other factors such as previous experience, age, internal physiological state, changes in the environment (Fitt, 1986; Minkenberg et al., 1992; Schoonhoven et al., 1998) and the presence of other predators (Scholz & Poehling, 2000) may also be important.

#### 1.4.2. Discrimination in oviposition

Young female *E. balteatus* are very discriminating about where they lay; laying eggs only in or near aphid colonies (Bombosch, 1962, 1963; Volk 1964; Chandler 1965; Schneider 1969). Sadeghi & Gilbert (2000b) found that host discrimination decreased in older flies and that fertile eggs were laid in the absence of aphids. Budenberg & Powell (1992) observed that given the choice of wheatears with and without aphid honeydew, *E. balteatus* were more likely to lay eggs on the latter as they became older. Over time, *E. balteatus* and *S. ribesii* also changed the height at which they laid their eggs (Chandler, 1968b). Chandler (1967, 1968c) found that oviposition distance from the nearest aphid also increased with age in *M. luniger* and in *Scaeva pyrastri* (L.). Chandler (1968a, b) suggested that in older flies, plant or visual features may be more important than olfactory (aphid) cues in stimulating oviposition.

There is some evidence that the presence of conspecific eggs and /or larvae may act as an oviposition deterrent. Scholz and Poehling (2000) found that female *E. balteatus* were able to perceive the presence of conspecific eggs and oviposited less often in aphid colonies in which eggs were present. The oviposition-deterring stimulus was also active when the eggs were removed, suggesting that olfactory cues were involved. Hemptinne *et al.* (1994) found that the presence of third instar syrphid larvae acted as a deterrent to syrphid oviposition on bean plants (*Vicia faba L.*) infested with *Aphis fabae* (Scop.). However, in contrast to these findings, Phoon (1973) and Chandler (1968c) could not detect a deterrent effect of syrphid eggs and larvae in many syrphid species.

#### 1.4.3. Syrphid/prey dynamics

Chandler (1968d) found that syrphid oviposition varied with the size of aphid infestations and that different syrphid species had different optimum aphid population sizes for oviposition. Threshold densities of aphids required for oviposition can also be very low: Chambers (1991) recorded oviposition in winter wheat starting at an infestation level of only 0.2 aphids per shoot. However, in experimental studies, Sanders (1979) and Gilbert (1993) showed that larger colonies of aphids had a greater effect in stimulating females to lay. Bargen *et al.* (1998) and Chambers (1991) observed that *E. balteatus* and *M. corollae* evaluated aphid numbers and adjusted oviposition rates accordingly, with higher prey numbers eliciting increased oviposition. Van Emden (1990) also found that oviposition in *E. balteatus* increased when prey density was high (4000 aphids/m<sup>2</sup>). Sanders (1979) found that aphid colonies 2 cm in diameter were most effective in stimulating oviposition by *E. corollae*, eliciting on average one egg per visit; a small colony of three aphids only elicited one egg every 10 visits. Because *E. corollae*, *S. ribesii* and *E. balteatus* lay the vast majority of their eggs singly (Chandler, 1968a, d; Guest. 1984) each egg laid can be considered to be an independent oviposition decision (Gilbert, 1990). Other workers (e.g. Banks, 1953; Dixon, 1959; Tamaki *et al.*, 1961; Reepmeyer, 1969; Ito & Iwao, 1977; Sanders, 1979; Sanderson *et al.*, 1992) have also found a positive correlation between the oviposition response of hoverflies and aphid density. *Melanostoma* species generally prefer low prey numbers per plant and show no response to aphid density (van Emden, 1990).

Banks (1953), Clark (1963) and Hickman and Wratten (1994) suggest that very high prey densities might deter syrphid oviposition. Ito & Iowa (1977), Wnuk (1979) and Chambers (1991) noted that as aphid densities increased, the ratio of eggs to aphids tended to be lower, possibly because of the limited egg complement of female hoverflies. Guest (1984) reported that in *E. balteatus*, response to aphid density reached a maximum at 200 aphids per plant, and then declined. Hickman (1996) suggests that the response of hoverflies to aphid density, coupled with the lessening of discrimination shown by old flies, would increase the efficacy of aphid control by distributing eggs more evenly through the crop.

#### 1.4.4. The age of aphid colonies

The age of aphid colonies also appears to be important in determining whether or not eggs are laid. In a series of papers, Kan (1986, 1988a, 1989) investigated the oviposition behaviour of different syrphid species in relation to pea aphid colonies. Kan (1988a) found that several syrphid species discriminated against larger aphid colonies containing 4<sup>th</sup> instar nymphs and winged adults in favour of smaller "promising" colonies of nymphs and/or young winged adults. More than half the syrphid eggs, including *E. balteatus*, were found at small (less than 50) aphid colonies. Eggs of *Betasyrphus serarius* (Weidemann), *Metasyrphus frequens* (Matsumura) and Syrphus *vitripennis* (Meigen) were found almost equally at the small or middle-sized (less than 300) aphid colonies. Pea plants heavily infested with older colonies of 4th-instar nymphs and/or winged adults were neglected. In spite of the

danger of larval starvation, the female hoverflies appeared to assess the qualitative and quantitative value of aphid colonies in order to secure the successful development of their offspring (Kan, 1988a). Chandler (1968c) suggested that the avoidance of aphid colonies larger than the optimum size resulted from excessive olfactory stimulation and that this also accounted for the oviposition observed on neighbouring uninfested plants by species such as Platycheirus that show a preference for small aphid populations.

#### 1.4.5. Olfactory stimuli

Responses to olfactory cues (semiochemicals) increase the probability of an insect selecting an oviposition site (Paynter & Brady, 1993; Wall & Warnes, 1994; Schofield & Brady, 1997). Hagen *et al.* (1971) suggested that olfactory receptors in syrphids are able to detect the volatile components of honeydew. Hood Henderson (1982) investigated the contact chemosensillae on the ovipositors of two *Metasyrphus* species and recorded responses to water, honeydew, sucrose, alanine, tryptophan and to indolacetaldehyde, an oxidation product of tryptophan. Stimulation by these compounds was considered important in the selection of an oviposition site.

In *E. corollae*, Bombosch (1962) found that the volatile components of honeydew, in the presence of aphids, were the main stimuli for oviposition, perceived mainly via the antennae, but also via the tarsi and/or mouthparts. Similarly, Volk (1964) found that aphid honeydew and/or cornicle secretions were the main stimulus for oviposition, supplemented by the visual and tactile cues of aphids. Although visual response to aphids does occur (Chandler, 1968d), Dixon (1959) and Volk (1964) demonstrated the importance of aphid odour over other oviposition stimuli for *M.luniger* and also for *E. corollae*. For example, *M. luniger* females responded mainly to olfactory stimuli and laid more eggs in denser aphid colonies (Dixon, 1959).

Hagen *et al.* (1971) found that although several species of syrphid were attracted to plants sprayed with artificial honeydews, this did not result in an increase in the number of syrphid eggs laid on the plants. In the laboratory,

Budenberg & Powell (1992) found that in the absence of aphids, honeydew from the rose-grain aphid and pea aphid, but not from the nettle aphid elicited oviposition by *E. balteatus* but not *Platycheirus albimanus* (Fabricius). Buddenberg & Powell (1992) also reported that when honeydew concentrations were high, the addition of aphids had little effect on oviposition. However, when honeydew concentrations were low, the presence of aphids increased oviposition. Scholz & Poehling (2000) found that although honeydew attracted the females via olfaction and elicited oviposition, hardly any eggs were laid in the absence of aphids.

Apart from volatiles in honeydew which attract adult hoverflies and enable the larvae to locate their prey, many aphid species also communicate using pheromones (Zhu *et al.*, 2005). Pheromones play an important part in reproduction and defence against predation and parasitism (Wadhams *et al.*, 1999). The sex pheromone nepetalactone (Powell et al., 1991) and the alarm pheromone (E)-beta farnescene attract predatory parasitoids and the seven-spot ladybird (*Chrysopereria carnea*), and there is some evidence to suggest that hoverflies show good electroantennograph responses to them (Sutherland, 1998).

As well as aphid volatiles other research has found evidence that plant volatiles cause neural activity in some insects and influence where they deposit their eggs. Mozuraitis *et al.*, (2002) showed that Germacrene-D activated a major type of olfactory receptor neuron on the antennae of the tobacco moth (*Heliothis vitrescens*) and increased attraction and oviposition. *Cis*-jasmone shows potential for enhancing parasitisation of aphid populations by predatory parasitoids (Bruce *et al.*, 2003) and in inducing plant defence that deters colonising aphids (Powell & Pickett, 2003). However, little is known about the effect of these compounds on hoverflies. Flower volatiles are known to be a mixture of several or even scores of compounds that provide potential insects with information about the location and identify of flowers, however the synergistic interactions of visual (colour, shape) and olfactory signals are far from understood (Pichersky & Dudareva, 2007). Harris & Miller (1983) suggest combinations of sensory inputs may reinforce weak stimuli during

host selection in the field. For example, the turnip root fly (*Delia floralis*) accepts the host plant more readily following the addition of an oviposition stimulant such as *n*-dipropyl disulphide (Harris & Miller, 1991).

#### 1.4.6. Plant-related factors

Different species have different oviposition preferences for colour, height, surface texture and ground cover. Chandler (1968a) found that when offered a choice of beans in pots at different heights, E. balteatus laid most eggs at 30 cm, while E. corollae oviposited at 123 cm above the ground. Sanders (1979) observed that E. corollae showed a preference for vertical rather than horizontal surfaces, and dark rather than light or striped areas. Volk (1964) found that rugose surfaces and the presence of chemical stimuli played a role in the choice of an oviposition site. Dixon (1959) reported that *M. luniger* laid more eggs on green poles with a crushed aphid stimulus than on black or white ones. Humphrey et al. (1999) found that stands with high field layer cover supported greater syrphid diversity, while Lewis (1965) showed that syrphids (and aphids) concentrated in areas sheltered by artificial windbreaks. There are a number of examples in the literature which illustrate that the prey searches of syrphid larvae may be hampered by leaf shape and structure and/or by dense hairs (e.g. Rabb and Bradley, 1968; Obrychi et al. 1983; Rotheray, 1986). Rotheray (1986) found that the aphid capture rates of three different syrphid species varied greatly on the same host plant as a result of a differential ability to grasp the host plant stem or leaf. Differences in the nutrition plants provide for aphids may also have deleterious effects on natural enemies (see van Emden, 1987, 1990).

#### 1.4.7. Habitat manipulation

Agrosystems with flowers have been associated with significantly higher numbers of pollen and nectar feeding natural enemies in and around farm fields (Cowgill, 1989). Many farmscapes however are florally impoverished and cultural activities such as tillage, weeding, intercropping, and harvesting, can have serious effects on insect populations (Colley & Luna, 2000). Janzen (1967) reported that large-scale habitat destruction left many farmscapes florally impoverished so that populations of beneficial insects declined to inefficient levels. Similarly, the removal of weeds from apple orchards reduced floral resources for biocontrol organisms, which were then ineffective in protecting the crop from certain pests (Leius, 1967). Kevan and Baker (1983) noted that reductions in pollinator populations were largely due to the cultivation of fallow or neglected land and to the removal of hedgerows to create larger fields. In agrosystems where detritus was cleared and hedgerow boundaries were substituted by wire fences, breeding places and refuge sites for many predatory insects were likewise reduced. For polyphagous predators such as carabid beetles, grass ridges and weedy strips in the field boundaries are important overwintering sites (Coombes & Sotherton, 1986).

With increasing problems of insecticide resistance and public concerns regarding pesticide safety, it has become increasing practice among organic growers to encourage naturally occurring predators and parasitoids by enhancing their growing environment (Peterson & Coats, 2001). In Hampshire, the Game Conservancy Trust has launched a large-scale study, which aims to boost the numbers of beneficial insects in crops by habitat manipulation. The trust was the first organisation to firmly establish the link between the intensification of agriculture and the sudden declines of bird and insect populations (Holland, 2004). Part of the study involves the development of conservation headlands and beetle banks to restore plants and beneficial insects (Ibid.). Other workers (e.g. Thomas et al., 1991, 1992) have shown the creation of 'island' habitats to be a major factor in encouraging recolonisation of the field centre by predators. Wyss (1995) also found that weedy strips left across fields increased predator numbers and reduced pest populations. Similarly, Horn (1981) and van Emden (1990) found that weeds within a crop appeared to increase the number of *Melanostoma* species, although Frank (1999) found that syrphid numbers declined slightly with increasing distance from the weed strips.

Insectary plantings to enhance populations of predatory insects have been demonstrated by a number of workers. Weems (1953) and Telenga (1958),

for example, recommended the planting of pollen and nectar crops in fields devoid of nectar resources in order to foster beneficial insects. Huffaker (1959) grew Phacelia as a cover crop in orchards and found that parasite-host synchrony increased as a result. In France, Mackauer & Way (1976) found that flowers planted along the margins of fields attracted hoverflies to lav more eggs on aphid colonies within the crop. In New Zealand, Lövei et al. (1992) found that local densities of adult syrphids increased when Phacelia strips were planted across fields. Phacelia was also a good biological marker when determining how far flower-feeding adults had penetrated the crop (Lövei et al., 1992). In Switzerland, Wyss (1995) recorded lower numbers of aphids in apple orchards under-sown with wild flower mixtures. In New Zealand, Kahl (1996) demonstrated that border strip planting could achieve significant increases in biological control of some pests by aphidophagous hoverflies. Wratten and van Emden (1995) also promoted the use of beneficial insectary plantings in agricultural systems as a strategy to enhance the effectiveness of hoverflies for biological pest control (Wratten & van Emden, 1995). Colley and Luna (2000) planted insectary flowers adjacent to broccoli fields, but were unable to measure a reduction in cabbage aphid (*Brevicoryne brassicae*) population densities. Hoverflies appeared very late in the phenology of the aphid and the crop, which reduced their effectiveness as biological control agents.

In the UK, flowers, in particular *Phacelia*, have been used as a pollen resource in an attempt to enhance hoverfly populations in cereal fields. Harwood *et al.* (1994) and Hickman & Wratten (1996), for example, found that fields with *Phacelia* border strips had higher numbers of adult hoverflies, a higher level of oviposition by syrphids and fewer aphids in the crop than control fields without *Phacelia* border strips. In New Zealand, White *et al*, (1995) also found that the provision of *Phacelia* strips in and around farmland attracted hoverfly adults resulting in increased oviposition, and a decrease in pest numbers. Border strips of *Phacelia* around a paddock of cabbages and captured approximately seven times as many *Melanostoma fascitatum* in *Phacelia* bordered plots than in controls. Aphid numbers were also significantly lower.

#### 1.5. Aims and content of the thesis

The first aim in this work was to carry out experiments on as large a scale as possible, to attempt to answer the question of whether the presence of model flowers, near arable crops might be associated with increased oviposition by aphidophagous syrphids in their vicinity. A secondary aim was to establish the relative importance of the different components of the model flower in any response that was seen (Chapter Three).

From the results of the main experiment, work was undertaken to produce an optimum design for a model flower by using field experiments to assess colour, size, height and pattern preferences and to test the effects of an aphid-derived and plant derived volatile in relation to their attractiveness to gravid hoverflies (Chapters Four, Five and Six). This was done by comparing numbers of gravid females caught in yellow water traps and by comparing numbers of eggs laid on bait plants within the vicinity of the model flowers. Chapter Six incorporated the 'optimum' features (colour, height, and size) into one model and compared the oviposition responses of gravid hoverflies on bait plants near to and distant from this model.

In Chapter Seven the results of the previous six chapters are discussed and suggestions are made for future work that could be carried out.

Data from yellow trap catches of aphidophagous syrphids throughout the project (2001 – 2005) was collated and analysed and is presented in an appendix at the end of the work. This work was undertaken to show the phenology, abundance and diversity of aphidophagous syrphids, and in particular of gravid females, in an attempt to explain some of the results of the main project.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

## THE USE OF YELLOW MODEL FLOWERS TO ENHANCE OVIPOSITION BY APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS IN THE FIELD.

This Chapter describes a large-scale field experiment carried out over two years, which compared hoverfly oviposition on bait plants in the vicinity of yellow model flowers and at control positions. Model yellow flowers and standardised bait plants were used in order to minimise the variations associated with real flowers and aphid populations. Preliminary laboratory experiments were carried out to establish the form that the standardised bait plant should take. After the field experiment, further laboratory tests were conducted in an attempt to explain the results of the fieldwork.

#### 2.1 General introduction

Habitat manipulation approaches, such as the provision of floral resources for adult aphidophagous syrphids, are sometimes used to maximise the biocontrol potential of the larvae (Landis *et al.*, 2000). The larvae may have potential in slowing aphid multiplication and in limiting population size (e.g. Wnuk 1977; Chambers *et al.*, 1986; Hurej 1992; Winder *et al.*, 1994) if they arrive when aphid density is still small (Tenhumberg, 2005). However, if flowers are to be used as food resources, it is essential to understand the cues involved in their selection by adult syrphids, and the effect of such cues on subsequent oviposition.

Hoverflies are clearly attracted to some flowers over others, probably because of the availability and accessibility of specific food resources (Colley & Luna, 2000). Adult hoverflies feed on pollen for the maturation of the ovarioles and eggs (Schneider 1948, 1969; Haslett 1989b), while nectar provides energy for locomotion and reproduction (Kevan & Baker 1983). Flower colour may also advertise floral reward and influence choice (Mulligan & Kevan 1973; Kirk 1984; Haslett 1989a; Colley & Luna, 2000). Evidence suggests that hoverflies have a strong preference for yellow (e.g. Finch 1992: Sutherland 1998; Hoback *et al.*, 1999; Lunau & Wacht, 1994). *Episyrphus balteatus* is frequently seen feeding from yellow flowers (Stubbs & Falk, 2000) Yellow traps are often used in field work to attract hoverflies. Presumably these are seen as a source of food by flower-feeding adults (Hickman *et al.*, 2001). Although flower choice may be partially dependent on the colour of the flower (Haslett, 1989a), the precise role of pollen and honey as an attractant to gravid hoverflies requires further investigation.

Despite increasing evidence to suggest that the presence of flowers may enhance biological control of aphids by hoverfly larvae (Fluke, 1937; van Emden, 1965; White *et al.*, 1995; Hickman & Wratten, 1996; Salveter, 1998), the link between hoverfly oviposition and the presence of flowers is still controversial. However, van Emden (1965) noted that most aphid predation by hoverfly larvae occurred near flowers in the edge of a Brussels sprout field than anywhere else in the field, and that aphid numbers there were significantly lower here than anywhere else. More recent examples have been demonstrated in California by Kloen and Altieri (1990), in New Zealand by White *et al.* (1995), in the UK by Hickman & Wratten (1996). Harwood *et al.* (1992) found yellow water-trap catches of gravid hoverflies to be significantly higher where wild flowers were found in field margins than in fields devoid of flowers. However oviposition rates were not measured.

Contrary to these findings, Chandler (1968b) did not find that buckets of yellow ragwort (*Senecio jacobea* (L.)) influenced nearby hoverfly oviposition in replicated Brussels sprouts (*Brassica oleracea gemmifera*) plots with and without flowers. However, in this small-scale experiment, it is possible that both plant nectar content and production altered as a result of changes in the physiological condition of the excised flowers (Wade & Wratten, 2007). Goulson *et al.* (2007) also found nectar volume to be markedly lower in flowers with damaged petals, which were also likely to be older. Brown-centred older inflorescences of *S. jacobaea* may be ignored by hoverflies, which are known to prefer younger, yellow-centred flowers (Kugler, 1950).

Dixon (1959) noted that maximum hoverfly oviposition coincided with the flowering of broom (Sarothamnus scoparius (L.)). However the important factor may have been peak aphid infestation, which occurred at the same time. In a large-scale experiment, Pollard (1971) found that adult syrphids were more abundant in areas with flowers, but that oviposition was depressed in unsheltered areas, regardless of whether flowers occurred nearby. Chambers (1991) showed that field boundaries with flowers had no effect on hoverfly oviposition in the crop, while Cowgill (1990) found no effect on oviposition rates at different distances from flowers in a conservation headland. Salveter (1998) found that oviposition rates decreased with increasing distance from herb strips in the field margins. Similarly, Colley and Luna (2000) were unable to measure any reduction in cabbage aphid (Brevicoryne brassicae) populations by hoverflies in broccoli fields adjacent to blocks of insectary flowers. However, the late appearance of hoverflies relative to the phenology of the cabbage aphid presumably reduced their effectiveness as a biological control agent.

The effects of flowers on oviposition have proven difficult to demonstrate, perhaps because of the difficulties of spatial scale encountered with the high mobility of the adults (Bugg, 1992). However, shortages of flowers in large areas of intensively cultivated land might limit oviposition (Chandler, 1968a; Colley & Luna, 2000). Therefore the introduction of flowers, as both a pollen and nectar resource, has obvious potential for the enhancement of biological control in the crop (Gurr *et al.*, 1999; Landis *et al.*, 2000; Colley & Luna, 2000). Flowers added to ecosystems may also serve to attract hoverflies to the crop at a time when aphid numbers are beginning to increase.

In the experiments described below, the model flowers and aphid infested bait plants used were standardised as far as possible to eliminate the variation associated with naturally occurring flowers and aphid populations. The aims were firstly, to establish whether the presence of the model flowers in the field margins of crop fields enhanced oviposition on nearby bait plants and secondly to explore the relative importance of colour stimulus and food rewards in any response that was observed.

#### 2.2. Preliminary laboratory experiment

The main experiment described in this chapter used standardised bait plants so that oviposition levels near different treatments could be compared. The oviposition responses of *E. balteatus* and other syrphid species to aphids have been much discussed in the literature (e.g. Kan, 1988a, b: Kan, 1989; Chambers, 1991; Sadeghi & Gilbert, 2000a). However, using live aphids on bait plants makes it impossible to completely standardise the oviposition stimulus. Live aphids move, and even if plants are infested with the same number of adult aphids, reproduction rates vary. To determine the best oviposition stimulant to be used on bait plants in the field, a preliminary laboratory experiment was carried out to compare oviposition on plants treated with aphids or aphid derived compounds.

#### 2.3. Methods and materials

#### 2.3.1. The treatments

For each bioassay, 12 singly potted broad bean plants (*Vicia faba* (L.)) (cv. Sutton Dwarf) at the 6-leaf stage (10 cm high) were treated with the vetch aphid, *Megoura viciae* (Buckton) (taken from stock cultures). Almohamad *et al.* (2007) found *M. viciae* to be a suitable oviposition stimulant for *E. balteatus*. Plants were labelled and treated as follows: Treatment A = control. Treatment B = 50 winged and non-winged undamaged whole *M. viciae* applied with to the underside of the leaves with a paintbrush. It was thought that 50 *M. viciae* would be sufficient to stimulate oviposition in *E. balteatus* (see Kan, 1986; 1988a, b; 1989; Chamber, 1991). Treatment C = 50 *M. viciae* squashed on the lower leaf surfaces with a spatula. Treatment D = 0.25mg of crude *M. viciae* honeydew residue applied to the lower leaf surfaces. For treatment D, honeydew was collected from *M. viciae* by placing strips of Parafilm (5 x 5cm) (Sigma-Aldrich Co Ltd., Poole, Dorset, UK.) on acetate sheets under heavily infested broad bean plants (after Bouchard & Cloutier, 1984). Honeydew residue was scraped from the Parafilm using a

spatula, and weighed. Honeydew alone has been found to elicit oviposition responses in *E. balteatus* (Budenberg & Powell, 1992).

#### 2.3.2. Experimental arena

Twelve gravid 3 week old (second generation) *E. balteatus* (from laboratory stock) were placed in each of three perspex cages ( $40 \times 60 \times 40$ cms) in the Insectory at Southampton University. Individuals had not been previously exposed to aphids. *E. balteatus* were given *ad libitum* access to tap water, sieved pollen from *Populus deltiodes* (Marsh) (Sigma-Aldrich Co Ltd., Poole, U.K. Cat N<sup>o</sup>.P-7395) and a 10% solution of blended honey (Gales Original Clear, UK). Methods for rearing *E. balteatus* were adapted from Frazer (1972). Pollen and honey were supplied on Petri dish lids on upturned plant pots at the back of the cage. To maintain the numbers of *E. balteatus* used throughout the experimental period, gravid females from stock were used to replace any dead flies.

Treatments A, B, C and D were randomly placed in a square arrangement with 16cm intervals between plants in each cage. Plants were removed 48 hours later and the numbers of *E. balteatus* eggs on each plant counted. Three replicate bioassays were made over a four-week period from 21 November to 11 December 2001.

Temperature was maintained at  $22^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$  throughout the experimental period. Ceiling mounted fluorescent bulbs provided ambient lighting (5000lux/L16: D7 photoperiod).

#### Analysis

Numbers of eggs laid on plants treated with aphids, squashed aphids, honeydew and controls were compared using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric one-way analysis of variance. As it was expected that oviposition on untreated plants would be low, a second analysis compared numbers of eggs on the three aphid related treatments.

#### 2.4. Results

A total of 378 eggs overall was found on all treatments combined with the greatest numbers of eggs (61%) being laid on plants treated with live aphids. Few eggs were found on the control plants (Table 2.1). Differences in the numbers of eggs laid on the different plants were highly significant (Kruskal-Wallis test,  $X^2 = 33.79$ ; df = 3; P < 0.001), with more eggs laid on plants with live aphids than on control plants. When numbers of eggs on plants with aphids, squashed aphids and honeydew were compared there were no significant differences between them, but there was a trend for more eggs to be laid on plants with live aphids than on the other treatments. The Kruskal-Wallis test results are shown in Table 2.2.

Date	Live aphids(A)	Squashed aphids (B)	Honeydew (C )	Control
21/11/2001	13	14	17	7
28/11/2001	142	52	12	2
04/12/2001	70	19	12	1
11/12/2001	5	2	10	0
<u>Totals</u>	<u>230</u>	<u>87</u>	<u>51</u>	<u>10</u>

**Table 2.1.** Numbers of eggs laid by *E. balteatus* on the different treatments and the control over the experimental period.

	Mean rank			df	$X^2$	Р	
	Live aphids (A)	Squashed aphids (B)	Honeydew (C)	Control			
Including control	33.79	28.88	25.54	9.79	3	19.988	*0.000
Without control	22.5	18.54	14.46		2	3.517	0.172

**Table 2.2**. Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance comparing the number of *E. balteatus* eggs laid on the different treatments and the control over the experimental period.

26

#### 2.5. Discussion

Although there was a strong trend for more eggs to be laid on plants with live aphids, there was also oviposition on plants treated with squashed aphids and honeydew. Squashed aphids presumably produce many of the same olfactory stimuli as live ones and it is known that honeydew alone, particularly in high concentrations (see Budenberg & Powell, 1992) can be an effective oviposition stimulus for *E. balteatus*. In fact, in the last experimental week, more eggs were laid on the plants treated with honeydew than on the plants treated with live aphids. There is some evidence to suggest that older *E. balteatus* become less selective in the choice of an oviposition site (e.g. Sadeghi & Gilbert, 2000a) and this may have been the reason. There was also some oviposition on the control plants; this may have occurred in response to stimuli from nearby plants. Chandler (1968a) suggests olfactory stimulation from aphids and/or honeydew to be a possible reason for oviposition on non-infested bean plants in the field. However, there were very few (10 in total) eggs laid on controls.

Ideally, nectar and pollen from floral sources known to attract would have been used to rear *E. balteatus*, as the nutrients obtained may affect growth, development, survival and reproduction (Haslett, 1989a). However, nectar and pollen from flowers known to attract *E. balteatus* were not available at the time. *E. balteatus* used in the experiment were the product of first generation flies, which had also been reared on pollen from *P. deltiodes* and blended honey.

In order to produce completely standardised bait plants in the field, it would be best to use known numbers of squashed aphids or known amounts of honeydew. However, there was a strong trend for eggs to be laid on plants with aphids. It was also thought possible that in the field, squashed aphids might desiccate and lose their attractant properties, although this was not tested in the laboratory, and honeydew might be washed off the bait plants if it rained. Finally, it was felt that as high numbers of bait plants would be used and distributed randomly, any differences between numbers of aphids on individual pots would be unlikely to affect the results. For these reasons, it was decided to use live aphids on the standardised bait plants in the field.

There was no evidence from laboratory work or the literature to suggest *M. viciae* to be an unsuitable oviposition stimulant for *E. balteatus*. However, Rüžička (1975) found this species of aphid to be toxic to *E. corollae* larvae, mainly due to the level of alkaloids and glycosides present in the host plant. *M. viciae* is also known to be toxic for some ladybird larvae (e.g. *Exochomus quadripustulatus* (L), *Harmonia axyridis* (Pallas)) (Dixon & Agarwala, 1999). Sadeghi and Gilbert (2000) showed the pea aphid (*Acyrthosiphon pisum* (Harris)), followed by the rose aphid (*Macrosiphum rosae* (L)) to be the preferred oviposition stimulant in *E. balteatus*. Therefore, it was decided to use *A. pisum* on bait plants in the field.

#### 2.6. Field experiments

The model flowers in these investigations combined three of the attributes exhibited by real flowers and thought to be important in hoverfly foraging: colour, pollen and nectar (see Introduction above). Standardised bait plants were placed in the vicinity of the model flowers and the controls and were used to measure oviposition.

#### 2.7. General Methods and Materials

#### 2.7.1. Design of model flowers

Model flowers consisted of plastic flowerpot trays (diameters 19 cm) fixed to the top of wooden stakes. For yellow 'flowers' the inside of each tray was coated with a foundation base paint (Goo-Var Ltd., Ellenshaw Works, North Humberside, UK). A coating of yellow fluorescent paint (Glocote 1263, Goo-Var Ltd) was applied 12 hours later. Fluorescent yellow is known to be highly attractive to Syrphidae (Kirk 1984; Finch 1992). In previous work (see Appendix), water traps painted with Glocote 1263 caught large numbers of aphidophagous syrphids. Four holes (diameters 4mm) were drilled in the base
of each tray for drainage of rainwater. Each tray was then screwed to a wooden stake ( (2.5 x 2.5 cm cross section) and the other end of the stake cut to a 10cm point to allow it to be inserted easily into the soil (Fig.2.1). Food resources (when used) consisted of a sprinkling of *P. deltiodes* pollen and/or a sucrose cube soaked in a 25% solution of honey. A white cotton pad (diameter 5cm) was placed in the centre of each tray and when food resources were used they were placed on this.

In each experiment, flowers were set out in groups consisting of three flowers of different heights (125, 92 and 32cm) which were randomly arranged in an equilateral triangle with sides of 45cm (Fig. 2.1).



**Figure 2.1.** The model flower set-up used in winter wheat fields in 2002 and in 2003. The arrangement of each model flower within the set was at random.

# 2.7.2. Bait plants.

Broad bean (*V. faba*) seeds were sown weekly in plastic plant pots (diameters 6cm) each filled with peat-based compost. Plants were grown under glasshouse conditions at  $15-18^{\circ}$ C with 16h-day length. After two weeks (four leaf stage), each plant was infested with approximately 12 winged and non-winged *A. pisum* taken from non-clonal laboratory stock. The plants were then left for one week, for the pea aphids to establish, before being taken to the field.

# 3.7.3. Experimental sites.

The experimental fields were located at Uggford farm, Wilton, Wiltshire, UK. Fields 1 (2002/3) and 2 (2002) had well-established hawthorn (*Crataegus monogyna* (Jacq.)) hedgerows situated approximately two metres from the edge of the crop. Fields 3 (2002) and 4 (2003) were bordered by mature beech (*Fagus sylvatica* (L.)) and sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus* (L.)) interspersed by hawthorn hedges. A grass strip (width 20 metres) separated the tree and hedgerow border from the crop in these two fields. Field 5 (2003) was bordered by a farm track. No insecticide was used on the experimental fields during either season. The winter wheat crops were harvested on 23 August (2002) and on 13 August (2003).

To avoid confounding the results, natural flowers in the hedgerows bordering the experimental side of each field were removed regularly with a scythe. During all experiments in both years, winter wheat plants within a radius of 5 metres of the bait plants were randomly checked for aphid infestations each time bait plants were put out and collected.

# 2.7.4. Field Experiment 1 (2002)

# Oviposition near model flowers and at control sites

Four sets of three model flowers and four sets of controls (stakes without flowerpot trays) were used in each winter wheat field (Fields 1, 2 and 3). All model flowers were painted yellow and contained pollen and honey and these were renewed weekly before each set of oviposition bait plants were put out. Sets of three model flowers alternated with sets of three stakes and were positioned in the field margins, approximately one metre from the crop edge, with an interval of 50 metres between treatments. Treatments were placed apart as far as possible to reduce the possibility of more than one treatment being visible to a hoverfly at a time.

At weekly intervals, two bait plants were selected at random and placed on the ground midway between the stakes and the edge of the crop (approximately 50 cm from the stakes). The bait plants were retrieved 48 hours later and the number of eggs counted, and where possible identified to syrphid species. Some eggs were reared to adulthood in the laboratory for easy identification.

The experiment was repeated four times at weekly intervals between 8 and 30 July 2002.

#### 2.7.5. Field Experiment 2 (2002/3)

#### Relative importance of colour, pollen and honey

This experiment was carried out at weekly intervals and repeated three times in 2002 (12 - 22 August) and five times in 2003 (12 July – 11 August). Four sets of yellow and four sets of unpainted (brown) model flowers were used in each experimental field (Fields 1, 4 and 5). Brown was chosen as it reflects fairly evenly and dully across the insect visual spectrum (Kevan, 1972). It was thought that this colour would provide less of a visual stimulus to syrphids than yellow.

For each colour treatment in each field, one set of three model flowers contained pollen, one set contained honey, one set contained honey and

pollen and one set contained no food resources. In each of the three fields, sets of flowers were positioned randomly approximately one metre from the crop edge at intervals of 50 metres. Prior to each replication the positions were re-randomised. The flowerpot saucers were unscrewed from their stakes and put in their new positions. Pollen and honey resources were renewed immediately before bait plants were put out.

In 2002, bait plants were put out and collected as in Experiment 1. Hoverfly eggs which could not be identified to species were kept and reared to adulthood.

In 2003, the experiment was repeated. During the last three weeks of the experiment, two additional bait plants were placed on the ground in the wheat crop at 5m from each set of model flowers and two at 10m. These plants were placed on a line running from the model flower stakes into the crop at right angles to the crop edge.

In 2003, during the last three weeks of the experiment (26 July – 11 August), as well as the bait plants beside the model flowers, two bait plants were placed on the ground in the wheat crop at 5m from the yellow painted and unpainted model flowers, and also at 10m. These plants were placed on a line running from the stakes into the crop at right angles to the crop edge.

#### Analysis

Mann-Whitney *U*-tests were used to test the differences between the numbers of syrphid eggs on bait plants in close proximity to sets of yellow model flowers and controls (Experiment 1), and between the numbers of eggs on bait plants at distances of 50cm, 5 and 10 metres from the yellow painted and unpainted model flowers (Experiment 2). For yellow painted and unpainted treatments separately, Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to determine differences between egg numbers at each distance between different food treatments. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11.

# 2.8. Results

# 2.8.1. Field experiment 1

# Oviposition near model flowers and at control sites

In total, 61 hoverfly eggs were found on bait plants placed by yellow model flowers and 15 on bait plants at control positions (Table 2.3). This difference was highly significant (Mann-Whitney *U*-test; U = 747.00;  $n_1n_2$  = 48, 48; *P* < 0.001). During the experimental period, one or more eggs were found on the bait plants associated with 26 out of the 48 model flower sets and 11 out of 48 control (stakes only) positions. The highest number of eggs at any one position was 11 (model flower, field 2). For sets of bait plants with one or more eggs, there was a trend for more eggs on those near model flowers (*x* = 2.35, s.e. 0.42) than at control positions (*x* = 1.36, s.e. 0.20) although this difference was not significant (Mann-Whitney *U*-test, *U*=98;  $n_1n_2$  = 11, 26; P>0.05)

Approximately 80% of the eggs (60) were identified as *E. balteatus*; this was confirmed by allowing some of the eggs to develop to adults. Eggs of other species included *Melanostoma scalare* (Fabr.), *E. corollae* and *Platycheirus peltatus* (Meigen). No aphids were found on wheat plants in any of the fields during the experiment.

#### Number of syrphid eggs

Date (2002)	Model flower sets	Controls (stakes)
8 -10 July	8	0
13-15 July	18	2
23-25 July	28	9
28-30 July	7	4
<u>Totals</u>	<u>61</u>	<u>15</u>

**Table 2.3.** Numbers of syrphid eggs laid on bait plant near model flowers sets and the controls over the experimental period.

## 2.8.2. Field experiment 2

In both years a higher total number of eggs was found at all distances on bait plants near (50 cm) from the yellow model flowers than near the unpainted ones (Table 2.4). These differences were highly significant at 50cm (Mann-Whitney tests, 2002: U = 402;  $n_1n_2$  = 36, 36, P < 0.001; 2003 U = 1195.0;  $n_1n_2$  = 60, 60; P < 0.001). In 2003, significantly more eggs were found at 10m near coloured than unpainted models (U = 484.5;  $n_1n_2$  = 36, 36; P < 0.05). Results were not significant at distances of 5 metres (U = 549.0;  $n_1n_2$  = 36, 36; P > 0.05), although a trend was found for more eggs to be laid on plants near the yellow models compared to the non-coloured models (Table 2.4).

No significant differences in oviposition, in either year or at any distance, were found between different food treatments when yellow and unpainted treatments were analysed separately or together. (Kruskal-Wallis tests, P>0.05 in all cases)

As in experiment 1, the majority of eggs (145/162; 90%) were identified as *E. balteatus*.

Colour	Fluorescent Yellow				Brown (unpainted)				
Food resources	Pollen & Honey	Pollen	Honey	None	Pollen & Honey	Pollen	Honey	None	
No. of syrphid eggs (2002) 50cm	24	10	13	15	1	3	11	0	
No. of syrphid eggs (2003) 50cm	13	18	14	25	1	6	10	2	
No. of syrphid eggs (2003) 5m	2	7	4	11	0	1	1	6	
No. of syrphid eggs (2003) 10m	6	4	10	9	1	6	4	1	
Totals	<u>45</u>	<u>39</u>	<u>41</u>	<u>60</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>16</u>	<u>26</u>	<u>9</u>	

Table 2.4. Numbers of syrphid eggs on bait plants at distances of 50cm, 5 and 10m from model flower treatments in 2002 and 2003.

	Mean I	U	Р	
No. of syrphia eggs	Treatment	Control		
Experiment 1 (2002) 50cm	56.94	40.94	747.00	*0.001
Experiment 1 (2002) 50cm (positions with eggs)	20.73	14.91	98.00	0.141
Experiment 2 (2002) 50cm	43.33	29.67	402.00	*0.001
Experiment 2 (2003) 50cm	70.58	50.42	1195.00	*0.000
Experiment 2 (2003) 5m	39.25	33.75	549.00	0.116
Experiment 2 (2003) 10m	41.04	31.96	484.50	*0.017

**Table 2.5.** Results of Mann-Whitney tests on numbers of syrphid eggs on bait plants at yellow painted and unpainted (brown) model flower positions (50cm, 5 and 10 metres) in the different collection periods. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.

					df	X <sup>2</sup>	Р
Colour of travs							
	Honey	Pollen	Honey &	No food			
Yellow 50cm (2002)	17.06	16.61	21.56	18.78	3	1.383	0.709
Unpainted 50cm (2002)	18.22	21.89	17.89	16.00	3	4.083	0.253
Yellow & unpainted 50cm (2002)	35.19	37.39	38.67	34.75	3	0.601	0.896
Yellow 50cm (2003)	30.57	27.63	28.40	35.40	3	2.064	0.559
Unpainted 50cm (2003)	34.93	33.57	25.83	27.67	3	5.602	0.133
Yellow & unpainted 50cm (2003)	66.00	59.82	54.17	62.02	3	2.451	0.484
Yellow 5m (2003)	17.33	17.94	16.72	22.00	3	2.225	0.527
Unpainted 5m (2003)	17.89	17.89	16.00	22.22	3	4.682	0.197
Yellow & unpainted 5m (2003)	34.72	35.17	32.50	43.61	3	5.841	0.12
Yellow 10m (2003)	20.17	15.44	18.56	19.83	3	1.473	0.689
Unpainted 10m (2003)	20.00	18.22	17.89	17.89	3	0.69	0.876
Yellow & unpainted 10m (2003)	39.42	33.47	36.14	36.97	3.00	1.24	0.74

**Table 2.6.** Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on the number of syrphid eggs laid in the presence or absence of food resources on bait plants at distances of 50cm, 5 and 10 metres from yellow and unpainted (brown) model flower positions in 2002 and 2003.

#### 2.9. Discussion

#### Oviposition response to model flowers in the field

Although artificial flowers have been used by a number of workers to investigate the foraging behaviour of honey bees (Waddington, 1980; Spaethe *et al.*, 2001), they have not previously been used in an experiment to assess their effect on hoverfly oviposition. The model flowers used in these investigations combined three attributes of natural flowers (colour, pollen and nectar) thought to be of importance in attracting syrphids to them. The fact that significantly more eggs were laid near model flowers than near control positions, strongly supports the findings of those workers who found an increase in oviposition associated with the presence of real flowers (e.g. Fluke, 1937; Dixon, 1959; van Emden, 1965; Hickman & Wratten 1996). The results also strongly suggested colour to be more important than pollen and honey resources in eliciting this response. The results were strengthened by the fact that significant differences were found in all experiments and that the same trend was shown throughout each experimental period.

The use of model flowers, and the removal of natural flora, enabled conditions to be standardised; this avoided problems associated with interpreting results when there are large numbers of different variables (e.g. Pollard, 1971). The fact that no aphids were found in the crop during either year meant that another possible source of variation was eliminated. The field scale of the experiments also avoided the problems associated with small-scale experiments on highly mobile organisms such as hoverflies, which may have contributed to the negative results obtained in some small scale experiments (Chandler, 1968a).

Ideally, as there is a positive correlation between syrphid oviposition and number of aphids (Sanders, 1979; Gilbert, 1993; van Emden, 1990; Bargen *et al.*, 1998) the bait plants should all have been infested to exactly the same extent when they were put out into the field. Although the plants were of the same age, and all were initially infested to the same extent, it was not

possible to ensure this. However the bait plants were allocated at random and with more than 1000 plants used in total, it was very unlikely that this compromised the overall results.

Flowers produce pollen, which is required by immature syrphids to mature their reproductive organs (Schneider, 1969; Svensson & Janzon, 1984; Cowgill, 1989) and by gravid females for ovigenesis (Schneider, 1948). It also appears from these results, that yellow model flowers do attract gravid female syrphids, which oviposit nearby, but that this does not depend on the presence of food rewards.

The results showed that yellow coloured targets, rather than those with food rewards had the main effect on oviposition. Even though the chosen colour was not optimal (see Chapter 4), gravid syrphids appeared to be more attracted to the yellow model flowers than the unpainted models. It can therefore be assumed that colour was an important cue in enabling them to locate the model flowers. However, in this experiment, there was no evidence of increased oviposition near coloured targets with food rewards compared with those without such rewards. Indeed, in 2003 more eggs were laid near yellow targets with no food resources that any other treatment. It might be expected that if the yellow targets represented potential sources of food, then visiting syrphids would continue searching elsewhere if none was available at the target. The results suggest that, even if gravid syrphids respond to a colour cue primarily to obtain food, the presence of aphids near the target will elicit an oviposition response whether or not food is available. It can be assumed that cues for hoverfly oviposition include visual stimuli (Chandler, 1968b; Sanders, 1979; Kan, 1988a,b) and aphid volatiles (Volk, 1964; Budenberg & Powell, 1992). As there was a significant response to coloured targets at 10m into the crop, and at this distance, it is unlikely that small bait plants could be seen by a hoverfly in the field margin, it seems likely that females responded first to the coloured target and then to aphid volatiles, which directed them towards the oviposition site.

Another possible mechanism arises from the fact that many flowering plants e.g. broom and sunflowers, will support colonies of aphids. Gravid females could move towards coloured targets primarily as a likely source of oviposition sites rather than from hunger.

Even though colour appeared to be the most important stimulus in attracting gravid females, it might have been expected that in its absence, olfactory cues from honey and pollen would result in more visits to unpainted targets with food resources and more oviposition near these targets. There was no evidence for this. In fact, the lowest numbers of eggs were found on bait plants near the unpainted model flowers provided with both pollen and honey (Table 2.5). These findings suggest that olfactory cues from pollen and nectar are less important than colour in orientating hoverflies towards flowers.

However, the honey from unknown sources and wind-dispersed pollen used, were unlikely to have been optimal. They were chosen because they had been used for many years as food for successive generations of insectary reared *E. balteatus* at Southampton University (J. Hickman, pers. Comm). However, unlike *Melanostoma* and *Platycheirus* spp., which visit plants with anemophilous pollen (Stelleman, 1978), studies by gut analysis (Haslett, 1989) and observational studies (Cowgill *et al.*, 1993; Branquarte & Hemptinne, 2000) have shown that the commonest species found in this project, *E. balteatus*, feeds on pollen and nectar from many different insect pollinated flower species in the field. Had nectar and pollen from flowers known to be exploited by *E. balteatus* and other common species, been used in this project, it is possible that they might have enhanced the attraction of the model flowers.

Although no comparison was made between the effects of natural and artificial flowers in this investigation, the model flowers were considerably larger and brighter than the naturally occurring flower species removed during the experiment. There is a possibility that the highly significant results seen here were partly the result of these oversized models providing a 'super stimulus' (Kevan & Baker, 1983) to gravid hoverflies. A large flower size generally means an increased advertising area to potential pollinators (Mulligan & Kevan, 1973; Kevan, 1978; Bell 1985; Schmid-Hempel & Speiser, 1988). Although Sutherland (1998) reported that *E. balteatus* preferred small flowers (7cm diameter), the results described here suggest that large (19cm diameter) yellow model flowers were highly attractive to them.

In both years, the majority of eggs laid on aphid-infested bait plants were *E*. *balteatus*. The larvae of this species have been known to consume between 137-190 *Sitobion avenae* (F.) (Ankersmit *et al.*, 1986) over their development time of 7-10 days (Rojo *et al.*, 1996). In most years, *E. balteatus* is the predominant species on agricultural land in the U.K. (Dean, 1982; Chambers *et al.*, 1986; Cowgill *et al.*, 1993). *E. balteatus* has also been implicated at the most important agent limiting aphid population growth on apple (Wnuk, 1977) and on crops such as sugar beet (Hurej, 1992), kale (Hughes, 1963), Brussels sprouts (Pollard, 1969) and winter wheat (Ankersmit *et al.*, 1986). The possibility that yellow model flowers could be used to attract species such as *E. balteatus* to the crop could be of great practical importance to the agricultural community.

For biological control in crops, artificial flowers possess many advantages over natural ones. For example, they could be put out early in the season when aphid numbers are beginning to increase or in areas where densities of aphids are high. Model flowers could be used in fields with or without margins and also at predetermined distances into the crop without disrupting it. As it appears that colour is the only necessary component to attract gravid females and enhance oviposition, all that would be required would be a coloured disc and something to stand it on; virtually no maintenance would be required other than the initial set up.

This study did not investigate the impact of model flowers on the dynamics of aphid populations in the crop and the economic effects of using this method to enhance oviposition by aphidophagous syrphids still need to be assessed. However, the results may be of interest to farmers and horticulturists, especially those who grow organic crops, as they suggest that it may be possible to enhance the biological control of aphids, using a novel and inexpensive method which requires little labour and does not reduce the area of the crop.

## 2.10. Laboratory experiment

# The effect of food deprivation on the landing behaviour and oviposition responses of gravid *E. balteatus*.

The results described above suggest strongly that the presence of flowers enhances hoverfly oviposition and that colour is more important than food resources in determining this behaviour. However, the relationship between feeding and oviposition is not well understood. The experiments described below were carried out in an attempt to gain a deeper understanding of the oviposition behaviour and landing responses of *E. balteatus* in relation to food availability and deprivation.

The aim of these experiments was to assess whether hunger firstly, had any impact on syrphid oviposition, and secondly any effect on the numbers of landings on a yellow target, by comparing the behaviour of gravid females when starved for 24 hours and when given *ad libitum* access to honey and pollen.

## 2.11. Methods and Materials

# 2.11.1. Experiment 1

## The oviposition response of starved and normally fed E. balteatus

Two perspex cages ( $40 \times 60 \times 40$  cms) each containing 24 gravid *E. balteatus* females (second generation, three weeks old at the start of the experiment) from laboratory stock, were used for the experiment.

The flies were provided with pollen, honey and water (see section 2.3.2 for details). 24 hours before the start of the first experiment, pollen and honey were removed from one cage, but the water was left. Three singly potted three-week-old broad bean plants (*V. faba*) infested with 200 adult *M. viciae* (from stock cultures) were then arranged at intervals of 20cm in an equilateral triangle in each cage. Plants were removed three hours later, pollen and honey which had been removed was replaced, and the numbers of eggs were counted. Each set of flies was alternately starved for 24h or fed normally for the 24h before an experiment. Six replicate bioassays were performed from 9 February to 16 March 2003.

#### 2.11.2. Experiment 2

# The landing response of starved and normally fed gravid *E. balteatus* on yellow model flowers

For each bioassay, eight model flowers were constructed using white card discs (diameters 23mm) secured horizontally with Sellotape on thin 18cm lengths of green, plastic-coated gardener's wire (B & Q). Card discs had previously been hand-sprayed with florescent yellow Plasti-Kote 655 paint (B & Q), which was available at the time, and left to dry for 28 days to eliminate any possible odour emanation. Each model flower was secured by placing the stem through a previously drilled 1mm hole in the centre of a white plastic vial lid (diameter 2.5mm). Flowers were held upright by weighting the underside of the vial lid with Plasticine.

Two perspex cages (40 x 60 x 40 cm) were used for each bioassay. In one cage, 12 gravid *E. balteatus* (2 - 3 weeks old at the start of the experiment, second generation) were deprived of honey and pollen, but not water, for 24 hours. In a separate cage, 12 gravid *E. balteatus* were given *ad libitum* access to honey, pollen and water. Until 24 h before the experiment all flies had had access to pollen and honey.

In each cage, four model flowers were placed in a square arrangement at 16cm intervals. The numbers of landings on the model flowers by the starved and normally fed flies were observed for a two-hour period, and at different times of the day. Six replicate bioassays were carried out from 2 February to 8 March 2004 at one week intervals. Each set of flies was alternately starved for 24h or fed normally for the 24h before an experiment.

To maintain the numbers of flies used throughout the experimental period, gravid females from stock were used to replace any dead flies.

In both experiments, temperature was maintained at  $22^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$ . Ceiling mounted fluorescent bulbs provided ambient lighting (5000lux/L16: D7 photoperiod).

#### Analysis

Mann-Whitney *U* tests were used to compare the numbers of landings, and the numbers of eggs laid, by starved and normally fed flies.

#### 2.12. Results

#### 2.12.1. Experiment 1

### Numbers of eggs laid by starved and normally fed E. balteatus

Over the experimental period a total of 8114 eggs were laid altogether with approximately the same number laid by starved flies and those that had been normally fed (Table 2.7). The number of eggs laid during an experimental session declined over time for each group. There were no significant differences in the numbers of eggs laid by starved and normally fed flies. (Mann-Whitney *U* test: U = 16; P > 0.05). (See Table 2.9)

Date (2003)	Starved flies	Normally fed flies
09 February	1062	998
16 February	1063	990
23 February	902	859
02 March	655	589
09 March	285	459
16 March	123	129
<u>Totals</u>	<u>4090</u>	<u>4024</u>

**Table 2.7.** Numbers of eggs laid on broad bean plants by starved and normally fed *E*.*balteatus* over the experimental period.

# 2.12.2. Experiment 2

# The landing response of starved and normally fed *E. balteatus* to the model flowers

A total of 405 landings were made on the model flowers by starved and normally fed *E. balteatus* over the experimental period (Table 2.8). No significant differences between the numbers of landings by the starved and normally fed flies were seen (Mann-Whitney *U* test; U = 8; P > 0.05) (Table 2.9), although there was a trend for more landings by the starved flies.

Date (2004)	Starved flies	Normally fed flies
02 February	39	37
09 February	42	29
16 February	48	38
23 February	32	28
01 March	44	38
08 March	19	11
<u>Totals</u>	<u>224</u>	<u>181</u>

**Table 2.8.** Numbers of landings on the yellow model flowers by starved and normallyfed *E. balteatus* over the experimental period.

Stamped /fed flips	Mean	U	Р		
Starved /ied mes	Starved	Normally fed			
Experiment 1: No of eggs laid on broad bean plants	6.83	6.17	16.00	0.818	
Experiment 2: No of landings on model flowers	8.17	4.83	8.00	0.132	

**Table 2.9.** Results of Mann-Whitney tests comparing numbers of eggs laid on bait plants (Experiment 1), and numbers of landings on model flowers (Experiment 2) by starved and normally fed gravid *E. balteatus*.

#### 2.13. Discussion

#### Oviposition response of starved and fed E. balteatus

Although it was assumed that the starved females were hungry and would be actively seeking food, they nonetheless laid as many eggs as flies that had been fed normally, rather than continuing to search for food as might have been expected. It seems probable that the presence of aphids was an overriding stimulant. Assuming that at least some of the hoverflies approaching yellow model flowers in the field did so because they were hungry and seeking pollen or nectar, this would help explain why as many eggs were laid in the field near model flowers without food resources as with them. The field experiment was carried out at a time of year when many natural pollen and nectar resources were available, and it seems unlikely that gravid females arriving at the model flowers in the field would have been at the level of starvation of the experimental flies in the laboratory. Unfortunately, few studies have involved measurement of the effects of food deprivation or food type on the numbers of eggs laid per se (but see Heimpel et al., 1997). Gilbert and Jervis (1998), however, found that food deprivation had an effect on life span. The results of this experiment might have been different if food resources more optimal for E. balteatus had been used. Therefore, it is suggested that the effect of different pollens and nectar extracts are investigated for their effect on the growth, development and subsequent oviposition performance of captive-reared E. balteatus, and that the attractiveness of those food resources found most efficient under insectary conditions, be tested in the field. Almohamad et al. (2007), for example, found bee-collected pollen and sugar to be suitable foods for E. balteatus in the laboratory.

In the second experiment, both starved and normally fed flies landed on the model flower targets, with no significant differences between the number of landings, although there was a trend for more landings by the starved flies, presumably because they were actively seeking food. This again helps to explain the success of model flowers in attracting gravid syrphids to crops;

although the models are presumably recognised as a potential food source, it appears that even flies that have been exposed to a continuous food supply may be attracted towards them and then respond to a nearby oviposition stimulus.

## 2.14. Conclusions

Although oviposition may be affected by a number of things unexplored here, the results of the field experiments described above showed that syrphid eggs, in particular *E. balteatus*, were laid on bait plants in the vicinity of yellow model flowers with or with out food resources. Laboratory experiments which followed, suggested that food deprivation had no apparent effect on oviposition behaviour or on attraction towards a yellow target. Indeed the above investigations strongly suggested that the oviposition needs of *E. balteatus* were greater than their food requirements. It is possible that, if different food resources were used, then targets with food might be found to be more attractive than those without. However, yellow targets without food did enhance oviposition and would be easier and less expensive for farmers to deploy than targets containing food resources.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

#### COLOUR PREFERENCES IN APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS

From the work described in the previous chapter, it appeared that placing model flowers in the field margins of crop fields enhanced oviposition nearby, and that the most important cue in attracting gravid hoverflies to the model flowers was colour. This Chapter describes laboratory experiments followed by large-scale field experiments, which attempted to assess the optimum colour of a model flower to attract gravid hoverflies.

#### 3.1. General introduction

The importance of flower colour in attracting insect pollinators has been recognised for some time and reviewed on several occasions (e.g. Wyatt, 1997; Sutherland 1998; Kevan *et al.*, 2001). The colour of a flower is obviously important, since it enables insects to tell known from unknown flowers and to discriminate profitable food resources and inefficient ones (Chittka & Menzel, 1992). However, success in foraging behaviour is critically dependent on a sensory system which is tuned such as to allow insects to distinguish one flower species from another (Kevan *et al.*, 2001; Chittka & Menzel, 1992). An important component of this equipment is the colour vision system of the insect (Kevan *et al.*, 2001). Consequently, particular insects show a tendency to restrict their visits to flowering plant species of a given colour signal which they have experienced as rewarding (Backhaus *et al.*, 1987; Chittka *et al.*, 1992). Indeed, Sutherland *et al.* (1999) suggested that resources could be effectively partitioned between pollinators, based in part upon flower colour. Lunau and Maier (1995a, b) discuss colour preferences on the basis of what is known about the physiology of colour vision in Diptera.

Many authors (e.g. Daumer, 1956; Kevan, 1978; Feinsinger, 1983; Menzel, 1985; Menzel & Backhaus, 1991) have discussed the evolutionary relationship between flower colour and insect perception. From an evolutionary aspect, the development of the sense of colour in insects probably arose early in the phylogenies of the Arthropoda and Chordata (Kevan *et al.*, 2001). Many insects and vertebrates have

been shown to have multiple classes of photoreceptors that contribute to colour vision. For example, some butterflies (e.g. *Gonopteryx rhamni* and *Pieris brassicae*) possess five colour receptors and are attracted to colours which reflect in the red part of the spectrum (about 600nm) (Arikawa, *et al.*, 1987). This suggests that red flowers have evolved exclusively with respect to the perception of the pollinators (Chittka & Menzel, 1992).

In colour discrimination tests with numerous Hymenoptera, Chittka and Menzel (1992) found that honeybees have trichromatic vision based on ultraviolet, blue and green receptors and are most sensitive to flowers with reflections within the bluegreen (430-520nm) part of the spectrum (Peitsch et al., 1992; Chittka & Menzel, 1992). Syrphids such as Episyrphus balteatus have been shown to have wavebandspecific receptors most sensitive in the green-yellow (490-600nm) part of the spectrum (Stavenga et al., 1993; Lunau & Maier, 1995a, b). Collett and Land (1975) suggest that green-yellow sensitivity may help male E. balteatus, and related species, to detect yellow coloured females. Stavenga (1979) investigated the peripheral retinular cells of *E. balteatus* and found that different visual pigments were present in the ventral part of the eye in the male, but not in the female. O'Carroll et al. (1997) and Nordström et al. (2006) suggest that tracking females that might be moving either against a bright sky or cluttered foliage requires a different neural control system. Having established the existence of colour vision in hoverflies, research has also focused on the question of how many spectral types of photoreceptors are involved.

In the case of flower visiting, green-yellow receptors may have much to do with the attraction to yellow flowers (Stavenga, 1989). Sutherland *et al.* (1999) showed that *E. balteatus* exhibited enhanced behavioural responses to the colour yellow, as previously seen in *Eristalis tenax* (L.) by several workers pollen (e.g. Isle, 1949; Horridge *et al.*, 1975; Kay, 1976; Stavenga, 1989; Lunau & Wacht, 1994; Dinkel & Lunau, 2001). *E. tenax* is known to have photoreceptors with double-peaked curves between 350 and 520nm, which explains the sensitivity to ultraviolet and to green and yellow light (Horridge *et al.*, 1975). Detection of the colour yellow might also explain the preference that *E. tenax* has for yellow pollen: feeding is elicited only by

stimulation between 520-600nm, which corresponds to the spectral reflection of pollen (Isle, 1949; Horridge *et al.*, 1975; Lunau & Wacht, 1994; Kelber, 2001). Long wavelength light, which converts metarhodopsin into rhodopsin, accelerates pupil opening in hoverflies (Stavenga, 1979). This might explain the preference hoverflies have for yellow over green stimuli (Kelber, 2001).

Hoverflies are known to visit a wide variety of coloured flowers including red flowers (Chittka & Menzel, 1992; Mondor, 1995; Chittka & Waser, 1997) and light blue to lavender coloured flowers (Sol, 1966; Kevan, 1983; Hickman & Wratten, 1996). Sol (1966), for example, observed that *Eupeodes corollae* were attracted to violet-blue bluebells (*Endymion non-scriptus* (L)). Hickman & Wratten (1996) also found the blue flowers of *Phacelia tanacetifolia* (Benth) to be particularly attractive to syrphids such as *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae*. Colour preferences in hoverflies have also been investigated in the laboratory using artificial flowers. Sutherland (1998) found that *E. balteatus* exhibited enhanced behavioural responses to the colour yellow, as previously seen in *Eristalis* by several workers (Isle, 1949; Lunau, 1993; Lunau & Wacht, 1994). Field studies have also shown yellow to be one of the preferred colours of most syrphid species (Kirk, 1984: Finch & Collier, 1989; Wacht *et al.*, 1996). Indeed, the association of hoverflies with yellow flowers is particularly well documented (e.g. Wacht *et al.*, 1996; Sutherland, 1998).

Ultraviolet is also an important component in insect and flower inter-relationships (Kevan *et al.*, 2001). Ultraviolet receptors are generally frequent and are often concentrated in the dorsal part of the eye, as reported by Peitsch *et al.* (1992) and Kevan *et al.* (2001). Most insects are sensitive to ultraviolet wavelengths around 340nm (Chittka, 1996). Although the actual leaf reflects little ultraviolet, hairs (or glaucous coverings) on the surface of the leaf are responsible for bright ultraviolet reflections (Eisner *et al.*, 1973). In other plants, flavonoids in the petal parenchyma are presumed to be responsible for ultraviolet reflection (Frohlich, 1976). It is assumed that ultraviolet reflecting nectar guidelines orientate insects towards the food reward (Kevan *et al.*, 2001). However, it has been suggested that ultraviolet light has no more importance beyond that of reflections in other wavebands (Lutz, 1924). Kevan *et al.* (2001) argued that ultraviolet in *combination* with other reflections elicited flower-visiting behaviour in some insects. In studies with

honeybees, Giurfa *et al.* (1996) showed that if the colour contrast was absent, bees had difficulty in detecting the target at all, even if the ultraviolet component was present. Other workers (e.g. Spaethe *et al.*, 2001: Kevan *et al.*, 2001) have also demonstrated the effect of ultraviolet in diminishing the detectability of targets. Spaethe *et al.* (2001), for example, noted that white targets with ultraviolet reflectance attracted fewer bees when placed on a green background. In contrast, white model flowers without ultraviolet reflectance were more attractive to the insects. Kevan and Baker (1983) found that flowers that were prominent against the background attracted hoverflies over long distances and that yellow flowers showed up particularly well against green vegetation. However, the most striking contrast was found in bright yellow flowers which were highly reflective of ultraviolet light (Frohlich, 1976).

Although ultraviolet is unrelated to fluorescent reflectance, the reflectance patterns often appear to be similar (Eisner *et al.*, 1973; Frohlich, 1976). Flowers which fluoresce or appear very bright are visited by a wide variety of Diptera (Isle, 1949; Finch, 1992; Sutherland, 1998: Kevan *et al.*, 2001) and Hymenoptera (Werner *et al.*, 1988; Kevan *et al.*, 2001). Fluorescent yellow is known to be particularly attractive to hoverflies (Hickman, 1996; Sutherland, 1998).

Fluorescent yellow traps have been used by a number of workers to attract hoverflies (e.g. Haslett, 1989a; Finch, 1992; White *et al.*, 1995; Kula, 1997; Hickman, 1996; Sutherland, 1998). Parameter (1951) was the first to report the attraction of syrphids to yellow, on observing *Metasyrphus luniger* (Meigen) hovering over a patch of paint. In New Zealand, Wratten *et al.* (1995b) observed that colour attraction varied between two species of syrphid. Although *Melangyna novaezelandiae* (Macquart) were attracted to yellow water traps, there were no significant differences in the numbers of *M fasciatum* caught in yellow, blue and white traps. However, Sol (1966), found blue to be more attractive to hoverflies than yellow, while Cowgill (1990) reported white to be the preferred colour. Despite the conflicting data, yellow water traps are frequently used in monitoring programmes to catch syrphids (e.g. Schneider, 1969; Dean, 1982; Finch & Collier, 1989; Wyatt *et al.*, 1997; Sutherland, 1998).

In studies using yellow water traps, most workers (e.g. Sol, 1966; Lewis & Taylor, 1967; Haslett, 1989a; Cowgill, 1990; Wyatt *et al.*, 1997; Sutherland, 1998) have concentrated on the effectiveness of the traps in catching the insects rather than on the type of colour used. From the perspective of the insect, floral hue (predominant wavelength), saturation (purity of colour) and intensity (percentage reflectance) may all be important (Moericke, 1969). Vernon & Bartel (1985) suggest that such attributes should be considered when determining the shade of the paint to be used in programmes for monitoring insects.

In the investigation described below, the aim of which was to find the optimum colour for use on model flower targets to attract gravid females to crop fields, it was decided to confine the investigation to the effects of using different shades of yellow, rather than to use a wider range of colours. Yellow is attractive to *E. balteatus* and to *E. corollae* (see above), the aphidophagous species most important in biocontrol of aphids. By looking at yellow shades alone, it was possible to undertake an in depth analysis of syrphid responses to yellows of different wavelengths and reflectances, which would not have been possible if several different colours were being compared. Laboratory work first assessed the landing response of *E. balteatus* to a range of yellow shades in the laboratory and based on the results of this, four fluorescent yellow shades, two of which reflected UV light, were tested in the field.

#### 3.2. Laboratory experiment

In view of the amount of evidence that *E. balteatus* is attracted by the colour yellow (e.g. Isle, 1949; Horridge *et al.*, 1975; Kirk, 1984; Stavenga, 1989; Finch & Collier, 1989; Finch, 1992; Wacht *et al.*, 1996), and the importance of this species in the biocontrol of aphids in the UK, it was decided to test the landing responses of *E. balteatus* to a range of yellow trays in the laboratory. The aim was to try to establish the best shades of this colour to be tested in large scale field experiments to find the optimum yellow to be used for model flowers to attract gravid syrphids, in particular *E. balteatus*, to crop fields.

#### 3.3. Methods and materials

#### 3.3.1. Experimental insects

Twelve male and 12 female *E. balteatus* (first generation), reared in the Insectary at the University of Southampton, were taken at random before each bioassay. Flies were two weeks old at the start of the experiment. Between experiments, flies had access to three Petri dishes with pollen, a 10% honey solution and tap water on cotton (see Chapter 2, Methods section 2.3.2). Flies also had access to bean plants (*Vica faba*) infested with the vetch aphid, *Megoura viciae* supplied by Mambotox (University of Southampton). During bioassays, flies had access to water, but not to food.

#### 3.3.2. Experimental arena

The floor of a perspex cage (40 x 60 x 40cm) was covered with brown wrapping paper (W.H. Smith), which was replaced after each experimental run. Brown was chosen because it reflects fairly evenly and dully across the insect visual spectrum (Kevan, 1972). The entrance to the cage was covered with 'tubi-gauze' netting (20 x 20cm) through which treatments and insects could be transferred. Male and female *E. balteatus* were then released into the cage and allowed to settle for one hour before making observations. Ceiling mounted fluorescent bulbs provided ambient lighting (5000lux/L16: D7 photoperiod). Temperature was maintained at  $22^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$  during the experimental period.

#### 3.3.3. Yellow paints

Four fluorescent and five non-fluorescent yellow paints were tested. Eight were commercially available pre-formulated paints supplied by B & Q. Glocote 1263 was obtained from the manufacturers (Goovar, Ellenshaw Works, Hull HU2 OHN). Yellow paints were selected that appeared to be visually different to the human eye. The four fluorescent paints that were available at the time were Plasti-Kote fluorescent enamel 142S; Plasti-Kote 655 fluorescent spray; Glocote fluorescent gloss 1263 and Revell fluorescent enamel SM312. Five non-fluorescent paints were chosen at random. These were Plasti-Kote 'Buttercup' gloss B12; Daler Rowney lemon yellow

gloss 651; Plasti-Kote sunshine yellow gloss B11; Tamiya Acrylic X-8 and Crown Soleil matt emulsion 0202458.

## 3.3.4. Preparation of the yellow trays

Nine flowerpot saucers (diameters 6 cm) were sanded and treated with a base coat (see Chapter 2, Methods section 2.7.1). When dry, trays were hand-painted or sprayed with yellow paint. To eliminate any possible odour emanation, trays were left in a well-ventilated room for two months before use. Trays were placed 2cm apart at random in a 3 x 3 square arrangement in the centre of the cage. Tray positions were re-randomised within the experiment every 30 minutes to eliminate positional preference. The numbers of landings on the yellow trays were observed continuously over four two-hour periods from 19 January to 9 February 2004. Between experiments, the trays were rinsed with tap water to remove contaminants and left to dry in a well ventilated room.

# 3.3.5. Reflectance spectrophotometry

Reflectance spectrophotometry was used to obtain an objective description of the paint colours. Data on the visible reflectance spectra for the yellow paints were obtained at the University of Southampton by means of an Ocean Optics B.V. S2000 dual channel fibre optic spectrometer. A DT-MINI Deuterium Tungsten halogen flash bulb illuminated a fibre optic reflectance probe and transmitted the light to the spectrometer. Three fast scans were carried out on each of paints. The mean values were calculated to produce spectral reflectance data between 250 and 600nm. The graduate potential of the yellow paints was determined by calculating the intensity values of the maximum and minimum wavelengths. A barium sulphate plate was used as a calibration standard.

# Analysis

Numbers of landings on the different yellow trays by *E. balteatus*, and by male and female flies separately, were compared using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric one-way analysis of variance. Because it was expected that there might be a different

response to fluorescent and non-fluorescent yellows, the numbers of landings on fluorescent and non-fluorescent trays were compared using a Mann-Whitney test. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11

## 3.4. Results

### 3.4.1. Visits to the yellow painted trays

Table 3.1 (a) shows the numbers of landings by male and female *E. balteatus* on each of the different yellow trays. Differences between the numbers of *E. balteatus* landings on the yellow trays were highly significant (Kruskal-Wallis test;  $X^2 = 22.03$ ; df = 8; P < 0.01) with more landings on fluorescent Plasti-Kote 142S than on non-fluorescent Plasti-Kote B11. Similar results were seen for male landings (Kruskal-Wallis test;  $X^2 = 19.27$ ; df = 8; P < 0.05) and for females (Kruskal-Wallis test;  $X^2 = 18.81$ ; df = 8; P < 0.05) separately, with significantly more visits made to fluorescent Plasti-Kote 142S than non-fluorescent Tamiya X-8. Table 3.1 (b) shows the results of the Kruskal-Wallis tests for each observation. Differences between the fluorescent and non fluorescent trays were confirmed by a Mann-Whitney test (Mann-Whitney test; U = 29.0; n= 16, n =20; P < 0.001).

(a)					Treatmen	t						
Dates	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	Totals		
	319	312	312	81 <u></u>	31 <u></u>	312	31 <u></u> 2	31 <u></u>	3 <b>1</b> 9			
19/01/04	6 / 9	3/3	7 / 4	2/0	2/4	1/1	0 / 1	1/2	4 / 4	26 / 28		
26/01/04	9 / 13	7 / 4	6 / 3	3 / 4	3 / 5	1/1	0/2	1/2	4 / 5	34 / 39		
02/02/04	10/9	8/5	5 / 5	5/3	3/0	5/1	4/3	3/3	5/3	48 / 32		
09/02/04	8 / 11	4/2	7 / 4	2/4	1/3	3/5	6/2	6/2	2/5	39 / 38		
<u>Totals</u>	<u>33 / 42</u>	<u>22 / 14</u>	<u>25 / 16</u>	<u>12 / 11</u>	<u>9 / 12</u>	<u>10 / 8</u>	<u>10 / 8</u>	<u>11 / 9</u>	<u>15 / 17</u>	<u>147 / 137</u>		
(b)												
					Mean ran	k				df	X <sup>2</sup>	Р
Males &	34.5	21.75	26.63	13.75	12.63	10.38	10.88	12.13	21.88	8	22.032	*0.005
females												
Males	33.00	24.63	28.25	14.25	10.88	12.00	12.50	13.00	18.00	8	19.270	*0.013
Females	34.50	19.50	22.88	15.88	17.50	10.75	9.88	11.13	24.50	8	18.807	*0.016

**Table 3.1 (a).** Numbers of landings on the different treatments by *E. balteatus* (b). Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on numbers of *E. balteatus* landing on the yellow trays. **1** = Plasti-Kote 142S; **2** = Glocote 1263; **3** = Revell SM312; **4** = Plasti-Kote B12; **5** = Daler 651; **6** = Plasti-Kote B11; **7** = Tamiya X-8; **8** = Crown 0202458; **9** = Plasti-Kote 655. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.

## 3.4.2. Reflectance curves

A sharp step in the spectrum at about 500nm was noted for the four fluorescent paints (Plasti-Kote 142S, Plasti-Kote 655, Glocote 1263 and Revell SM312) (Fig. 3.1), but not for the non-fluorescent paints. Reflective intensities (RI) for three of the fluorescent paints, Plasti-Kote 142S, Plasti-Kote 655 and Revell SM312 were 200%. RI for the fourth fluorescent paint, Glocote 1263, was 160%. Reflective intensities for the non-fluorescent paints varied between 120% and 80%. Fluorescent Plasti-Kote 142S produced a secondary peak in the ultraviolet at about 350nm. Non-fluorescent Crown 0202458 also produced a second spectral curve in the blue part of the spectrum at about 400nm.

To confirm the original result, a second scan was carried out on the fluorescent yellow paints. Fluorescent yellow Plasti-Kote B29 was also included in the spectrometry as this was available at the time. The mean values were calculated to produce spectral reflectance data between 500 and 520nm. Plasti-Kote B29 and Plasti-Kote 142S produced a secondary peak in the ultraviolet at about 350nm. Glocote 1263 produced a second spectral curve in the blue part of the spectrum at about 420nm (Fig. 3.2).



**Figure 3.1.** The dashed lines mark the spectral reflection of the 9 colours tested in the laboratory. Wavelength positions were determined by taking the mean value of three spectral scans (1= Plasti-Kote 142S\*; 2 = Glocote 1263\*; 3 = Revell SM312\*; 4 = Plasti-Kote B12; 5 = Daler 651; 6 = Plasti-Kote B11; 7 =Tamiya X-8; 8 = Crown 0202458; 9 = Plasti-Kote 655\*). \* indicates fluorescent paint.



**Figure. 3.2.** The coloured lines mark the spectral reflection of the four colours tested in the field (1= Glocote 1263; 2 = Plasti-Kote 655; 3 = Plasti-Kote B29; 4 = Plasti-Kote 142S).

.

### 3.5. Discussion

The attraction to the fluorescent yellow trays correlated well with the findings of other workers (e.g. Isle, 1949; Horridge *et al.*, 1975; Gilbert, 1981; Kevan 1983; Sutherland, 1998) who found that *E. balteatus* showed a strong preference for yellow flowers such as dandelion (*Taraxacum offinale* (Weber)), ragwort (*Senecio jacobea*) and buttercup (*Ranunculus repens* (L)) with spectral properties between 490 and 580nm. Fluorescent yellow trays had much higher reflectance intensities than the non-fluorescent ones and elicited significantly more visits by *E. balteatus*. Fluorescent yellow trays also produced sharp peaks in the yellow part of the light spectrum (520 – 580nm). However, such spectral peaks were not observed for the non-fluorescent yellow trays.

It was also found that fluorescent yellow Plasti-Kote 142S produced a secondary spectral curve in the ultraviolet part of the spectrum (350nm). This paint elicited more landings by *E. balteatus* than any other yellow shade tested. It is possible that this paint mimicked the reflectance of *Taraxacum* and *Senecio* flowers, which have a secondary peak in the ultraviolet at about 350nm (Kevan *et al.*, 2001). These flowers are known to be attractive to hoverflies (Kevan & Baker, 1983).

It was thought that preference to different shades of yellow might change with the increasing age of the flies (flies were aged five weeks at the end of the experiment). Sutherland (1998) and Sadeghi and Gilbert (2000) found a decrease in preference from yellow to blue in *E. balteatus* with increasing age. However, the same general pattern of more landings on the UV reflecting yellow shades was seen throughout the experiment.

Although the laboratory experiment provided an opportunity to investigate the landing responses of *E. balteatus* to different yellow shades under controlled conditions, artificial fluorescent lighting was used and it is very likely that this dulled the effect of the yellow paints. Unlike fluorescent lighting, which does not contain the balance of the full colour spectrum, daylight distributes light of almost all visible wavelengths more evenly and provides better colour rendition (Hashmi, 2002). Natural sunlight also eliminates problems associated with fluorescent lighting such

as light flicker and decreases in lighting from the middle to the end of the tube (Hashmi, 2002). It was therefore decided to test the responses of aphidophagous syrphids to yellow painted trays in the field.

## 3.6. Field experiments

#### 3.6.1. Introduction

Following the work described above, a large scale experiment was carried out to test syrphid colour preference in the field. The laboratory results indicated that, for *E. balteatus* at least, fluorescent yellow model flowers would be more attractive than non-fluorescent yellow ones and it was decided to confine the colour treatments to this category. Two ultraviolet (UV) reflecting yellow fluorescent paints were used, one of these being the paint that received the most visits in the laboratory experiment, and two non-UV yellow fluorescent trays. The aim was to determine the optimum yellow model flower colour to be used in a model flower to attract gravid syrphids.

## 3.7. Methods and materials

## 3.7.1. Experimental site 2005

The site in 2005 (Fig. 3.3) consisted of three winter wheat fields of similar size located at Uggford Farm, Wilton, Salisbury, England, UK. Field boundaries for each site consisted primarily of hawthorn (*Crataegus monogyna*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) hedgerows with an understorey of herbaceous plants (see Chapter 2, methods section 2.7.3. for site details). A farm track ran parallel to one side of each field. The winter wheat crops were harvested on 16 August.



**Figure 3.3a, b.** Simplified plan showing the layout of yellow water traps in the winter wheat fields in 2005 (not to scale).  $\mathbf{a}$  = arrangement of traps in sets in one field margin;  $\mathbf{b}$  = layout of single traps in two field margins (see text for details).

#### 3.7.2. Water trap preparation

The water traps were 19 cm diameter plastic flowerpot saucers painted with one of the four chosen fluorescent yellows (see Methods above) and filled with tap water and a 1% solution of ordinary household detergent. The UV reflecting paints were Plasti-Kote 142S and Plasti-Kote B29. Non-UV reflecting paints were Plasti-Kote 655 and Glocote 1263. Although Revell SM312 was also found to be attractive to *E. balteatus* in the laboratory, difficulties in obtaining sufficient quantities of the paint made it unsuitable for fieldwork. Storage limitations meant that it was not possible to leave the traps in a ventilated room to eliminate any possible odour emanation. Traps were put out in the field as soon as they were dry.

#### 3.7.3. The treatments

## Sets of traps (15 – 22 July 2005)

Sets of the four treatments, randomly placed in a straight line parallel to the edge of the crop and with 45 cm between treatments, were placed on the ground at intervals of 25 metres along the length of the field margin and within one metre of the crop edge (see Fig. 3.3a). In each of the three winter wheat fields, there were 5 replicates of each set Collections of hoverflies were made on four separate occasions from 15 to 22 July. Trap positions within each set were re-randomised after each collection.

## Single traps (25 July – 1 August 2005)

As it was possible that the proportions of syrphids trapped in each colour treatment might vary according to whether or not a choice was available, traps were also set out separately, placed in random order on the ground at intervals of 25 metres, and within one metre of the crop edge (see Fig. 3.3b). There were 5 traps of each treatment (total 20 per field) in two field margins in each field. Collections of hoverflies were made on three separate occasions from 25 July to 1 August 2005. Trap positions were re-randomised after each collection.

After each collection, traps were cleaned and reset with tap water and 1% solution of ordinary household detergent. Catches of aphidophagous syrphids were transferred to 70% alcohol in labelled plastic tubes and identified to species and sex using the criteria of Stubbs and Falk (2000).

Vegetation and flowering plants within 10 metres of the traps were removed to ensure that they could be seen from a distance. No insecticide was used on the crops or on any of the surrounding fields during the experimental period.

## Analysis

Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to compare the numbers of gravid syrphids caught in the yellow traps, and the numbers of gravid *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* separately. Single traps and sets of traps were analyzed separately.
Because it was expected that more gravid syrphids would be caught in the UV reflecting traps than the non-UV traps, Mann Whitney tests were carried out to compare numbers caught in UV and non-UV traps in each experiment. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11

# 3.8. Results

# 3.8.1. Numbers of syrphids

A total of 1408 aphidophagous syrphids, of which 119 were gravid females, were caught between 15 and 22 July (sets of traps) and 9373 (488 gravid) between 25 July and 1 August (single traps). Most syrphid species and gravid females were trapped on the last two collection dates (Table 3.2).

Date of collection	Plasti-Kote B29 (UV)	Plasti-Kote 142S (UV)	Glocote 1263	Plasti-Kote 655	Totals
Sets of traps					
15/07/2005	113 (10)	133 (22)	20 (5)	16 (1)	282
16/07/2005	103 (27)	102 (28)	13 (1)	43 (8)	261
21/07/2005	177 (3)	236 (9)	120 (0)	95 (2)	628
22/07/2005	96 (0)	89 (2)	31 (1)	21 (0)	237
Totals	489 (40)	560 (61)	184 (7)	175 (11)	1408 (119)
Single traps					
25/07/2005	155 (8)	180 (8)	92 (2)	73 (3)	500
29/07/2005	1861 (85)	2158 (133)	1445 (72)	884 (35)	6348
01/08/2005	843 (81)	869 (40)	494 (17)	319 (4)	2525
Totals	2859 (174)	3207 (181)	2031 (91)	1276 (42)	9373 (488)

**Table 3.2.** Numbers of aphidophagous syrphids caught in different yellow colour treatments in 2005 (figures in brackets represent gravid females).

Gravid females were mainly *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* (these species together accounted for 74% of the individuals trapped in sets, and 82% in single traps). Other species included *Scaeva pyrastri* (L), *Sphaerophoria scripta* (L), *Chrysotoxum bicinctum Melanostomini* (L), *Syrphus* and *Platycheirus*. Figure 3.4 shows the numbers of gravid females and different species caught in the different treatments over the experimental period.



**Figure 3.4 (a) & (b).** Numbers of gravid syrphids *species* caught in sets of traps **(a)** and single traps **(b)** over the experimental period. (*Eb* = *E. balteatus; Ec* = *E. corollae; Msc* = *Melanostoma scalare; Syr* = *Syrphus ribesii* and *S. vitripennis; Sp* = *Scaeva pyrastri;* Other = *Sphaerophoria scripta, Chrysotoxum bicinctum* and *Platycheirus* species). UV traps: P B29 and P 142S; non-UV traps: Glocote and P 655.

Kruskal-Wallis analysis (see Table 3.3 for details of analysis) showed that for all aphidophagous syrphids trapped, whether in single or sets of traps, and for all gravid females and for *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* separately, rankings for the numbers of flies trapped in the two UV reflecting colour treatments were similar and higher than the rankings for the two non UV reflecting fluorescent yellow treatments. In every case the differences between the highest and lowest ranked treatment were very highly significant with P < 0.01 in all cases.

For all gravid females, the Kruskal-Wallis mean rank (Table 3.3) for P124S (UV) was higher than the ranking for P B29 (UV) when traps were presented in sets (P124S: 150.42; P B29: 130.71) (Table 3.3). When traps were presented singly, the rankings were very similar with P B29 (UV) slightly higher (P124S: 105.08; P B29: 108.67). When *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* were analysed separately, for *E. balteatus* the highest ranked treatment was P124S and for *E. corollae* the highest ranked treatment was P B29; in each case this applied whether traps were presented singly or in sets.

Differences between the total numbers of gravid flies trapped in UV and non-UV reflecting traps were very highly significant, with much higher numbers trapped in treatments with a UV component (Mann-Whitney test; U = 102352.0 n = 480, n = 480; P < 0.001, for sets of traps and U = 125097.5; n= 540, n = 540; P < 0.001, for single traps).

		df	X²	Р			
	P B29	P 124S	G 1263	P 655			
	(UV)	(UV)	(non-UV)	(non-UV)			
Sets of traps							
All syrphids	161.11	170.42	76.38	74.08	3	103.257	*0.000
All gravid females	130.71	150.42	96.63	104.23	3	33.941	*0.000
Gravid E. balteatus	121.70	137.86	105.28	117.17	3	15.58	*0.001
Gravid E. corollae	131.78	125.47	113.35	111.40	3	12.25	*0.007
Single traps							
All syrphids	105.08	108.67	80.61	67.64	3	19.285	*0.000
All gravid females	111.11	105.21	80.47	65.21	3	25.046	*0.000
Gravid E. balteatus	104.73	107.39	81.09	68.79	3	20.16	*0.000
Gravid E. corollae	105.96	93.96	84.18	77.91	3	12.01	*0.007

**Table 3.3.** Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on the number of syrphids, gravid syrphids, gravid *E. balteatus* and gravid *E. corollae* caught in the different yellow treatments over the experimental period. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.

#### 3.9. Discussion

Numerous workers have related ultraviolet reflections from flowers to ultraviolet sensitivity in insect vision (e.g. Chittka & Menzel, 1992; Kevan et al., 2001). Although most studies have concentrated on bee sensitivity to ultraviolet reflections (Backhaus, 1993; Giurfa et al, 1996; Spaethe et al., 2001; Lunau, 2005), it appears that hoverflies are also sensitive to ultraviolet reflections. It was demonstrated under laboratory conditions that fluorescent yellow model flowers elicited more visits by E. balteatus than non-fluorescent ones and that ultraviolet reflections enhanced this response. It was also evident that the ultraviolet reflecting traps were more attractive to E. balteatus (and to syrphids generally) than the non-ultraviolet reflecting ones under natural conditions in the field. Whether the treatments were arranged in sets or separated, ultraviolet reflecting traps were chosen more frequently than the nonultraviolet reflecting ones which always ranked last. Although there are a few examples in the literature of ultraviolet eliciting landing behaviour in insects, most studies have concentrated on honeybees (Dafni et al., 1997; Lehrer, 1997) and butterflies (Papilio spp. and Pieris brassicar) (Scherer & Kolb, 1987). However, flowers pollinated primarily by butterflies and bees have nectar guidelines in the human-visible range (Kevan et al., 2001). Simpler flowers with open corollae are less likely to have nectar guides but more likely to have ultraviolet reflections (Kevan, 1983) and hoverflies are known to be frequent visitors. Guldberg and Atsatt (1975) noted that smaller flowers were much less likely to have ultraviolet reflecting patterns than large flowers. As is shown in Chapter Five, gravid females predominated in large traps and traps without patterns.

Kevan *et al.* (2001) suggest that some insects may use ultraviolet wavelengths in feeding, oviposition and mating, but that the relative importance of UV *vis*  $\bar{a}$  *vis* other primary colours is probably no more important than blue, green or red reflections. As yellow water traps were used, the possibility exists that the combination of colour, water and ultraviolet signals enhanced syrphid responses to them. Water can enhance ultraviolet reflections, but model flowers were used in the laboratory under artificial lighting and preference to the ultraviolet reflecting model was shown. However, in the absence of the yellow stimuli, ultraviolet may be no more significant than other wavelengths. The near absence of naturally occurring pure ultraviolet

reflecting flowers (Kevan *et al.,* 2001) may explain why no attempt was made to identify the response of syrphids to pure ultraviolet signals.

An interesting feature was that the highest rank for E. balteatus was always ultraviolet reflecting Plasti-Kote 142S and for E. corollae, UV reflecting Plasti-Kote B29. It is known that not all syrphid species react to colour in the same way (Sabota & Twardowski, 2004). Wratten et al. (1995) observed species-specific differences in colour attraction between two species of syrphid, Melangyna novaezelandiae (Macquart) and Melanostoma fasciatum (Macquart), in New Zealand. Haslett (1989a) suggests different colour preferences between species to be a mechanism for resource partitioning and the avoidance of competition for resources. Kevan et al. (2001) proposes differences in choice behaviour to be the result of different perceptual dimensions. Although there was a very small difference in ultraviolet reflectance between the two paints, it did appear that they might be perceived differently by E. balteatus and by E. corollae. However, this investigation only provided information about the reflectance spectra of the yellow trays in relation to the number of *E. balteatus* landings in the laboratory, and attraction to them in the field. It did not consider the visual system of E. balteatus and E. corollae in relation to ultraviolet perception, which was outside the scope of this work. Further investigations may provide insight into the mechanisms which underlie colour choice in these two species of hoverfly.

Although time did not permit a detailed investigation into responses to more than one colour during this project, it would have been interesting to look at syrphid responses to green targets as well as yellow ones. The reflection of green radiation is known to be extremely important in the detection of leaf size, shape and form in honeybees (Dafni *et al.*, 1997; Lehrer, 1997). Green reflections are also known to stimulate butterflies to oviposit (Kolb & Scherer, 1982). However, in New Zealand, Laubertie *et al.* (2006) caught fewer *M. fasciatum* and *M. novaezelandiae* in traps that were painted green on the outside, than in ones that were completely yellow, presumably because it made them less easy to see. It is known that *E. balteatus* has waveband-specific receptors most sensitive in the green-yellow (490-600nm) part of the spectrum (Stavenga *et al,* 1993; Lunau & Maier, 1995a, b) and it has been postulated that perception of the colour green may be important in eliciting close

range oviposition behaviour (Vernon & Bartel, 1985; Chittka & Menzel, 1992). Sutherland (1998) found an enhanced response from yellow to green in three-week old *E. balteatus*, suggesting that older females were more concerned with the search for potential oviposition sites than foraging (Giurfa *et al.*, 1996).

# 3.10. Conclusions

While there is little evidence in the literature to suggest that ultraviolet is of special significance to hoverflies, from the work described above, it appears that there is good potential for the use of ultraviolet reflecting yellow paint to attract gravid syrphids, including *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae*, to the vicinity of crop fields. Several workers (e.g. Price, 1975; Kevan *et al.*, 2001; Kruess & Dauber, 2004) have demonstrated the potential of ultraviolet reflecting yellow flowers such as dandelion (*Taraxacum offinale*), St. John's Wort (*Hypericum maculatum* (Crantz)) and ragwort (*Senecio jacobea*) in and around gardens and fields to attract hoverflies. Where agricultural practices such as frequent cultivation and herbicide applications have reduced flowering plants, the use of ultraviolet reflecting flowers may enhance the potential benefit of hoverflies for biological control of crop pests. It has already been established (see Chapter 2) that oviposition by aphidophagous syrphids increased in the presence of artificial yellow flowers. A fluorescent yellow which reflects ultraviolet therefore seems to be the optimum colour for the model flowers.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

# THE RESPONSES OF APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS TO AN APHID-DERIVED PHEROMONE AND A PLANT-DERIVED VOLATILE IN THE FIELD

This Chapter describes experiments in which an aphid-derived volatile, nepetalactone, and a plant-derived volatile, *cis*-jasmone, were tested to assess their potential as an attractant to gravid syrphids.

#### 4.1. General Introduction

It is now generally agreed that chemical cues play a major role in attracting insects to particular plants for feeding and oviposition (see Rockstein, 1978; Ritter, 1979; Birch & Hayes, 1982; Bell & Carde, 1984). (See Introduction 1.5.4. for the role of honeydew in stimulating oviposition). Selection of the oviposition site by hoverflies may rely on the detection of prey pheromones and plant green leaf volatiles (Sutherland, 1998). Plant volatiles may also be used to locate potential food resources (Harbourne, 1994).

Many plant chemicals are highly volatile and these are the basis for floral odours generally contained in the 'essential oil' fraction of the flower (the part that can be separated by steam distillation or ether extraction) (Harborne, 1994). Within the essential oils, organic sequiterpenes, simple aliphatic alcohols, ketones and esters may all be present (Kaiser, 1993). Usually, one component reinforces the effectiveness of a second and third in producing a characteristic odour (Beck & Reese, 1976). The concentration of a compound is important; small changes in the concentration of a particular volatile can either increase or abolish its attractant or deterrence value (Rhoades & Cates, 1976). However, for a volatile to be active over a distance of several kilometres it must be of a relatively low molecular weight (Harborne, 1994). Many long-distance volatile compounds e.g. linalool are known to direct bees and moths to specific flowers from almost a mile away (Adams, 2007). However, heavier molecules that do not disperse far from the source may be

detected by hoverflies, which may use short-distance olfactory cues to locate potential food resources and oviposition sites (Rashed & Sherratt, 2006).

Of particular importance in the context of this work is the role that pheromones might play in enhancing the oviposition behaviour of aphidophagous hoverflies. The aphid pheromone, nepetalactone, released by females of a number of aphid species in the autumn to attract sexual males shows potential as an odour cue for locating aphids (Wadhams *et al.*, 1999). A mixture of nepetalactone (11) and nepetalactone (12) is liberated from the hind legs of female vetch aphid *Megoura viciae*, the wheat aphid *Schizaphis graminum* (Rondani) and the black bean aphid *Aphis fabae* (Scop) (Dawson *et al.*, 1987). The lactol 12 alone is the sex pheromone of the damson-hop aphid *Phorodon humuli* (Schrank).

There is evidence that nepetalactone attracts aphid parasitoids. Several workers (e.g. Hardie et al, 1994; Lilley et al., 1994; Powell & Glinwood, 1998) found that nepetalactone attracts female Praon have species. а hymenopteran parasitoid of aphids. Powell & Glinwood (1998), for example, found that female Praon species were attracted to field traps baited with aphid sex pheromones, and that numbers of Aphidius species greatly increased in the vicinity of pheromone lures. In a later study, Powell (2004) did not find that nepetalactone lures in the field margins of winter wheat crops increased significantly the total number of aphid parasitoids in their vicinity. However, more parasitoids were found further into the crop. In wind tunnel tests, Praon volucre (Haliday) and Aphidius ervi (Haliday) responded strongly to both plant-extracted and 99% pure synthetic (4aS,7S,7aR)-nepetalactone. However, in the field, there was no significant difference in parasitisation levels by Praon spp. between plants baited with synthetic nepetalactone or with plant-extracted 7S isomers (Glinwood et al., 1999).

Nepetalactone has also been seen to attract the seven-spot ladybird *Coccinella septempunctata* (L.), (Wadhams *et al.*, 1999), and the lacewing *Chrysoperla carnea* (Steph) (DEFRA, 2002).

Nepetalactone is also one of the major components (~ 40%) of the essential oils from *Nepeta cataria* (Labiatae), a member of the mint family commonly known as Catnip, and is notable as a powerful olfactory attractant for the domestic cat *Felis domesticate* (Erxleben) (Dawson *et al.*, 1987). Leppia (2005) suggested *N. cataria* to be a useful source of pollen and nectar to adult parasitoids and many other beneficial insects. Black (1994) demonstrated that small quantities of pure *cis*-trans nepetalactone applied to the base of a beehive attracted large numbers of bees. A number of field trails in Canada, Korea, the USA and the UK have shown that *Nepeta*-derived compounds attract lacewings, although it was mainly males that responded to the compounds (Powell, 2005). However, the effects of aphid or plant derived nepetalactone on hoverfly behaviour are not yet understood.

In electroantennograph (EAG) tests, responses to nepetalactone have been recorded in *Episyrphus balteatus* (Sutherland, 1998; DEFRA, 2003). In particular, strong electrophysiological activity was observed for (4aS, 7S, 7aR)-nepetalactone, (1R, 4aS, 7S, 7aR)-nepetalactol and for the aphid alarm pheromone (*E*)- $\beta$ -farnesene (DEFRA, 2003). However, EAGs cannot necessarily predict the behavioural response of the insect. Components for which there are few receptors can be missed as may synergies between components which are not usually observed at the peripheral level (Wyatt, 1997).

There is some evidence (e.g. Birkett *et al.*, 2000; Bruce *et al.*, 2003; Hajjar, 2003; Powell & Pickett, 2003) to suggest that plants under attack by aphids and other herbivores produce volatile compounds that attract beneficial predatory insects (Hajjar, 2003). One such volatile is jasmonic acid, which can be activated during damage caused by mechanical wounding or by herbivory. Methylation of jasmonic acid enhances the production of certain glucosinolates, which are emitted from the plant and which stimulate foraging by beneficial insects (Bruce *et al.*, 2003). Engelberth *et al.* (2004) found that corn seedlings naturally emitted methyl jasmonate in response to mechanical wounding and to aphid attack. Bruce *et al.* (2003) demonstrated that methyl

jasmonate altered the metabolism of the bean plant *Vicia fabae*, such that plant became less attractive to herbivores and more attractive to beneficial predatory insects. Preston *et al.* (2002) found that release of the volatile had an effect on neighbouring intact plants by regulating defence-related and other genes to withstand herbivore attack (see also Dicke *et al.*, 1990; Karban *et al.*, 1999; Bruce *et al.*, 2003). Although methyl jasmonate has potential for external signalling on intact plants, it can have a deleterious effect on plant development and yields for agricultural crops as a large number of genes are influenced (Pickett *et al.*, 2006). The controlled use of *cis*-jasmone, however, has broad applicability for the expression of commercially relevant trait genes in plants (Hajjar, 2003).

Because of its close structural resemblance to methyl jasmonate, the semiochemical *cis*-jasmone has been investigated both as a plant activator and an aphid repellent (Birkett *et al.*, 2000). The volatile also shows potential as an attractant to predators and parasitoids of aphid pests. When applied in vapour form, *cis*-jasmone has been shown to induce the production of monoterpene (*E*)  $\beta$ -ocimene, which affects plant defence, by stimulating the activity of parasitic insects (Birkett *et al.*, 2000). Bruce *et al.* (2003) noted that artificially applied *cis*-jasmone induced the release of the parasitoid foraging stimulant (*E*)  $\beta$ -ocimene, resulting in more aphid mummies being formed. Birkett *et al.* (2000) and Bruce *et al.* (2003) also found that when applied to winter wheat seedlings, *cis*-jasmone was sufficient to repel the cereal aphid, *Sitobion avenae* and that the effects were long-lived. Plants were also more attractive to the seven spot ladybird and an aphid parasitoid (Birkett *et al.*, 2000).

EAGs coupled to high-resolution gas chromatography have identified *cis*jasmone to be an electrophysiologically active compound (Pickett *et al*, 2006). Although there is no published evidence to suggest that *cis*-jasmone exerts an antennal response in aphidophagous syrphids, EAG responses to other plant volatiles (e.g. linalool, 2-Phenylethanol) have been recorded in *E. balteatus* (Sutherland, 1998). However, Hood-Henderson (1982) did not find EAG tests to be a suitable method for showing the effectiveness of odour components as

cues in aphidophagous syrphids. Byers (1992) suggested a simple experiment to be the best method for measuring the responses of an insect to a stimulus.

It was decided to test both an aphid pheromone and a plant volatile for their potential as attractants to gravid syrphids. The decision to use nepetalactone and *cis*-jasmone was influenced primarily by the fact that from the literature, both appear to show promise in increasing activity in several species of beneficial predatory insects, but there was no published evidence of their effect on syrphids. Apart from this, nepetalactone was available as a slow release lure, while (E)- $\beta$ -farnesene was much more unstable and not available in this form at the time (but see Pickett *et al.*, 2006). *Cis*-jasmone is an inexpensive, non-toxic natural plant product, with a history of safe use in the perfume industry (Hajjar, 2003) unlike linalool for example, which can heighten sensory nerve activity in insects, thus leading to convulsion and paralysis (Tvedten, 2003).

The aim of this work was to carry out field experiments to find out whether either or both of these compounds had an enhancing effect on syrphid oviposition.

#### 4.2. Nepetalactone experiments

In 2004, a laboratory experiment (similar to an experiment performed by Vet *et al.,* 1983) assessed the landing responses of *E. balteatus* to yellow discs with and without Nepeta lures. This was followed by field trials using slow release nepetalactone lures.

#### 4.3. Method and materials

# 4.3.1. Preparation of lures

Nepeta lures were obtained from AgriSense-BCS Ltd (product code: BDS030, Treforest Industrial Estate, Pontypridd). Lures were composed of extruded polymer (plasticised PVC) containing *Nepeta cataria* extract (Type 2) produced by English Hop Products Ltd. and the nepetalactol reduction product from IACR-Rothamstead. The formulation was prepared with a 5% loading of the appropriate aphid sex pheromone component. Lures were weighed before and after each bioassay and release rates calculated on the last day of entrainment.

For the handling of the Nepeta lures, standard operating procedures relevant to the handling of any volatile were used. Although inhalation was unlikely, a volatile mask was worn. Disposable gloves were also worn since neat Nepeta oil can cause dermatitis. Lures were double-wrapped in foil and sealed in their packet and kept at 5°C until ready for use. Nepetalactone has a shelf life of approximately six weeks (Powell, 2004).

#### 4.3.2. Model flowers

Four model flowers were constructed using white card discs (diameters 23mm). Card discs had been previously painted with ultraviolet reflecting Plasti-Kote 142S yellow fluorescent paint and left to dry in a well-ventilated room for 28 days to eliminate any possible odour emanation. In previous experiments (see Chapter 3), this paint was more attractive to aphidophagous syrphids than any other colour tested. Two of the discs were each treated with one 2 cm (length) Nepeta lure inserted vertically through a previously drilled 2.5 mm hole positioned 2.5mm off-centre. The centre of each disc was then secured horizontally with Blu-tack to one end of a thin glass tube (L 8cm). The model flower was held upright by placing the other end of the glass stem into a 3 mm (diameter) hole in the centre of a plastic vial lid (diameter 1 cm) weighted with Blu-tack.

#### 4.3.3. Experimental arena

The experimental arena (see Fig. 4.1) was a square-based pyramidal-shaped wind tunnel designed by Poppy (1997). Air flow was maintained by an extractor fan, through which exhaust air was vented out of the top of the cage. Plastic mesh squares (1.5 x 1.5 cm) on the floor of the cage allowed for maximum plume distinction, which was tested using incense sticks. The tunnel was cleaned with ethanol and left in a well-ventilated room for two months to eliminate any possible odour emanation before starting the experiment. A clean muslin cloth was placed on the floor of the cage to prevent the insects escaping through the mesh squares. Temperature was maintained at  $20^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$  (photoperiod 08.30am – 5.30pm). Ceiling mounted fluorescent bulbs provided ambient lighting (5000lux/).



**Figure 4.1.** Simplified diagram of the wind tunnel used in the laboratory experiment (not to scale).

Model flowers (2 with Nepeta lures and 2 controls) were placed as far as possible apart in the cage, at random, but with equal spacing (11.5 cm) between model flowers. The positions of the flowers were changed every half-

hour to eliminate positional preference (gloves were worn during the procedure to reduce the risk of contamination).

Twelve male and twelve female two-week-old second-generation *E. balteatus* (from laboratory stock) were introduced into the cage. Pre-experimental flies had *ad libitum* access to tap water, sieved pollen and a 10% solution of honey. Male and female landings on the flowers were counted over a two-hour period. Observations were made on four separate occasions, and at different times of the day, from 17 May to 1 June 2004.

The extreme sensitivities of insects to volatiles dictated the need for extreme cleanliness in the laboratory to avoid contamination. All glassware was soaked in Decon<sup>R</sup> 90, rinsed in distilled water and chlorinated Hexane. Glassware was then removed with clean forceps and placed on tin foil in a drying oven between experiments. The experimental cage was thoroughly cleaned with ethanol and rinsed with distilled water to remove any contaminants before each bioassay. Muslin, flower discs and Blu-tack were discarded at the end of each bioassay and replaced with new ones.

#### Analysis

Chi-squared tests were used to compare the numbers of landings by *E*. *balteatus* on the model flowers with Nepeta lures and the controls, and the numbers of landings by male and female *E. balteatus*.

#### 4.4. Results

Table 4.1 shows the number of landings on the model flowers with and without Nepeta lures by male and female *E. balteatus* over the experimental period. No significant differences were observed in the total numbers of landings on the model flowers with Nepeta lures and the controls ( $X^2 = 1.318$ ; df = 3; *P* > 0.05). Although more landings were made by females (46) than

males (16), there was no association between sex and flower treatment ( $X^2 = 1.032$ ; df = 1; P > 0.05).

Date	te Model flowers with lures	
	J1 Q	31 2
17/05/04	2 /10	3/7
20/05/04	1 / 7	2/7
26/05/04	0 / 0	3 / 5
01/06/04	3 / 4	2/6
Totals	6 / 21	10 / 25

**Table 4.1.** Number of landings by male and female *E. balteatus* on the model flowers.

The mean release rate of the formulated Nepeta lures was estimated to be 0.24mg/day at  $20^{\circ}$ C ±  $1^{\circ}$ C.

#### 4.5. Discussion

Although there were no significant differences in the numbers of landings by *E. balteatus* on the model flowers with Nepeta lures and the controls, it was felt that different concentrations of the pheromone might have had an effect on the landing response of the flies. Unfortunately, time limitations prevented further investigation.

As discussed above (see Introduction), olfactory cues are thought to play an important role in attracting insects to plants for both feeding and oviposition. Although this preliminary experiment was useful in allowing the investigator to record the landing responses of *E. balteatus* to nepetalactone, it did not allow the insects to use the pheromone at a distance from the source. It was

therefore decided to carry out a more extensive field-based study comparing the oviposition responses of aphidophagous syrphids to model flowers with and without Nepeta lures.

# 4.6. Preliminary field experiment

# 4.6. 1.Introduction

The aim of this experiment was to compare the response of gravid syrphids to different concentrations of nepetalactone in order to assess the number of Nepeta lures to be used in the main experiment.

# 4.7. Methods and materials

#### 4.7.1. Experimental site

The preliminary experiment was conducted in the field margins of a 14-ha spring barley field located at Hossiers Farm, Upper Woodford, Salisbury in Wiltshire UK. There was some flowering vegetation in the field margins, the most common species being bindweed (*Convolvulus arvensis* (L.)), red clover (*Trifolium pratense* (L.)) and white clover (*T. repens* (L.)). The surrounding area was very poor in floral resources, mainly due to the cutting of hedgerows and verges, which left few flowers. The spring barley crop was harvested on 12 August 2004.

#### 4.7.2. Nepeta lures

The Nepeta lures were secured with fuse wire 50 cm above the ground on bamboo canes (after Powell, 1994), so that the pheromone was released at crop height. Canes (total 16) had one, two, three or four lures attached. A further four canes were used as controls (no lures). Each cane was inserted into the ground directly behind a flowerpot tray (total 20) (diameter 19 cm),

which had previously been treated with Plasti-Kote 142S yellow fluorescent paint (see Chapter 2, Methods section for preparation details). A bait plant infested with the pea aphid *Acyrthosiphon pisum* (see Chapter 2, Methods section for details) was placed beside each tray. The treatments were separated at intervals of 25 metres (after Lösel *et al.*, 1999) in the field margins and were within one metre of the crop edge. Bait plants were retrieved 48 hours later and the numbers of syrphid eggs were counted.

The experiment was repeated eight times from 27 May to 9 July 2004, and the positions of the canes were re-randomised each time.

#### Analysis

A Kruskal-Wallis test was used to test for differences between the numbers of syrphid eggs laid on bait plants beside one, two three or four Nepeta lures and the controls. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS11.

#### 4.8. Results

In total, 33 syrphid eggs were found on the bait plants with Nepeta lures and the controls (Table 4.2), the majority being *E. balteatus* and *Eupeodes corollae*. Significantly more eggs were laid at control positions than by stakes with four lures (Kruskal-Wallis test,  $X^2 = 16.48$ ; df = 4; *P* < 0.01). The numbers of eggs laid beside one, two or three Nepeta lures were very similar (Table 4.2).

Date of	No lure	1 lure	2 lures	3 lures	4 lures
collection					
29/05/04	1	1	1	0	0
05/06/04	2	1	0	0	0
10/06/04	2	0	2	1	0
17/06/04	2	0	0	0	0
23/06/04	2	2	0	1	1
29/06/04	3	2	1	2	0
05/07/04	2	0	0	1	0
09/07/04	1	0	1	1	0
Totals	15	6	5	6	1

**Table 4.2.** Number of eggs found on bait plants beside yellow trays with one or moreNepeta lures and the controls in 2004.

# 4.9. Discussion

Overall few eggs were found on the bait plants, even by the control targets there were less than 0.05 eggs per plant. There was a reduced oviposition response to four lures compared to that for one, two or three lures, which were very similar. Concentration of the pheromone at this level (four lures) possibly acted as a deterrent to gravid females. Although Pickett & Birkett (2004) found that water traps baited with combinations of nepetalactone led to a significant increase of *Aphidius ervi* parasitoids and *Proan* species, it appeared that high concentrations might have the opposite effect in hoverflies. Due to the very low number of syrphids eggs present at the time of the trial, it was decided to repeat the experiment on a much larger scale. It was also decided not to use a combination of four lures.

# 4.10. Main field experiment

# 4.10.1. Introduction

Although there was no evidence from the previous experiment that there was higher oviposition near nepetalactone lures than near controls, different conditions may lead to different results. For example, the oviposition response might vary at different distances from the lures. Powell (2004) showed that more parasitoids were found within the crop than at positions with nepetalactone lures. It was therefore decided to carry out a large scale field experiment.

The aims of this experiment were to discover whether nepetalactone in different concentrations had an effect on syrphid oviposition, either in the vicinity of the pheromone or at a distance, and whether there might be any synergistic effect when yellow painted targets (already shown to lead to enhanced oviposition in their vicinity) and nepetalactone were used together.

#### 4.11. Methods and materials

#### 4.11.1. Experimental site

The experimental site consisted of three winter wheat fields located at Uggford farm, Wilton, in Wiltshire, UK (see Chapter 2, Methods section for site details). No insecticide was used on the experimental fields during either season. The crop was harvested on 18 August 2004.

#### 4.11.2. Yellow targets and Nepeta lures

Targets consisted of 12 brown flowerpot trays (diameters 19 cm) painted with Plasti-Kote 142S fluorescent yellow paint and 12 unpainted flowerpot trays (See Chapter 2, Methods section for details of tray preparation). Four holes (diameters 4 mm) were drilled in the base of each tray for drainage of rainwater. Each tray was secured to one end of a wooden stake (125 cm, diameter 5 cm) using 'Cerafix' Decorators Caulk (Henkel Consumer

Adhesives, Winsford, Cheshire, UK). The other end of each stake had been previously cut to a 10 cm point to allow it to be inserted easily into the soil (see Fig. 4.2). Traps bonded well to the top of each stake, but were also easy to remove. Treatments could then be re-randomised at the start of each experimental run.



**Figure 4.2.** The Nepeta and target set-up used in winter wheat fields in 2004 (not to scale).

In each winter wheat field, there were eight targets (4 yellow, 4 brown) randomly positioned at 25 metre intervals, within one metre of the crop edge, in each of the three winter wheat fields. A bamboo cane, with or without Nepeta lure(s) attached at a height of 50 cm, was inserted into the ground (9.5cm from the stake) beside each target (see Fig. 4.2), and canes were also placed in a straight line at right angles to the crop edge at distances of 5 and 10 m into the crop from each target. One yellow and one brown target had no

lures at any distance, one of each colour had lures at 0 m, one of each colour had lures at 5 m and one of each colour had lures at 10 m. One set of treatments was used in each of the three fields and within the field treatments were allocated at random. Figure 4.3 shows the random arrangement of the targets and the lures on one date in one winter wheat field.

Two standardised bait plants (See Chapter 2, Methods section for full details) were placed on the ground beside each cane 10 cm from the cane and approximately 2 cm apart. Bait plants were retrieved 48 hours later and the number of syrphid eggs counted. After each set of bait plants were collected, the treatments were re-randomised and new bait plants were set out.





**Figure 4.3.** The random arrangement of the targets and lures in one winter wheat (Field 1) between 10 & 12 August 2004. Note that that control targets had no lures at 0, 5 or 10 metres. Treatments were re-randomised after each collection of eggs.

Between 12 and 30 July, three lures were used on all targets and canes with lures, two lures were used between 1 and 8 August and one lure was used between 12 and 16 August 2004. As it was felt that a combination of four lures might have a deterrent effect on hoverfly oviposition, it was decided to use one, two or three lures (see previous experiment).

#### Analysis

Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to compare numbers of eggs laid at different distances from one, two or three Nepeta lures, for yellow and brown targets separately. Mann-Whitney *U*-tests were carried out to test for differences between the numbers of eggs (combined total of eggs laid at 0, 5, and 10 m) laid near yellow compared to brown targets with one, two or three lures. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11.

# 4.12. Results

In total, 233 syrphid eggs were found on bait plants. Of these, 156 were associated with yellow targets and 77 were associated with brown targets. Figures 4.4a,b,c show the mean numbers of eggs found on bait plants at 0, 5, 10 and 25 m from Nepeta lures. There were significant differences between the numbers of eggs found at 0 m and at 25 m distances from lures associated with yellow (Kruskal-Wallis tests: P < 0.01 in all cases) and brown (Kruskal-Wallis tests: P < 0.01 in all cases) and brown (Kruskal-Wallis tests: P < 0.05 in all cases) model flowers, with significantly more eggs being found at 25 m in all cases. The results of the Kruskal-Wallis tests are shown in Table 4.3.

For treatments including Nepeta lures, there were no significant differences between brown and yellow treatments for the total numbers of eggs laid at the three positions when three lures (Mann-Whitney *U*- test: U = 5675.00; P > 0.05) or two lures (Mann-Whitney *U*- test: U = 1401.5; P > 0.05) were used. However, when one lure was used there were significantly more eggs found by yellow than by brown model flowers (Mann-Whitney *U*- test: U = 1112.00; P < 0.05).

Treatment		Mean	rank		df	X <sup>2</sup>	Р
		Distance from	n field margin				
	0 metres	5 metres	10 metres	25 metres			
Yellow targets							
1 Nepeta lure	22.50	38.79	36.58	47.30	3	14.866	*0.002
2 Nepeta lures	24.67	31.83	40.21	52.08	3	21.862	*0.000
3 Nepeta lures	60.56	57.63	80.65	98.85	3	31.474	*0.000
Brown targets							
1 Nepeta lure	29.33	41.38	28.50	42.50	3	10.372	*0.016
2 Nepeta lures	25.06	38.67	41.33	41.83	3	10.156	*0.017
3 Nepeta lures	58.04	72.11	79.52	82.79	3	9.836	*0.020

**Table 4.3.** Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on numbers of eggs found at 0m and at 25m distances from yellow and brown targets with one or more lures. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.







**Figures 4.4a, b & c.** Mean number of syrphid eggs found near yellow and brown targets with Nepeta lures in 2004 (bars represent standard errors).

#### 4.13. Discussion

More syrphid eggs were laid on bait plants near the controls, than on bait plants near Nepeta lures, whether these were beside targets or in the field at any position. From the results, the Nepeta lures appeared to act as an oviposition deterrent, not an enhancer as hoped. If the flies were attracted from a distance towards the yellow targets, they were presumably deterred from ovipositing on the bait plants when they got there, with the result that the effect of using yellow targets (see Chapter 2 Results section) was nullified. The results also suggested that the deterrent effect increased as more lures were used.

Despite the evidence (e.g. Birkett *et al.*, 2000; Powell & Glinwood, 2003; Wadhams *et al.*, 2004) demonstrating the role of nepetalactone in enhancing parasitoid activity, it would not necessarily be expected that the pheromone would have an equivalent effect in enhancing syrphid oviposition and therefore, their effectiveness as biocontrol agents.

Nepetalactone is known to mediate mating/host plant behaviour in some species of aphid (see Introduction 4.1) in the autumn (Park *et al.*, 2000). Nepetalactone is released when aphids are leaving the crop for an alternative host. Usually winged virginoparous aphids move from the summer host to the primary winter host plant, where mating occurs (Emden *et al.*, 1969). The move appears to be assisted by the sex pheromone released by sexual females, already present on that host, acting as an aggregation pheromone. Even though Sutherland (1998) found that *E. balteatus* responded well to nepetalactone in EAG tests, from the results, nepetalactone did not appear to be an optimal pheromone.

The lifecycles of parasitoids and syrphids are very different. While parasitoids need just one host for the development of the larva, the success of a syrphid larva depends on the consumption of large numbers of aphids (see Chapter One, Section 1.4). *E. balteatus* for example has been shown to operate a 'buy futures' tactic of avoiding large aphid colonies and preferentially ovipositing by small colonies containing young nymphs (Kan, 1988a), thus making it more

likely that there will still be aphids available when the larvae emerge. As the production of nepetalactone may signal the imminent departure of aphids from the crop, and therefore a reduction in food supply for syrphid larvae, it is perhaps not surprising that it appears to act as a deterrent, rather than an enhancer of syrphid oviposition.

What is known, however, is that the structure of nepetalactone closely resembles the terpenoids irododial and dolichodial, used in defence against predation and parasitism by some insects (e.g. the devil's coach horse beetle, *Staphylinus olens*) (Harbourne, 1994). Therefore, the *raison d'être* of nepetalactone could well be its ability to repel some insects from attack. This argument was tested by Eisner *et al.* (1973) who demonstrated that 17 out of 24 insect species were repelled by a pure solution of nepetalactone. Nepetalactone has been shown to be an active repellent for cockroaches (Eisner, 1964) and recent tests (Geier, 2004) on yellow fever mosquitoes showed it to be a more effective repellent than DEET (N, N diethyl-*m*-toluamide). Sutherland (1998) also caught fewer syrphids in nepetalactone baited sticky traps than the controls. The results of this work clearly demonstrated that nepetalactone did not increase the numbers of syrphid eggs laid on the bait plants at any distance.

Even though hoverflies appeared to be repelled by the nepetalactone lures, it is possible that different ratios of the pheromone or extra components (e.g. nepetalactol) would attract them. Most insect pheromones appear to be composed of more than one synergistic component acting together (Wyatt, 1997). Further experiments could seek to determine whether there is a behavioural response to different synergistic compounds.

However, if it is determined that nepetalactone has the role of an oviposition repellent in aphidophagous syrphids, then any decision on whether to use the pheromone to enhance biocontrol of aphids by aphid predators would have to consider both its potential as parasitoid attractant, and the fact that it might diminish syrphid activity in the crop.

# 4.14. Cis-jasmone experiments

# 4.14.1. Introduction

*Cis*-jasmone is known to have roles in inducing plant defence and as an insect semiochemical, and the potential to exploit beneficial organisms such as predators and parasitoids of pests (e.g. Powell *et al.*, 1991; Poppy *et al.*, 1997; Pickett *et al.*, 2000; Bruce *et al.*, 2003; Engleberth *et al.*, 2004; Pickett *et al.*, 2006). The aim of the following experiments was to ascertain whether *cis*-jasmone acted as an attractant to gravid syrphids and if so, whether there might be a synergistic effect when a yellow colour stimulus was combined with the volatile.

# 4.15. Methods and materials 2004

The experiments took place in the field margins of three winter wheat fields (between 14 and 16ha) located at Uggford Farm, Wilton (see Chapter 2 Methods section for site details). No insecticide was used on the crop or on any of the surrounding fields at any time during the experimental period.

Four yellow and four brown targets were randomly positioned at 50 metre intervals, within one metre of the crop edge, in each of the three winter wheat fields. *Cis*-jasmone is a highly volatile chemical (Bruce *et al.*, 2003), so the targets were set as far as possible apart in each field. Targets consisted of yellow or brown (unpainted) flowerpot trays (diameters 19 cm) glued to wooden stakes (125 cm, diameter 5 cm) using 'Cerafix' Decorators Caulk (see Methods 4.11.2 for full details of the target preparation). At each position a cane was set into the ground at a distance of 9.5 cm from the stake supporting the flowerpot tray and a standard brown Chromocol vial was secured to it 10 cm above ground level. For work in olfaction, Byers (1988) suggested the use of open tubes to be particularly appropriate for field work. It

was thought that the colour brown would offer little or no colour signal to hoverflies because its spectral reflection is virtually constant against the entire spectral absorbance range of insect photopigments (Kevan, 1983). Four vials (two randomly placed on yellow targets and two on brown) contained 1 ml of *cis*-jasmone (*Cis* 90%, Trans 10%, supplied by Aldrich Chemicals (batch no. 134-13)) which was transferred to the vial using a plastic syringe. The other four vials were left empty as controls. A plastic lid, through which a 1 mm hole had been drilled, prevented rainwater from entering the vials (confirmed by preliminary tests) but allowed the volatile to escape. Release rates of *cis*-jasmone under standard conditions were estimated to be 0.94 g/mL at 25 °C (lit.) per day (Aldrich, UK, 2007).

Two standardised bait plants (See Chapter 2, Methods section 2.3.1 for full details) were placed on the ground between the target and the cane. Bait plants were retrieved 48 hours later and the number of syrphid eggs counted, and as far as possible, identified to species. The experiment was run five times from 6 to 16 August 2004. The treatments were re-randomised at the start of each experimental run and new bait plants were used.

# 4.16. Introduction 2005

As the results from 2004 were not conclusive, it was decided to carry out a further experiment in 2005. Time and labour considerations meant that it was not possible to prepare bait plants and test oviposition directly. Therefore attraction was measured by comparing the number of gravid female syrphids caught in yellow water traps in the vicinity of and distant from *cis*-jasmone sources.

# 4.17. Methods and Materials

See start of 2004 experiment methods for site details.

Twenty flowerpot trays (diameters 19cm) were painted with Plasti-Kote 142S fluorescent yellow paint (see Chapter 2, Methods section for full details of trap preparation), filled with water and a 1% solution of ordinary household detergent, and placed on the ground in the field margin within one metre of the crop edge in one winter wheat field (16-ha). Because *cis*-jasmone is known to be active over long distances (Bruce *et al.*, 2003), the traps were separated at intervals of 100 metres. This had not been possible in 2004 because of the lack of available space. Experimental and control vials (as in 2004) were secured at random to canes 10cm above the ground. Trays were left for 24h and then emptied. Trapped syrphids were counted and then transferred to 70% alcohol in labelled plastic tubes for later identification. The experiment was run four times from 15 to 25 July 2005. Before each run, the yellow trays were cleaned and reset and the positions of the experimental and control vials re-randomised. Weather conditions were also recorded.

As rainwater had collected in the lids of the vials on the last two collection dates, it was not possible to calculate the release rate of the volatile.

#### Analysis

# 2004

Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to test for differences in the numbers of syrphid eggs from bait plants beside yellow and unpainted targets with and without *cis*-jasmone. Mann-Whitney *U*-tests compared numbers of eggs laid near yellow targets with and without the volatile.

# 2005

Mann-Whitney *U*-tests were used to compare numbers of gravid females caught in water traps with and without *cis*-jasmone overall. Because the weather was dry until the 21 July and wet between 22 and 25 July (Met. Office, 2005), and it was believed that the weather could have affected dispersal of the volatile (see discussion), the results were also analysed separately for these two periods.

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11.

# 4.18. Results

#### 2004

A total of 38 eggs were laid on the bait plants underneath the targets. These were visually assessed to be *E. corollae* (24) and *E. balteatus* (14). For model flowers with *cis*-jasmone, 20 eggs were laid near yellow and 5 eggs near brown targets. For treatments without *cis*-jasmone, 10 eggs were laid near yellow and 3 eggs near brown targets (see Table 4.4). There were highly significant differences in the number of eggs laid by the different treatments with more being found by yellow targets with *cis*-jasmone than by brown targets with no *cis*-jasmone (Kruskal-Wallis test:  $X^2 = 11.82$ ; df = 3; P < 0.01). The ranks for the brown targets were very similar. The results of the Kruskal-Wallis test are shown in Table 4.5.

# Number of eggs

# Yellow model flowers

# Brown model flowers

Date of	Cis-j	asmone	Co	ontrol	Cis-j	asmone	Co	ontrol
collection								
	E.corollae	E.balteatus	E.corollae	E.balteatus	E.corollae	E.balteatus	E.corollae	E.balteatus
08/08/04	5	2	2	1	3	0	1	0
10/08/04	0	1	3	0	0	1	0	0
12/08/04	1	2	2	1	0	0	0	0
14/08/04	1	3	0	1	0	1	1	0
16/08/04	4	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
Totals	11	9	7	3	3	2	3	0

**Table 4.4.** The total number of *E. corollae* and *E. balteatus* eggs found on bait plants near yellow and brown model targets with and without *cis*-jasmone in 2004.

Treatment	Меа	n rank
Yellow targets		
<i>Cis</i> -jasmone		29.50
No <i>cis</i> -jasmone		22.50
Brown targets		
<i>Cis</i> -jasmone		15.80
No <i>cis</i> -jasmone		14.65
df = 3; X <sup>2</sup> = 11.820;	<i>P</i> = 0.008	

**Table 4.5.** Kruskal-Wallis test ranking for yellow and brown targets with or without *cis*-jasmone.

Differences between the number of eggs were not significant when the yellow treatments were considered separately, although there was a trend for more eggs to be laid by yellow targets with *cis*-jasmone than targets without the volatile (Mann-Whitney *U*-test: U = 30.5; P = 0.143).

# 2005

#### Numbers of syrphids

A total of 1914 syrphids were caught in the yellow water traps, the main species being *E. balteatus* (62%), *M. scalare* (16%) and *E. corollae* (15%). Table 4.6 shows the numbers of adult syrphids and gravid females caught in traps by *cis*-jasmone and at control positions on each collection date.

Date	Cis-jasmone	Controls	Totals
15-16July	370 (61)	249 (54)	619 (115)
20-21 July	327 (10)	205 (1)	532 (11)
22-23 July	134 (5)	205 (2)	339 (7)
24-25 July	215 (10)	209 (8)	424 (18)
Totals	1046 (86)	868 (65)	1914 (151)

**Table 4.6.** Total number of aphidophagous syrphids and of gravid females (numbers in brackets) caught in traps by *cis*-jasmone and by control vials between 15 and 25 July 2005.

A total of 151 gravid females were caught in the traps, the most abundant species being *E. balteatus* (42%) and *E. corollae* (36%) with *M. scalare, Syrphus ribesii,* S. *vitripennis,* Sc. pyrastri and Chrysotoxum bicinctum making up the rest. Most gravid females were collected on 16 July (see Table 4.6). Figure 4.5 shows the numbers and species of gravid female caught in traps by cis-jasmone and traps by control vials over the experimental period.

There were no significant differences between the numbers of gravid females caught in traps by *cis*-jasmone and the numbers caught in control traps for all gravids or for *E. balteatus* or *E. corollae* for any of the time periods, although the mean ranks for catches by *cis*-jasmone were higher than for controls in all cases (Mann-Whitney *U*-test: P > 0.05 in all cases). See Table 4.7 for full details of the analyses.



**Figure 4.5.** Total numbers of gravid females of each species caught in traps by *cis*jasmone and by control vials between 15 and 25 July 2005 (Eb = *E. balteatus;* Ec = *E. corollae*; Msc = *M. scalare*; Syr = *S. ribesii* & *S. vitripennis*: Sp = *S. pyrastri*; Cb = *Chrysotoxum bicinctum*).
Gravid females	Mean rank		Mann-Whitney U	P	
	Cis-jasmone	Control			
15-25 July					
All gravids	42.90	38.10	704.0	0.322	
E. balteatus	41.55	39.45	758.0	0.641	
E. Corollae	41.80	39.20	795.0	0.530	
15-21 July					
All gravids	21.78	19.22	174.5	0.480	
E. balteatus	21.22	19.78	185.0	0.678	
E. Corollae	21.52	19.48	179.5	0.542	
22-25 July					
All gravids	21.58	19.42	178.5	0.493	
E. balteatus	20.65	20.35	197.0	0.907	
E. Corollae	20.92	20.08	191.5	0.689	

**Table 4.7**. Results of Mann-Whitney U-tests on the total number of gravid syrphids, gravid E. balteatus and gravid E. corollae caught in traps by

 cis-jasmone and in control traps in 2005.

### 4.19. Discussion

In 2004, there was an enhanced oviposition response by *E. corollae* and *E. balteatus* to bait plants near yellow targets with *cis*-jasmone compared to brown targets without the volatile. There was also a trend for more eggs to be laid on plants near yellow targets with *cis*-jasmone, than by yellow targets alone, although the difference was not significant. Neither was any significant effect of *cis*-jasmone on yellow water trap catches of gravid syrphids as a whole, or on either *E. balteatus* or *E. corollae* individually, seen in the follow up experiment in 2005. From these results it seems unlikely that the addition of *cis*-jasmone to model flowers is likely to provide a synergistic effect in terms of enhanced oviposition.

It has been demonstrated that parasitoid populations increase in winter wheat crops sprayed with *cis*-jasmone (e.g. Birkett *et al.*, 2000; Bruce *et al.*, 2003; Powell & Pickett, 2003) as with nepetalactone the fact that *cis*-jasmone applications enhance parasitoid activity does not necessarily have any implications for its effects on syrphids as their life cycles and needs in terms of numbers of prey are so different.

However, a number of different factors other than *cis*-jasmone not being attractive to gravid syrphids might have contributed to the negative results in 2005. One factor that could have played a role was the weather. During the first two collecting periods it was mainly dry, but during the second two it rained (Table 4.7). When emptying the water traps, it was noticed that rainwater had collected in the dips in the lids of the vials being used, which probably prevented the volatile from dispersing. However the results of the analysis were very similar when these two time periods were analysed separately. If, in fact, *cis*-jasmone does not attract gravid female syrphids then this result is what would be expected. It is clear that in any future experiments with volatiles, it would be important to choose a dispensing method that allowed for wet conditions. If vials were used to dispense the chemical it would be important to shield the dispensing aperture from rain. Other possible techniques might include delivering cis-jasmone in emulsifiable an

concentrate (see Bruce *et al.*, 2003) or in vapour form (see Birkett *et al.*, 2000).

After each collection, the treatments were re-randomised and it is possible that odour cues left behind at the site of previous *cis*-jasmone treatments could have affected the results. There are reports in the literature (e.g. Pickett *et al.* 1992; Birkett *et al.*, 2000; Bruce *et al.*, 2003) that plants within the vicinity of *cis*-jasmone act as a sink for the volatile. Couch grass grown adjacent to barley plants treated with *cis*-jasmone has been shown to increase foraging by predators and parasitic wasps for up to 8 days after application (Pickett *et al.*, 1992; Bruce *et al.*, 2003). Birkett *et al.* (2001) found that bean and wheat plants treated with *cis*-jasmone had elevated volatile profiles and that the effects lasted for up to 196 hours after treatment.

Little work has been carried out on the use of volatiles to attract syrphids, but there is evidence that some plant derived volatile compounds do have this effect. For example, Laubertie *et al.* (2006) found that the addition of rose water to yellow water traps significantly increased the number of hoverflies they caught. Sutherland (1998) observed that *E. balteatus* individuals hovered close to linalool baited traps, but were not necessarily caught in the traps themselves. The effectiveness of *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* in particular in the bological control of aphids (e.g. Dean 1982; Arıkersmit, 1986; Chambers & Adams, 1986; Tenhumberg & Poehling, 1995) means that the identification of a compound or compounds that could be used to increase the numbers of gravid females in the vicinity of crops where aphids are a problem could be of great value to farmers and growers.

# 4.20. Conclusions

Of the two of the volatiles tested, nepetalactone had a clear deterrent effect on syrphid oviposition. It would certainly not be recommended as a compound suitable for use in conjunction with model flowers designed to attract gravid syrphids to crops. The evidence as to whether *cis*-jasmone acted as an attractant to gravid syrphids or not was less clear. A possible trend towards this was seen in 2004, but this was not supported by the results from 2005. However problems with dispersal of the volatile and possible contamination with *cis*-jasmone of positions that were subsequently used as controls may have affected the results. There is evidence that some flower derived volatiles are attractive to hoverflies (e.g. Laubertie *et al.* 2006). With a better experimental design, it would be worth continuing research into *cis*-jasmone as a possible attractant for gravid syrphids.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

# THE RESPONSES OF APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS TO TRAPS OF DIFFERENT HEIGHT, SIZE AND PATTERN IN THE FIELD

### 5.1. General Introduction

Kevan and Baker (1983) found flower choice in syrphids to be dependent on a variety of different factors including height, corolla size and morphology, colouration, scent, nectar and pollen resources and suitability as a landing site. In the time available for this project it was not possible to test all of these factors as attributes of model flowers, but three of the factors thought to be important, height, inflorescence size and pattern, were investigated in the work described in this chapter.

There is evidence that different hoverfly species have preferred heights for the vegetation they visit (e.g. Kevan and Baker, 1983; Lövei *et al.*, 1992). Size of inflorescence also appears to have an effect on the number of syrphid visits to flowers. Some workers (e.g. Kevan and Baker, 1983; Conner, 1997; Branquart & Hemptinne, 2000), have established that larger flowers attract more syrphids than do smaller ones, although others (e.g. Sutherland *et al.*, 1999; Golding *et al.*, 1999) have found the opposite. Flower pattern has been extensively researched for its effect on bee visiting (e.g. Butler, 1951; Manning, 1956; Free, 1970; Johnson & Dafni, 1998). There is less information about the effects of pattern on syrphid visits to flowers. However, evidence from other insects, suggests that it could be an influencing factor.

It seems likely that factors which affect the visiting frequency of hoverflies to natural flowers will also affect visits to model flowers. The effect of these three characteristics, height, size and pattern, on the attractiveness of model flowers to gravid syrphids, were therefore investigated in the work reported in this chapter, with a view to ultimately incorporating the optimum features into one model and testing it in the field (see Chapter Six). The large scale of the experiments and the fact that sets of different

treatments would be offered, meant that assessing preference by comparing levels oviposition directly would have been impracticable. Instead, the yellow targets were used as water traps and attractiveness was assessed by comparing the numbers of gravid syrphids caught in different treatments.

# 5.2. General Methods and Materials

# 5.2.1. Experimental Site

All experiments, except the preliminary laboratory pattern work, were carried out in 2005 at Uggford Farm at Wilton, in Wiltshire, UK. The sites consisted of three winter wheat fields (between 14 & 18-h) (harvested 16 August). See Chapter 2, Methods section for site details.

At each site, flowering vegetation present within 20 metres of the flower traps was cleared on a regular basis to ensure that naturally occurring flowers did not act as a counter-attractant to the traps. No insecticide was used on the winter wheat crops during the experimental period.

# 5.2.2. Model Flower Traps

The model flower traps used in all experiments consisted of flowerpot trays (19 cm diameter unless otherwise stated) painted with fluorescent yellow ultraviolet reflecting paint (Plasti-Kote 142S) (see Chapter 2, Methods section for details of preparation). This paint was chosen because in previous work (see Chapter 3), it was found to be more attractive than non-UV reflecting Glocote 1263 (see Chapter 2). UV-reflecting Plasti-Kote B29 was also found to be equally attractive to aphidophagous syrphids, but was not available in the quantities required for large-scale field work. In order to trap visiting syrphids so that they could be identified and counted, the trays were filled with tap water and a 1% solution of ordinary household detergent.

Traps were emptied at 2-3 day intervals, cleaned with a paintbrush and reset at the beginning of each experimental run. All aphidophagous hoverflies were transferred to 70% alcohol in labelled plastic tubes, counted and identified to species and sex. Female syrphids were dissected to assess egg content. It was necessary to identify gravid females in this way as in many cases it was not possible to tell for certain whether a female was gravid without dissecting it.

### 5.3. Height Experiments

### 5.3.1 Introduction

Up to now, there is no information on the potential importance of flower height in attracting gravid syrphids to crop fields for the biocontrol of aphids. However, there is some evidence that different species have preferred heights at which they fly and for oviposition. Chandler (1968a) found that *Episyrphus balteatus* preferentially oviposited on bean plants at heights of 30cms, but that *Eupeodes corollae* laid more eggs on plants at 123cms above the ground. Oviposition by *E. corollae* was also recorded by McEwan *et al.* (2004) in wheat aphid (*Rhopalosiphum padi* (L)) colonies under maize ear husk leaves. Almohamas *et al.* (2006) however, showed that stakes positioned 30cms above the ground were the most attractive heights of aphid colony location for oviposition both in *E. balteatus* and in *E. corollae*.

Most workers (e.g. Kevan, 1978; Kevan & Baker, 1983; Lövei *et al.*, 1992) agree that flower visibility is important, particularly in fields where the vegetation is high. Lövei *et al.* (1992), for example, found the top of the vegetation to be a favourite flying height for many species of syrphid. Kevan and Baker (1983) noted that tall flowers were visited more frequently by insects flying overhead than flowers close to the ground, but that preference was influenced by the availability of food resources at the time. *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* are known to visit flowers that are low on the ground and also large tall flowers and are commonly found in habitats where there are trees, shrubs and herbs of different heights (Gilbert, 1993). Other species such as *Melanostoma* and *Platycheirus* 

106

seemingly prefer low vegetation (Stubbs & Falk, 2000). In New Zealand, Wratten *et al.* (1995) caught both common syrphid species in ground level traps although they had different preferred flying heights. Hickman *et al.* (2001) caught significantly more *E. balteatus* in yellow water traps at crop height than in traps located on the ground, although these were mainly immature flies with empty guts. Flies caught in ground traps were more likely to be female and have full guts but no gravid females were trapped.

There is also evidence to suggest that flower height is important in eliciting behaviours in other insects groups. For example, Weigmann *et al.* (2000) found that bumble bee foragers *(Bombus impatiens* (Cresson)) showed a significant preference for medium-height flowers over tall ones. Whitting (2006) in work with parasitic wasps, determined flower height to be important with higher levels of parasitism by *Trichogramma minutum* (Riley) at greater heights and higher parasitism by *T. pretiosum* (Riley) at lower heights. To maintain a high diversity of insect visitors in crop fields, Sjödin (2007), recommended the best strategy to be the provision of flowers at all heights.

The aim of the work described here, was to find the most effective height of yellow model flowers to attract gravid female syrphids.

# 5.3.2. Methods and materials

See General Methods and Materials (section 5.2) in this chapter for a description of the site and details of yellow water trap preparation and hoverfly collection and identification details.

### Arrangement of traps

Traps were placed at four different heights; 0 cm (on the ground) and 30, 90 and 123 cm above the ground. Traps sited above ground level were glued to wooden stakes (2.5 x 2.5 cm cross section) using 'Cerafix' Decorators Caulk (Henkel Adhesives, Winsford,

Cheshire, UK). This bonded the traps well to the stakes but the traps were easy to remove when the positions of the stakes were re-randomised and the traps cleaned. The decision on trap heights at 123 and 30cms was based on evidence that these may be preferred oviposition heights for some species (Chandler, 1968a) (see Introduction 5.3.1). Traps heights at 90 cm and ground level were based on evidence that large numbers of syrphids may be trapped at these heights (e.g. Bowie *et al.*, 1999; Hickman *et al.*, 2001).

#### Single traps in field margins

Five traps of each height were randomly positioned in the field margins, approximately one metre from the crop edge, and at intervals of 25 metres in each of the three fields (20 traps per field). Collections of hoverflies were made from 13 to 22 July 2005. Treatments were re-randomised each time the traps were emptied and reset.

#### Sets of traps in field margins

Five sets of four traps, each set containing one trap of each height, and arranged randomly in a square with sides of 45 cm, with one side of the square parallel to the crop (Fig 5.1), were positioned with intervals of 25 m between sets in one field margin approximately one metre from the crop edge in each of the three fields. Collections of hoverflies were made from 25 July to 3 August 2005. Treatments within each set were re-randomised each time the traps were emptied and reset.

#### **Traps in tramlines**

From 8 to 15 August 2005, ten sets of traps were positioned at intervals of 25 metres along the central tramline (a track made by tractor wheels, within the field and at right angles to the crop edge) of one field, and five single traps at each height were positioned at 25m intervals along each of two tramlines in the two other fields. The different height treatments were assigned randomly to their individual positions (single

traps) or within their sets (sets of traps). Treatments were re-randomised each time the traps were emptied and reset.



**Figure 5.1.** Simplified diagram illustrating the height of each flower trap and the general trap layout for sets of traps (not to scale). The traps were arranged randomly at each corner of a 45cm side square.

# Analysis

The total numbers of gravid syrphids, and the numbers of gravid *E. balteatus* and gravid *E. corollae*, caught at different heights in single traps and sets of traps in the field margins and tramlines were compared separately using Kruskal-Wallis tests. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11

#### 5.4. Results

Table 5.1 shows the total number of adult aphidophagous syrphids and the number of gravid females collected on each date. A total of 2299 aphidophagous syrphids were caught at 123 cm, 3968 at 90 cm, 6305 at 30 cm and 3608 at ground level. For gravid females the numbers were 187, 333, 475 and 267 respectively. The numbers and species of gravid syrphid caught in single traps and the numbers caught in sets of traps in the field margins and tramlines over the experimental period are shown in Figure 5.2 (a) & (b); the most abundant species were *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae*. 64% of all gravid females were caught between 25 July and 3 August, with peak numbers collected on 29 July (Table 5.1).

When all aphidophagous species were considered together, there were highly significant differences between treatments for gravid females caught in sets of traps in field margins (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.01) and in single traps in tramlines (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.05) (Table 5.2) with higher numbers being caught in low traps (30 cm above the ground) than in high traps (123 cm above ground level). There were no significant differences between treatments when the total number of gravid females caught in single traps in tramlines or in sets of traps in the tramlines were analysed (Kruskal-Wallis tests: P > 0.05 in each case), although the same trend was seen in the latter case (Table 5.2).

When gravid *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* were analysed separately, significantly more *E. corollae* were found in low than in high traps for all four different trap layouts (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.05 for all trap layouts) (Table 5.2). Significantly more gravid *E. balteatus* were trapped in low traps arranged in sets in field margins than in high traps (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.01) but for other trap arrangements there were no significant differences between numbers caught in the different treatments (Kruskal-Wallis test: P > 0.05 in all cases) (Table 5.2).

110

Collection dates	Height of trap above ground level Tot						
	123cm (High)	90cm (medium)	30 cm (low)	0cm (ground)			
Single traps in				, ,			
Tield margins	07 (1)						
15/07/05	27 (10	) 24 (4)	33 (2)	30 (4)	114 (20)		
16/07/05	30 (3	) = 21 (3)	37 (7)	46 (7)	134 (20)		
21/07/05	119 (5	) = (14)	165 (28)	184 (27)	545 (88)		
22/07/05	120 (5	) 340 (17)	421 (15)	390 (6)	1285 (43)		
Totals	491 (A	) 310 (18)	411 (12)		1050 (45)		
We come of the second		7 770 (30)	1007 (04)	/92 (52)	3128 (216)		
Sets of traps in field margins							
25/07/05	177 (3	) 184 (6)	388 (10)	148 (2)	897 (21)		
29/07/05	565 (62	) 1042 (128)	2128 (180)	1209 (94)	4944 (464)		
01/08/05	390 (44	693 (41)	921 (89)	647 (40)	2651 (214)		
03/08/05	263 (16	467 (35)	631 (36)	303 (22)	1664 (109)		
Totals	1395 (125	) 2386 (211)	4068 (315)	2307 (158)	10156 (808)		
Single trans in tramlines							
08/08/05	100 (5						
10/08/05	109 (5	) 194 (11)	323 (34)	253 (14)	879 (64)		
12/08/05	23 (0	(12)		103 (5)	379 (26)		
15/08/05	10 (0	(0)		40 (3)	176 (7)		
Totals	193 (7	) 413 (24)	531 (46)		126 (2)		
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	001 (40)	423 (22)	1200 (99)		
Sets of traps in tramlines							
08/08/05	111 (7	) 222 (35)	382 39)	325 (30)	1040 (111)		
10/08/05	57 (4	) 96 (5)	122 (6)	87 (3)	362 (18)		
12/08/05	32 (0	) 40 (1)	84 (3)	38 (2)	194 (6)		
15/08/05	20 (0	) 33 (1)	51 (2)	27 (0)	131 (3)		
<u>Totals</u>	220 (11	) 391 (42)	639 (ŠO)	477 (35)	1727 (138)		

**Table 5.1.** Total number of aphidophagous syrphids and of gravid females (numbers in brackets) caught in single and sets of traps at different heights in the field margins and tramlines of winter wheat fields on each date in 2005.

Gravid females		Mean ra	nk		df	X <sup>2</sup>	Р	
	H	eight of trap ab	ove ground					
	123 cm	90 cm	30 cm	0 cm				
	(High)	(medium)	(low)	(ground)				
Field margins								
Single traps (all gravids)	880.81	910.99	913.61	896.59	3	4.239	0.237	
Sets of traps (all gravids)	673.53	736.91	782.04	689.51	3	25.419	*0.000	
Single traps ( <i>E. balteatus</i> )	140.18	156.89	154.73	150.20	3	2.893	0.408	
Sets of traps (E. balteatus)	104.79	125.06	143.48	108.69	3	13.193	*0.004	
Single traps ( <i>E. corollae</i> )	136.60	150.27	166.19	148.94	3	11.687	*0.009	
Sets of traps (E. corollae)	98.62	122.93	143.68	116.78	3	15.396	*0.002	
Tramlines								
Single traps (all gravids)	456.30	478.66	504.73	482.30	3	17.673	*0.001	
Sets of traps (all gravids)	451.77	490.32	501.95	477.95	3	16.484	*0.001	
Single traps ( <i>E. balteatus</i> )	77.70	78.20	88.40	77.70	3	4.523	0.210	
Sets of traps ( <i>E. balteatus</i> )	75.81	88.28	79.93	77.99	3	4.834	0.184	
Single traps (E. corollae)	66.00	81.55	92.20	82.25	3	14.585	*0.002	
Sets of traps ( <i>E. corollae</i>	64.75	86.40	87.75	83.10	3	11.357	0.010	

**Table 5.2.** Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on the total number of gravid syrphids, gravid *E. balteatus* and gravid *E. corollae* caught in single or sets, of yellow traps in the field margins and tramlines of winter wheat crops in 2005. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.



**Figure 5.2 (a) and (b).** Number and species of gravid syrphid caught in single traps **(a)** and sets of traps **(b)** at different heights in the field margins and tramlines over the experimental period in 2005 (Eb = *E. balteatus*; Ec = *E. corollae*; Msc = *Melanostoma scalare*; Syr = *Syrphus ribesii*; Sp = *Scaeva pyrastri*; Sv = *Syrphus vitripennis*; Other Spp = *Sphaerophoria scripta, Chrysotoxum bicinctum, Xanthandrus comtus* and *Platycheirus* spp.).

#### 5. 5. Discussion

The results of the large-scale experiments described here strongly suggest that from the range of heights tested here, gravid females, including those of the two most important species, *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae*, are attracted to targets at a height of 30 cm with traps above crop height being much less attractive. Although it could not be assumed that gravid females would prefer targets (or real flowers) at their preferred oviposition height, this did seem to be the case for *E. balteatus* (Chandler 1968a; Almohamas *et al.*, 2006) and possibly *E. corollae* (Almohamas *et al.*, 2006). Chandler (1968a) found that the latter species preferentially oviposited at 123 cm rather than 30cm, but for *E. corollae* as well as for *E. balteatus* traps at 123 cm trapped the fewest gravid females. In fact attractiveness of traps at 30 cm compared to those at 123 cm appeared stronger in *E. corollae* than in *E. balteatus* (Table 5.2). When trapped syrphids were considered as a group the trends seen, in terms of numbers caught in each treatment, were the same as for gravid females.

In this work, traps at each height in the field margins were placed near to the crop, but not within it. Flowering plants within the vicinity of the traps were removed to avoid any bias towards real flowers occurring, and vegetation surrounding the traps was cleared regularly to ensure that each trap could be seen. Because of this, it was felt that all the yellow traps in the field margins, whatever their height, offered a strong visual cue to approaching syrphids. However, along the tramlines within the crop it was expected that lower placed traps might be more difficult to see, and that therefore different results might be found for traps sited here. As part of an aphid control programme model flowers might be sited both in field margins and within the crop itself and it was important to investigate this. However the pattern of catches was the same as for traps placed in the field margins.

It was also expected that less defined preferences might be shown when traps were presented singly than when they were presented in sets as a sub optimal choice might be made when no alternative was present. There is some evidence that this occurred in

114

the field margins. Although the highest numbers of gravid females were found in the 30 cm single traps, these differences were not significant for gravid females as a group or for *E. balteatus* although they were highly significant for *E. corollae* (Table 5.2). However, single and sets of traps in the tramlines were put out at the same time, and there was no evidence that single and sets of treatments were responded to differently (Table 5.2). In the field margins, single traps were put out in mid July when populations of syrphids were small compared to the large numbers at the end of July/early August when treatments were presented in sets (See Appendix A). The average age of the trapped gravid females may have differed and this could have confounded the results as it is known that the behaviour of gravid female syrphids changes as they become older; they become less discriminating in their choice of oviposition sites (Budenberg, & Powell, 1992) and height preferences change (Chandler, 1968c). Ideally, all sets of treatments and single treatments should have been put out at the same time, but this was logistically impossible.

Overall it appears that traps at a height of 30 cm would be the optimum choice out of the heights compared, for attracting gravid females to the crop.

# 5.6. Size Experiments

#### 5.6.1. Introduction

Hoverflies have frequently been shown to prefer large flowers (e.g. Kevan, 1978; Branquart & Hemptinne, 2000) to small flowers. Elle and Carney (2003) and Bell (1985) suggested that when given a choice, pollinators discriminated against small flowers because flower size advertised potential floral reward. The visual stimulus provided by conspicuous, colourful large flowers is thought to attract hoverflies at greater distances than smaller ones (Kevan, 1978; Haslet, 1989a; Chittka & Menzel, 1992). Kevan and Baker (1983) observed that the larger flowers of the Arctic and of Canada had more hoverfly visitors than the smaller flowers. Branquart & Hemptinne (2000) noted that

hoverflies exploited pollen and nectar produced by plants having large inflorescences and flat corollae (e.g. Apiaceae, Asteraceae, Ranunculaceae and Rosaceae). Connor (1997) also found strong, consistent evidence that increases in flower size increased visitation by syrphid flies. In contrast, Sutherland *et al.* (1999) found that in the laboratory, small flowers elicited a higher response in *E. balteatus* than the large ones. Golding *et al.* (1999) made some similar generalisations noting that when the petals of oil-seed rape were removed, this had no effect on the frequency of visits by *E. balteatus*. However, Brunel *et al.* (1994) did not find flower size to be important in pollinator choice when flowers were at a high density.

At present, there is no quantitative information on the relationship between hoverfly visiting (and therefore size of trap catches) and trap size in the field. The aim of this investigation was to determine the response of gravid aphidophagous syrphids to targets (yellow water traps) of different size to establish the dimensions of the optimum model flower to attract them.

### 5.7. Methods and Materials

See General Methods and Materials (section 5.2.) for a description of the site, and details of yellow water trap preparation and hoverfly collection and identification details.

#### The Treatments

Traps of diameters 25cm, 19cm and 13.5 cm were compared. Smaller traps were not used, as in a preliminary field trial it became evident that, in hot weather, traps with diameters less than 13.5 cm were prone to evaporation. Windy conditions also increased the chance of catches in small traps being blown away (see Sutherland, 1998).

#### Single traps

Five traps of each size were randomly positioned in the field margins, approximately one metre from the crop edge, with intervals of 25 metres between traps, in each of the three fields (20 traps per field). Collections of hoverflies were made from 13 to 22 July 2005. Treatments were re-randomised each time the traps were emptied and reset.

#### Sets of three traps

Five sets of three traps, with intervals of 25 m between sets, were positioned in each field. Each set was positioned in the field margin approximately one metre from the crop edge and parallel to it with 45 cm between treatments. Within the set, treatments were in random order. Collections of hoverflies were made from 25 July to 3 August 2005. Treatments within each set were re-randomised each time the traps were emptied and reset.

#### Sets of six traps

Five sets of six traps were positioned in the field margin of one field with intervals of 25 m between sets. A set consisted of one large trap (total area 490.9 cm<sup>2</sup>), two medium traps (total area 567.2 cm<sup>2</sup>) and three small traps (total area 429.6 cm<sup>2</sup>). Although the trap areas were not exactly the same, they were the closest match available at the time. The two medium traps were arranged side by side and the three small traps were placed side by side in an equilateral triangle. It was intended that the arrangement of the medium and small traps should resemble the arrangement of real flowers, which are frequently found in pairs or clumps. A 45 cm gap was left between different sized traps. Collections of hoverflies were made from 8 to 15 August.

#### Analysis

Trap catches for single and sets of traps were analysed as the number of syrphids trapped per cm<sup>2</sup> of trap surface. Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to compare the

numbers of all gravid females and the numbers of *E. balteatus* and of *E. corollae* caught in traps of different sizes for single traps, sets of three traps, and sets of six traps separately.

#### 5.8. Results

#### Numbers of gravid syrphids

Table 5.3 shows the numbers of all adult syrphids and gravid females caught in the different treatments over the experimental period. A total of 1047 adult aphidophagous syrphids per 100 cm<sup>2</sup> were collected from large (25 cm diameter) traps of which 62.8 were gravid. The equivalent figures for medium size traps (19 cm diameter) were 934.9 and 58.6, and for small traps (13.5 cm diameter) 1516.7 and 56.9 (Table 5.3). The main species were *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* and peak numbers were caught at the end of July/early August when traps were presented in sets of three treatments together.

There were no significant differences between the different treatments when the overall numbers of gravid females caught in single traps were compared (Kruskal Wallis test: P > 0.05) (See Table 5.4 for details of Kruskal-Wallis analyses). For sets of three traps (one of each size) and for sets of six traps (one large, two medium and three small), differences between the overall numbers of gravid flies caught in the different treatments were highly significant (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.01 in each case) (Table 5.4), with more gravid females caught per cm<sup>2</sup> in large than in small traps.

For *E. balteatus* and for *E. corollae* separately, there were no differences between numbers of gravid females caught in single traps or in traps presented in sets of six (Kruskal Wallis tests: *E. balteatus* P > 0.05; *E. corollae*: P > 0.05 in each case) (Table 5.4). For flies caught in traps presented in sets of three differences between treatments were highly significant for *E. balteatus* (Kruskal Wallis test: P < 0.01) and very highly significant for *E. corollae* (Kruskal Wallis test: P < 0.01) with higher numbers caught

per cm<sup>2</sup> in large than in small traps in each case (Table 5.4). In each case where significant differences were found, the rank for numbers of gravid females caught in medium size traps was intermediate between the rank for large traps which was highest and the rank for small traps which was lowest.

Figure 5.3 (a), (b), (c) shows the species and actual number of gravid females caught in single traps, sets of three traps and sets of six traps over the experimental period.

Collection dates			Diameter of yellow water trap				Totals		
	25 c	ms	19 cr	13.5 cr	ns				
Single traps	All &≎	<b>Gravid</b> ♀♀	All ∂₽	Gravid ♀♀ │	All ∂°⊋	Gravid ♀♀	All ♂2	Gravid ♀♀	
11/07/2005	17 (3.5)	0 (0.0)	15 (5.3)	0 (0.0)	4 (2.8)	0 (0 0)	36 (11.6)	0 (0 0)	
13/07/2005	18 (3.7)	1 (0.2)	19 (6.7)	6 (2.1)	4 (2.8)	0(0.0)	41 (13.2)	7 (23)	
15/07/2005	101 (20.6)	9 (1.8)	26 (9.2)	2 (0.7)	45 (31.5)	6 (4.2)	172 (61.3)	17 (6.7)	
16/07/2005	124 (25.6)	12 (2.4)	49 (17.3)	6 (2,1)	109 (76.2)	10(7.0)	282 (119 1)	28 (11 5)	
22/07/2005	290 (59.1)	7 (1.4)	120 (42.3)	8 (2.8)	171 (119.6)	6 (4 2)	581 (221.0)	20 (11.0)	
Totals	550 (112.5)	29 (5.8)	229 (80.8)	22 (7.7)	333 (232.9)	22 (15.4)	1112 (326.2)	73 (28.9)	
Sets of three traps									
25/07/2005	82 (16.7)	2 (0.4)	113 (39.8)	6 (2.1)	37 (25.9)	2 (1.4)	232 (82.4)	10 (3.9)	
29/07/2005	1765 (359.5)	136 (27.7)	942 (331.7)	33 (11.6)	1001 (700.0)	20 (14.0)	3708 (1391.2)	89 (33.3)	
01/08/2005	1604 (326.7)	121 (24.6)	843 (296.7)	51 (17.9)	509 (355.9)	16 (11.2)	2956 (979.3)	188 (53.7)	
05/08/2005	508 (103.5)	50 (10.2)	345 (121.5)	38 (13.4)	207 (144.8)	17 (11.9)	1060 (369.8)	105 (35.5)	
Totals	3959 (806.4)	209 (62.9)	2243 (789.7)	128 (45.0)	1754 (1226.6)	55 (38.5)	7956 (2822.7)	392 (146.4)	
Sets of six traps									
08/08/2005	3 <b>7</b> 6 (76.6)	40 (8.1)	215 (37.2)	28 (4.9)	121 (28.2)	12 (2.8)	712 (142 0)	80 (15.8)	
10/08/2005	118 (24.0)	5 (1.0)	85 (15.0)	3 (0.6)	66 (15.4)	1 (0.2)	269 (54.4)	9 (1.8)	
12/08/2005	<b>7</b> 9 (16.1)	1 (0.2)	42 (7.4)	2(04)	38 (8.9)	0 (0 0)	150 (32.4)	2 (0.6)	
15/08/2005	56 (11.4)	0 (0.0)	27 (4.8)	0(0,0)	20 (0.0)		103 (32.4)	3 (0.0) 0 (0.0)	
Totals	629 (128.1)	46 (9.3)	369 (64.4)	33 (5.9)	245 (57.2)	<b>13 (3.0)</b>	1243 (249.7)	92 (18.2)	

**Table 5.3.** Number of aphidophagous adult syrphids and of gravid females collected from single traps, sets of three traps and sets of six traps on each date (first number in each set is actual number caught, numbers per 100 cm<sup>2</sup> of trap surface in brackets) in the field margins of winter wheat crops in 2005.

Gravid females		Mean rank		df	X <sup>2</sup>	Р	
	Large trap	Medium trap	Small trap				
	(25 cm)	(19 cm)	(13.5 cm)				
Single traps (all gravids)	271.94	268.47	271.09	2	0.206	0.902	
Sets of 3 traps (all gravids)	514.77	441.32	395.41	2	54.14	*0.000	
Sets of 6 traps (all gravids)	147.47	138.18	120.84	2	10.932	*0.004	
Single traps ( <i>E. balteatus</i> )	88.53	90.69	92.28	2	0.417	0.812	
Sets of 3 traps (E. balteatus)	103.47	93.18	74.85	2	10.792	*0.005	
Sets of 6 traps (E. balteatus)	23.80	25.80	19.40	2	2.927	0.231	
Single traps ( <i>E. corollae</i> )	114.76	111.99	112.25	2	0.472	0.790	
Sets of 3 traps (E. corollae)	108.88	88.90	73.72	2	18.311	*0.000	
Sets of 6 traps (E. corollae)	25.27	23.50	20.23	2	1.561	0.458	

**Table 5.4.** Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on trap catches for single and sets traps (analysed as the number of gravid syrphids per cm<sup>2</sup> of trap surface). in 2005. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.



**Figure 5.3 (a), (b) and (c).** Number and species of gravid syrphids caught in single traps (a), sets of three traps (b) and sets of 6 traps (c) of different size over the experimental period in 2005. (Eb = *E. balteatus*; Ec = *E. corollae*; Msc = *Melanostoma scalare*; Syr = *Syrphus ribesii* and *S. vitripennis*; Sp = *Scaeva pyrastri*; Other Spp = *Sphaerophoria scripta, Chrysotoxum bicinctum* and *Platycheirus* spp.).

### 5.9. Discussion

Few gravid females were collected during the periods when traps of different sizes were presented singly and no significant differences were found in the numbers caught in the different size traps. One reason for this might be that flies were attracted towards and landed in targets presented singly that they would have rejected if a choice had been offered. High numbers of flies were captured in late July and early August and there were very significant differences between treatments for gravid females trapped during this period, when traps were presented in sets, with higher numbers per cm<sup>2</sup> collected from large than small traps.

The effect of presenting equivalent target areas, but split into units of different size, was tested in the third part of the experiment, the same result was seen with more gravid syrphids cm<sup>2</sup> trapped in the large trays (Table 5.4). Ideally the traps would have been of equivalent area, but in practice this was not possible and the combined area of two medium traps or three small traps was somewhat more and a little less respectively than the area of a single large trap. It was expected that the greater area of the two medium trays might provide an extra stimulus to gravid females. Similarly, it was thought that a cluster of small trays might improve their attractiveness because they appeared to resemble the arrangement of real flowers. However, an insect's perception of a colour or flower signal cannot be directly compared to a human's. Much depends on the receptors that code information and the computational capabilities of the nervous system (Chittka & Menzel, 1992).

In fact, one large target appeared to be preferred to two, or three, smaller targets with an equivalent combined area. However, all the targets used in this experiment were larger than any natural flowers the local syrphid population was likely to encounter and it cannot be assumed that the same results would have occurred using real flowers.

The main aim of carrying out this investigation was to produce the most attractive possible model flower for attracting gravid females and the results suggest that the

largest model would be the most effective for this. It would have been ideal to test the response of gravid females to larger trap sizes than those investigated in this project. However, the experiments described here were extremely labour intensive and lack of time prevented further investigation.

When all adults were counted together for both the single and sets of three traps, many more syrphids were caught in small traps than large ones (Table 5.3). This could be because males and /or immature females have different preferences to those of gravid females. This may help explain why there is disagreement over whether syrphids preferentially visit small or large flowers. It supports the work of Sutherland *et al.* (1999), who found small flowers to be more attractive than large to naïve *E. balteatus*. Sutherland *et al.* (1999) found young *E. balteatus* to be highly selective in assessing the resource available to them and suggested that although large flowers may provide increased floral rewards, there may be an upper size limit above which they are no longer attractive. This trend was not seen when sets of six traps, including three small traps, were presented together, however this was the last presentation of treatments to be carried out, and it is possible that the result seen was a consequence of an increase in the average age of the population and changes in preference associated with this.

There is some evidence that bees (Heinrich, 1978) and honeybees (Hodges, 1981) preferentially choose large or small flowers depending on the concentration of nectar rewards. In the laboratory, Sutherland *et al.* (1999) found that female and young *E. balteatus* directed visits to model flowers that provided the greatest honey concentrations. No food rewards were associated with the models used in this experiment, however the small targets may have been perceived as being a better nutritional option. Gravid flies, however, may be less concerned with nutritional requirements and more concerned with the search for oviposition sites, with colour being a primary cue in attraction. There also is evidence to suggest that *E. balteatus* discrimination decreases with increasing age (Sadeghi & Gilbert, 2000). It seems possible therefore, that preference for flower size may change with female age, with

larger sizes preferred by older flies. As older males were not identified, their behaviour could not be assessed.

The results show the importance of identifying gravid females. Had this not been done, then, as they were in a minority, their pattern of behaviour would not have been identified and it would have been assumed that they followed the same pattern (with the smallest targets most attractive) as males and immature females and found the smallest targets most attractive.

If further experimentation confirms that gravid syrphids do respond in the same way, or more positively, to large single model flowers than to more abundant smaller models, then these may have an even greater advantage, as far as time and labour costs are concerned, over pairs and clumps of small model flowers in attracting them to crop fields. There may also be potential to use much larger yellow targets to attract gravid syrphids into areas of high aphid density, where natural flowers are poorly available.

# 5.10. Pattern Experiments

#### 5.10.1. Introduction

This section describes two preliminary laboratory experiments followed by field experiments in which the landing responses of *E. balteatus* to yellow discs with pattern features such as black oriented lines, circles and edges were tested.

Sphengel (1793) first drew attention to the various lines, spots and blotches of contrasting colour visible to the human eye on the petals of many flowers and suggested that these drew insects to the nectaries. Kugler (1963) noted that 83% of flowers pollinated primarily by butterflies had nectar guides. Kugler (1943), von Frisch (1950), Manning (1956) and Free (1970) observed that bees were also drawn to the nectaries by honey guides on the petal. However, some flowers produce ultraviolet reflecting nectar guidelines, which are invisible to the human eye (Kevan & Baker,

1983). Thompson *et al.* (1972) provided the first biochemical evidence that 'invisible' honey guides occurred in flowers such as the yellow Composite, *Rudbeckia hirta* (L)) (Black-eyed Susan). Within flowers, yellow flavonoids (Harborne, 1972), chalcones and aurones (Scogin & Zakar, 1976) and the differential distribution of pigments such as anthocyanin within the flower tissue are usually responsible for these patterns or nectar guides.

It is widely recognised that nectar-guides are used by numerous insect species to orient themselves on flowers to find rewards (Kevan *et al.*, 2001). In bees, a number of cases have been described in which flowers with visible patterns are visited more frequently for pollen than flowers without them (see Manning, 1956; Free, 1970; Johnson & Dafni, 1998). There is also some evidence to suggest that radiating guidelines enable *Eristalis tenax* (L.) to find a central yellow spot on a artificial flowers more frequently than on artificial flowers without them (Dinkel, 1999; Dinkel & Lanau, 2001).

There have been a number of studies on honeybees (e.g. Butler, 1951; Free, 1970), and on bumblebees (e.g. Manning, 1956; Lunau: 1990; Lunau *et al.*, 1996) in relation to pattern discrimination, but other than Finch (1991), who found a reduction in the numbers of hoverflies caught when various parts of the trap were painted black and Laubertie *et al.* (2006), who caught fewer syrphids in traps painted green on the outside than in completely yellow traps, no experimental studies have been carried out to test the effect of pattern on hoverflies. The responses of *E. balteatus* to pattern were therefore tested firstly in the laboratory, and then in the field to find out whether or not gravid syrphids were attracted to them.

# 5.11. Preliminary laboratory experiment

# 5.12. Methods and materials

### 5.12.1. Model flowers

Model flowers were constructed using white card discs (diameters 13mm) painted florescent yellow (Glocote 1263, Goovar, Ellenshaw Works, Hull HU2 OHN) (see chapter 2 methods section). The size of the disc was chosen to most accurately represent flowers such as the buttercup (*Ranunculus repens*), which would normally be encountered by hoverflies in the field. Pattern choices were based on Free (1970) who tested the reaction of bees to circular models with radiating guide lines, clusters of dots, circles and star shapes of approximately the same area. Patterns were applied by hand, using a fine (0.5 mm wide) black ink pen (Pilot Hi-Tecpoint V7) (see Fig. 5.4). Black was chosen because this it was thought that this would provide a strong colour contrast to the yellow colour of the disc.



**Figure 5.4.** Models used to test landing responses by *E. balteatus* to patterned targets in the laboratory (not to scale). Experiment 1: all models used. Experiment 2: models A, B, C and D used.

The painted discs were left in a well-ventilated room for two months to eliminate any odour emanation before use. Discs were then mounted horizontally with Sellotape on 18cm lengths of green, plastic-coated gardener's wire (B & Q). Stems were inserted into hand-moulded conical Plasticine mounts (100g), which provided support. New model flowers were constructed for each replicate bioassay and used flowers were discarded.

### 5.12.2. Experimental insects

The experimental insects were first generation gravid female *E. balteatus* reared from stock cultures kept in a perspex cage (40 x 60 x 40cms) under long-day conditions (5000lux/L16: 8h/D7) in the Insectory at Southampton University. Pre-experimentally, flies had *ad libitum* access to tap water, sieved pollen from *P. deltiodes* (Sigma-Aldrich Co Ltd., Poole, Dorset, U.K.) and a 10% honey solution (Gales Original Clear, UK) on cotton. Food and water was provided on Petri dishes on upturned plant pots at the back of the cage. During bioassays, flies had access to water, but not food. Temperature was maintained at  $22^{\circ}C \pm 1^{\circ}C$  throughout the experimental period.

#### 5.12.3. Experimental arena

Kevan and Baker (1983) found that bright yellow flowers showed up well against a green background and for this reason, green artificial grass matting (Palmyra Manufacturing Co. Ltd., Maryport, Cumbria) was fitted to the floor of the cage. A circular (diameter 26cm) marble turntable ('Lazy Susan', Horwood Homeware) was also covered with green matting and placed in the centre of the cage. The seven patterned model flowers (see Fig. 5.4) were presented simultaneously and positioned at 9 cm intervals on the outer rim of the turntable at random. Twenty four gravid *E. balteatus* were transferred into the cage and allowed to settle for ten minutes before making observations. The position of the model flowers relative to the cage was altered by a 90-degree clockwise rotation of the turntable every 20 minutes to eliminate positional

preference. The numbers of landings by *E. balteatus* on the model flowers were recorded continuously over a three-hour period, on four separate occasions, at different times of day from 22 February to 6 March 2002.

# Analysis

The numbers of landings on the seven different treatments were compared using a  $X^2$  test.

# 5.13. Results

A total of 85 landings were recorded overall. Table 5.5 shows the number of landings on each model. The highest numbers of landings were on the model flower with no pattern. The patterned models on which there were most landings were the central circle (18) and the black cross (16). Differences between the numbers of landings on the seven different treatments were significant ( $X^2 = 15.49$ ; df = 6; *P* < 0.05) with more landings than expected on the plain yellow model, and the models with a black central circle and a black cross respectively.

No	Black	Black	Black	Five-	Circle	Diagonal
pattern	outer	centre	Cross	pointed	of	dotted
	rim	circle		star	dots	lines
10	12	18	16	6	5	٩
13	12	10	10	0	5	3

 Table 5.5. Number of landings on model flowers of each pattern by E. balteatus.

# 5.14. Discussion

Although there was no evidence from the laboratory experiment that any pattern would be likely to be more effective at attracting gravid syrphids than a plain painted target, this would not necessarily be the case in field conditions. Only *E. balteatus* was tested in the laboratory and it was possible that other species might react differently. It was therefore decided to investigate the response of syrphids to yellow water traps with and without patterns on a much larger scale in the field.

# 5.15. Field Experiments

# 5.16. Methods and Materials

# **Trap Preparation**

Sixty traps were painted with UV-reflecting yellow Plasti-Kote 142S (see General Methods 5.2.2). Black enamel (Hammerite Products, ICI Paints, Slough, UK) patterns were applied by hand using a flat paintbrush (size 14). Equal numbers of trays (15 of each) were painted with a central circle (diameter 2.3cm) an outer rim (width 1cm) a cross (width 1cm) or left without patterns. Patterns used were based on the models elicited the most visits by *E. balteatus* in the first laboratory experiment (see Fig. 5.4: B, C & D). Patterns were enlarged to cover the same proportion of the yellow painted plant pot tray as on the laboratory models.

# The treatments

# Single traps

Five traps of each pattern were randomly positioned in the field margins, approximately one metre from the crop edge, with intervals of 25 metres between traps, in each of the

three fields (20 traps per field). Collections of hoverflies were made from 15 to 22 July 2005. Treatments were re-randomised each time the traps were emptied and reset.

# Sets of three traps

Five sets, which consisted of one trap of each pattern and one plain yellow trap, were placed in each field with intervals of 25 m between sets. Each set was positioned in the field margin approximately one metre from the crop edge and parallel to it, with 45 cm between treatments. Within the set, treatments were in random order. Collections of hoverflies were made from 25 July to 5 August 2005. Treatments within each set were re-randomised each time the traps were emptied and reset.

# Analysis

The total numbers of gravid syrphids, and the numbers of gravid *E. balteatus* and gravid *E. corollae*, caught in water traps with different patterns, were compared for single traps and sets of traps separately using Kruskal-Wallis tests. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11

# 5.17. Results

# Numbers of gravid syrphids

Table 5.6 gives the total number of aphidophagous adult syrphids and the number of gravid females caught in the different treatments over the experimental period. A total of 3363 adult syrphids, of which 213 were gravid, were collected from plain traps. Figures for traps with a black outer rim were 2110 and 152, a black centre circle, 1624 and 110, and 1746 and 88 for traps with a black cross. As for the height and size experiments, which were conducted at the same time, the highest numbers of gravid females were

caught at end of July/early August. The main species were *E. balteatus* and *E. corollae* (Fig. 5.5).

When gravid females were analysed as a group, there were highly significant differences between the numbers caught in the different treatments with higher numbers caught in traps with no pattern when treatments were presented as sets (Kruskal Wallis test: P < 0.001) and for single traps (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.01) Full results of the Kruskal-Wallis analyses are given in Table 5.7. In both cases, the next highest ranked treatment was the black rim, while the ranks for traps with a black cross or a black centre circle were lowest and similar to each other (Table 5.7).

For *E. balteatus*, as for combined species, whether caught in sets of traps (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.001) or singly presented traps (Kruskal Wallis test: P < 0.05) (Table 5.7) significantly more gravid females were caught in yellow traps without a pattern than in those with a central circle (sets) or a black cross (single traps). As with all gravid females combined, there was greater difference between the ranks for plain traps and the highest ranked patterned trap, than between the different patterned treatments. For *E. corollae* caught in sets of traps, differences between the four treatments were very highly significant (Kruskal-Wallis test: P < 0.001) with many more caught in controls than traps with a cross. When treatments were presented in isolation, or single traps, there were no significant differences between numbers of *E. corollae* caught in the different patternets (Kruskal-Wallis test: P > 0.05) (Table 5.7).

Figure 5.5 (a), (b) shows the number and species of gravid syrphids caught in sets of traps and single traps with and without patterns over the experimental period in 2005.

Date	No pa	attern	Oute	r rim	Centre circle		Cross		Total	
Sets of traps										
15/07/05	66	(13)	7	(0)	23	(1)	9	(0)	105	(14)
16/07/05	91	(21)	23	(1)	23	(1)	21	(1)	158	(24)
21/07/05	180	(1)	62	(5)	67	(0)	31	(0)	340	(+) (6)
22/07/05	160	(2)	55	(1)	31	(0)	41	(1)	287	(0) (4)
<u>Totals</u>	497	(37)	147	(7)	144	(2)	102	(2)	<u>890</u>	(4) (48)
Single traps										
25/07/05	33	(2)	39	(1)	24	(2)	20	(1)	116	(6)
29/07/05	1472	(66)	930	(48)	634	(30)	827	(46)	3863	(0)
01/08/05	861	(65)	582	(37)	423	(22)	403	(13)	2269	(137)
05/08/05	500	(43)	412	(59)	399	(54)	394	(26)	1705	(182)
<u>Totals</u>	2866	(176)	1963	(145)	1480	(108)	1644	(86)	<u>7953</u>	(102) (515)

 Table 5.6.
 Number of all aphidophagous adult syrphids and numbers of gravid females (in brackets) caught in sets of traps and single traps with and without patterns from 15 July to 5 August 2005.

Gravid females		Mean	rarık		df	X <sup>2</sup>	Р
	No pattern	Outer rim	Centre circle	Cross			
Sets of traps (all gravids)	641.57	593.45	583.49	583.49	3	57.079	*0.000
Single traps (all gravids)	645.64	604.41	578.35	573.61	3	16.398	*0.001
Sets of traps ( <i>E. balteatus</i> )	134.98	116.93	113.00	114.97	3	23.310	*0.000
Single traps ( <i>E. balteatus</i> )	140.99	122.20	113.13	105.68	3	11.090	*0.011
Sets of traps ( <i>E. corollae</i> )	135.60	117.45	115.47	113.48	3	18.642	*0.000
Single traps (E. corollae)	127.63	127.78	112.44	114.16	3	4.567	0.206

**Table 5.7.** Results of Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance on numbers of gravid syrphids caught in sets of traps and single traps in the field margins of winter wheat crops in 2005. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.



**Figure 5.5 (a), (b).** Number and species of gravid syrphids caught in sets of traps (a) and single traps (b) with and without patterns over the experimental period in 2005 (Eb = *E. balteatus*; Ec = *E. corollae*; Msc = *Melanostoma scalare*; Syr = *Syrphus ribesii* and *S. vitripennis*, Sp = *Scaeva pyrastri*).
### 5.18. Discussion

In the field experiment described here, gravid syrphids showed a greater degree of preference for plain travs with no patterns than was apparent in the laboratory tests, where there was little difference in numbers of landings on the three most visited models. However, the paint used in the field was reflective of UV and this could be the reason for increased attraction towards the traps. As was demonstrated in the size experiments, gravid syrphids (as opposed to all adults) seemed to be attracted to large traps that offered the greatest visual cue. It may be that the effect of pattern made the model flower look smaller. However, in the pattern experiment, all adults and gravid females were caught in higher numbers in plain as opposed to patterned traps. It may be simply that the visual stimulus that was supplied by the yellow colouring used in the traps was so effective in directing gravid females towards the traps that at anything that diluted it, or reduced its area made the trap less attractive. This supports the work of several workers (e.g. Kevan & Baker, 1983; Finch, 1991; Sutherland, 1998) who found the colour yellow to be the most important stimulus in attracting syrphids to water traps in the field (see Chapter Two).

As in the height and size experiments, there was a less pronounced preference for one treatment when treatments were presented in isolation and in the case of *E. corollae* almost the same numbers were caught in water traps with a black rim and in plain yellow ones. Preference towards the plain traps was evident in *E. balteatus* (single and sets of traps), but less so in *E. corollae* (sets of traps only).

The next highest ranked treatment was the trap with the black outer rim. However, it was thought that black outer rim made the trap appear smaller than it actually was. Previous work (see Size Discussion) showed that gravid females generally preferred the large traps to the smaller ones. Various workers with other insect groups (e.g. honeybees: Butler, 1951; bumblebees: Manning, 1956) have found that the edge of a disc, which contrasted with its background, received the most visits. It may be that the plain yellow traps used here were preferred to traps with a black outer rim, because these offered the greatest contrast against the background, and a larger area of stimulus.

Traps with a central circle and a black cross were the least preferred patterns. These designs were intended to mimic the markings of real flowers. However, the lines and centre circle probably did not realistically mimic the naturally occurring patterns of real flowers. It has long been established that colour vision in insects is very different to our own. Davies (1993) found that many flowers revealed 'invisible' markings, which could only be seen by insects. When viewed under ultraviolet light, marsh marigolds that appear monotone to humans have light coloured petals and a much darker centre. Hence what we may recognise as a pattern may be perceived very differently by a hoverfly. Chapman *et al.* (1999) found that painted black lines and regularly spaced patterns of black spots had no effect on catch rates of the housefly (*Musca domestica* (L)). Although the situations are not identical, this kind of visual stimulus was not effective in eliciting increased visiting in this experiment either.

Hoverflies may show sensitivity to wavebands across the spectrum, from ultraviolet to yellow (Chittka & Menzel, 1992), although evidence for the existence of true colour vision in hoverflies is limited (Fukushi, 1990). Black markings or darker shades, however, produce little radiation, and may be less attractive to them. Kugler (1950) found that brown centred, older inflorescences of *Senecio jacobaea* (ragwort) were ignored by hoverflies visiting younger yellow flowers. Finch (1991) blackened the interiors of traps and found that the numbers of hoverflies caught became negligible.

There is plenty of evidence to suggest that patterns play a role in attracting honeybees (Zerrahn, 1934; Butler, 1951; Free, 1970) and bumblebees (Kugler, 1943; Manning, 1956) to the nectaries of flowers. However, the anatomy and physiology of the visual systems of hoverflies and honeybees are fundamentally different (Menzel, 1979) and it must not be assumed that patterns are automatically attractive to hoverflies (Stavenga, 1989; Lunau,

1996). O' Carroll *et al.* (1997) found that the neural pathways of hovering insects were unable to detect specific types of pattern such as orientated lines, edges and spots present in numerous flowering species. Similarly, Chittka and Menzel (1992) suggest that the ability to recognise patterns in hoverflies is limited, given the relatively poor spatial resolution of the eye. Although Dinkel and Lanau (2001) observed that *E. tenax* found a small central yellow spot in the centre of a model flower more often and faster if yellow guide lines were present, the effect of guide lines was dependent on the colour yellow.

It is perhaps significant that patterns are more common on zygomorphic flowers with deep nectaries (Kugler, 1930) and that long-tongued insects such as bees (Free, 1970) and butterflies are the most frequent visitors (Kugler, 1963). Syrphid species such as *E. balteatus* have a short, broad proboscis and are most often observed taking pollen from non-patterned flowers with open corollae, such as umbellifers (Gilbert & Jervis (1998). Presumably, the plain traps resembled non-patterned flowers, which may also help explain why these caught more gravid syrphids than the patterned traps.

#### 5.19. General discussion

This work was undertaken in order to design the optimum model flower possible in terms of the number of gravid hoverflies it attracted. Although the experiments were carried out over a relatively short period of time using a limited range of treatments, it was unlikely that the results were compromised overall due to the large number of replicate traps and the sample sizes obtained, particularly in the latter part of July.

The three attributes considered here, (height, size and pattern) were investigated in isolation from each other and no account was taken of the synergistic effects that they may have on syrphid responses. Although the effects of plant and aphid volatiles have been investigated (see Chapter Four), flower shape, surface texture and orientation may also have a role to play. Trap position, field edges, adjacent crops, exposure to wind etc., may also affect the numbers of insects caught.

In all experiments, *E. balteatus* was the main species caught, with *E. corollae* the second most common. The majority of gravid *E balteatus* and *E. corollae* were collected from traps at the end of July/beginning of August, which appears to a peak period for these species of hoverfly (e.g. Rotheray, 1980; Sutherland, 1998; Gilbert, 2005) (Appendix).

It appears from the results of these experiments that gravid females, including those of the two most common species are preferentially attracted towards large, non patterned traps at a height of 30 cm. This height is probably related to the preferred height for oviposition of the main species and was the same for traps placed in the tramlines in the crop as for the highly visible traps in the field margins.

The only experiment where there appeared to be differences between overall hoverfly response and that of gravid females, was in the size experiments. It appeared that though small trays seemed more attractive to males and/or immature females, that the larger trays were more attractive to gravid females. Possible reasons for this are discussed above, however it emphasises the importance of isolating and identifying the responses of the target group in an investigation such as this one. As any potential enhancement of biocontrol by hoverflies requires gravid females, it is suggested that within the range tested, large targets are likely to be more useful than small ones in optimising visitation and therefore potential oviposition and biocontrol of aphids. However, the results only applied to the range of sizes used. If larger still models were used, it is possible that they might be even more attractive or alternatively that there is an optimum size beyond which attractiveness does not increase.

It also appeared that none of the patterns tested increased the attractiveness of model flowers to *E. balteatus*, or to gravid syrphids generally. It has been argued above that the markings used in this experiment may not have resembled those of real flowers to syrphid perception. It is an area where further research might prove fruitful. Possibilities include looking at the effect of ultraviolet reflecting markings. Highly broken outlines, such as those found on petals, or clusters of dots might also elicit more visits. However, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, plain yellow trays appeared to be the most effective stimulus in attracting gravid syrphids.

Although it cannot be assumed with certainty that yellow targets without water in them are perceived in the same way, and will have the same attractiveness relative to each other, as yellow water traps, it seems likely that this is the case.

There was some evidence that for all the attributes tested the response to single isolated treatments was less rigid than that to treatments that were put out in sets. This is what would be expected. Traps (or sets of traps were put out at intervals of 25m and although the fluorescent yellow paint made them highly visible, at this distance it would only be possible for a hoverfly to see one at a time. Given no choice it might be expected that a hoverfly seeking a flower to visit would land on a promising looking source. However, when preference was shown, it was for the same options as when treatments were presented in close proximity, and therefore the possibility that model flowers might be used singly does not affect the choice of characteristics for an optimum model.

Yellow traps to attract and catch gravid hoverflies were a useful way of comparing the floral characteristics investigated in this chapter. The fact that 2005 was a year when hoverfly numbers were very high (see Appendix) was opportune. Over the course of the experimental period, many thousands of hoverflies were caught. However, the method was labour intensive in that it took a great deal of time to collect, count, identify and dissect females to identify those that were gravid. Although it would have been ideal to have used bait plants to measure oviposition within the vicinity of yellow targets (see Chapter Two), due to the large number of different experiments going on at the time, this was not possible. It would also have been an impossible

method to use when treatments were presented in sets. However, this work was important in that it concentrated on identifying gravid syrphids in trap catches in order to decide how best to attract them to agricultural land.

# 5.20. Conclusions

It appeared that from the range of options investigated in this chapter, that the optimum model flower should be without pattern, 25cms in diameter and positioned 30cms above the ground. A pilot experiment to test a model with these, and other characteristics identified in earlier chapters, is described in Chapter Six.

# **CHAPTER 6**

# THE EFFICACY OF THE OPTIMUM MODEL FLOWER ON OVIPOSITION BY APHIDOPHAGOUS SYRPHIDS

# 6.1. Introduction

In previous chapters it was demonstrated that oviposition on nearby bait plants by aphidophagous syrphids occurred in the presence of model flowers without food resources (see Chapter 2) and, at least for those tested, that the presence of a volatile was not significantly associated with an increase in oviposition (see Chapter 4). Within the parameters set in the experiments carried out, analysis of trap catches also suggested that gravid females were attracted to targets painted with fluorescent yellow paint with an ultraviolet component (See Chapter 3) and to targets that were large (25 cm diameter), non-patterned and placed 30 cm above ground level.

Lack of time meant that a full scale field based experiment to test this 'optimum' model was not possible. However, a pilot experiment was carried out in the grounds of the University of Southampton with the aim of assessing the extent to which a model flower with the attributes described above might enhance oviposition on nearby bait plants compared to oviposition on bait plants at control positions with no model flowers.

# 6.2. Methods and Materials

# **Experimental site**

Experiments were carried out in the grounds of Boldrewood, University of Southampton, UK in 2007. The site (see Fig. 6.1) consisted mainly of open grassed areas lined with mature broadleaved tree species such beech (*Fagus sylvatica*), poplar (*Populus nigra* (L)), sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus*), horse chestnut (*Aesculus hippocastanum* (L)) and evergreens such as holly (*Ilex* 

aquifolium (L)), yew (*Taxus baccata* (L)), pine (*Pinus nigra* (Arn)), sequoia (*Sequoiadendron giganteum* (Lindl)) and spuce (*Picia* spp.). The site boundaries were interspersed with laurel (*Prunus laurocerasus* (L)) and privet (*Ligustrum* spp.) hedgerows and shrubs. The few weedy plant species that were present in the plant beds near the greenhouse were unknown. A main road ran parallel to one side of the site.

### Preparation of bait plants

Standardised pots (diameters 70cm) of ten one-week old spring barley plants (*Hordeum vulgare* (L.) (var. 'Gleam') previously infested with the wheat aphid *Rhopalosiphum padi* supplied by Mambotox (University of Southampton Science Park, Chilworth, UK) were used as bait plants for the first experiment. Further standardised bait plants, which were used when the experiment was repeated, were grown in a glasshouse at  $15-18^{\circ}$ C with 16h day length, in peat-based compost using the same batch of seed (supplied by Mambotox) as the plants in the first experiment and in pots of the same size. Approximately 15 seeds were scattered in each pot and after germination these were thinned out to leave 10 seedlings in each pot. As soon as the plants emerged they were infested with *R. padi* by placing two cut seedlings from previously infested plants (supplied by Mambotox) on top of each pot. The cut seedlings were removed after 48h. The plants were put out in the University grounds approximately one week after sowing.

### **Model flowers**

Model flowers consisted of ten flowerpot trays (diameters 25cm) painted with Plasti-Kote P142S fluorescent yellow ultraviolet reflecting paint (see Chapter 2 Methods section for details of preparation). A hole was drilled in the centre of each tray, which was then mounted 30cms above the ground on a bamboo cane inserted into the soil with a mallet (Fig. 6.1). Three bait plants were selected at random and equally spaced on the ground approximately 16cm from the centre of each model flower or control (no plant tray) (Fig. 6.1).



**Figure 6.1.** Simplified diagram illustrating the height of the model flower and the general arrangement of the three bait plants which were set out on the ground around it (not to scale) in 2007. Controls were without yellow trays.

10 model flower and 10 control positions were set out alternately at intervals of 25 metres along the perimeter of the University grounds (see Fig 6.2). The first two positions were in flower beds bordering on the glasshouses at Boldrewood (Fig. 6.2). All other positions were either under trees or beside hedges with the stake supporting the model flower or marking the control position 60 cm from the trunk, or from the base of the hedge. See Fig. 6.2 legend for details of tree and hedge species. After 24 h all bait plants were collected and white plastic markers used to identify the position that they had occupied. The positions of model flowers and controls were reversed and new bait plants were put out using the white markers to ensure that they occupied exactly the same positions as those set out the previous day. The white markers were then removed. After 24 h the second set of bait plants were

collected. Once a set of bait plants was collected, the total number of syrphid eggs found at each model flower and control position was recorded and as far as possible the eggs were identified to species. The experiment was repeated the following week. As bait plants were only put out on days with similar fine sunny weather, the second set of bait plants in the repeat experiment was put out 24 h after the first set was collected. During the repeat experiment there was disruption at some positions due to grass cutting activities and eggs laid at these positions have been omitted from the analyses.

# Analysis

A Mann-Whitney *U* test was carried out to compare the total number of eggs found in the vicinity of model flowers and at control positions. Due to disruptions at positions 9, 10, 13 and 14 during the second (11 and 13 August) experimental period, these were excluded from the analysis.

As it was thought that position might have an effect on the number of eggs laid, a Kruskal-Wallis test was carried out to compare the numbers of eggs found on bait plants in the different positions. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS11.

**Fig. 6.2**. Digital photograph (Scale 1:1000) of site map (Drawing No. (11) 05; Job No. 3359; 27.01.00) showing the approximate positions where bait plants were set out. Model flowers and control positions alternated and on day two of each experiment, new bait plants were set out with the positions of the previous day reversed. See text for details.





- 1 = Plant bed (weedy species)
- 2 = Plant bed (weedy species)
- 3 = Pine tree
- 4 = Sycamore tree
- 5 = Holly hedge
- 6 = Cypress tree
- 7 = Privet hedge
- 8 = Yew tree
- 9 = Cypress tree
- 10 = Pine tree

- 11 = Pine tree
- 12 = Horse chestnut tree
- 13 = Pine tree
- 14 = Pine tree
- 15 = Sequoia tree
- 16 = Mature beech tree
- 17 = Laurel hedgerow
- 18 = Laurel hedgerow
- 19 = Cypress tree
- 20 = Spruce tree

## 6.3. Results

# Numbers of eggs

A total of 1384 syrphids eggs were found on bait plants near the control and model flowers positions over the experimental period. Of these, 529 were found at control positions and 845 at model flower positions (see Table 6.1). Except for five eggs (species unknown) these were all visually assessed as *E. balteatus*. Table 6.1 shows the number of eggs found on bait plants at each position. For each experimental period, and for each individual collection period, a higher total of eggs was counted on bait plants in the vicinity of model flowers than on those at control positions.

Differences between the overall numbers of syrphid eggs on bait plants at control and model flower positions over the experimental period were significant (Mann-Whitney test; P < 0.05; Table 6.2) with more eggs laid on bait plants near model flowers than on control bait plants.

Fig. 6.3 shows the total numbers of eggs found at each position when model flowers were present and when they were absent. At 13 out of the 16 positions where no disruption took place, a higher number of eggs were laid on bait plants when model flowers were present than when they were absent. The number of eggs laid varied, with the highest numbers found at positions one (178) and two (169) and the lowest (2) found at position 13 (Table 6.1). There were no significant differences between numbers of eggs found at the different positions (Kruskal-Wallis test;  $X^2 = 16.554$ ; df = 15; P > 0.05).

Position	3 and 4 A	August	11 and 13	8 August			
	MF	С	MF	С	ALL		
1. Edge of flower bed	<u>70</u>	58	<u>50</u>	0	178		
2. Edge of flower bed	60	<u>53</u>	31	<u>25</u>	169		
3. Under pine tree	<u>8</u>	18	<u>0</u>	0	26		
4. Under sycamore	29	<u>3</u>	1	<u>0</u>	33		
5. Beside holly edge	<u>39</u>	26	<u>11</u>	0	76		
6. Under cypress	32	<u>11</u>	0	<u>8</u>	51		
7. Beside privet hedge	<u>76</u>	42	<u>10</u>	0	128		
8. Under pine tree	42	<u>84</u>	0	<u>0</u>	126		
9. Under pine tree	<u>10</u>	0	-	-	10		
10. Open position	31	<u>34</u>	-	-	65		
11. Open position	<u>23</u>	4	<u>0</u>	0	27		
12. Open position	15	<u>0</u>	3	<u>0</u>	18		
13. Under pine tree	<u>1</u>	1	-	-	2		
14. Under pine tree	29	<u>20</u>	-	-	49		
15. Under sequoia	<u>38</u>	5	<u>0</u>	0	43		
16. Under beech tree	13	<u>24</u>	10	<u>0</u>	47		
17. By laurel	<u>68</u>	29	<u>5</u>	6	108		
18. By laurel	75	<u>39</u>	2	<u>3</u>	119		
19. Open position	<u>51</u>	21	<u>5</u>	7	84		
20. Open position	2	<u>8</u>	15	<u>0</u>	25		
Totals							
	384	276	81	36			
	<u>328</u>	<u>204</u>	<u>62</u>	<u>13</u>			
All	712	480	143	49	1384		

**Table 6.1**. Number of eggs found on bait plants near model flowers and at control positions at each date. MF = eggs laid by model flowers; C = eggs laid at control positions; non-underlined numbers refer to eggs collected on 3 or 11 August; underlined numbers refer to eggs collected on 4 or 13 August. Eggs laid at positions 10, 11, 13 and 14 on 11 or  $13^{th}$  August have been excluded from the analysis because bait plants at these positions were disrupted during the experimental period.

	Mear	n Rank	U	Р		
	Control	Treatment				
Overall result	31.53	41.47	469.00	*0.042		

**Table 6.2.** Results of Mann-Whitney tests on numbers of syrphid eggs oviposited on bait plants at control and model flower positions. Four sets of bait plants were put out on 3 and 4 August 2007 and on 11 and 13 August. \* indicates significant differences between treatments.



**Figure 6.3.** Number of syrphids eggs on bait plants at model flower and control positions in 2007 (1 = weed bed; 2 = plant bed; 3 = mature pine; 4 = sycamore; 5 = holly hedge; 6 = cypresses; 7 = privet hedge; 8 = mature yew; 11 = mature pine; 12 = mature horse chestnut; 15 = giant sequoia; 16 = mature beech tree; 17 = laurel hedge; 18 = laurel hedge; 19 = cypress; 20 = spruce. Positions 9, 10, 13 and 14 were excluded due to disruptions in the second collection period.

### 6.4. Discussion

It would have been preferable if the model flower used in this work could have been tested in the margins of the cereal fields where the preliminary work was carried out and on a much larger scale and with more repetition. It would also have been preferable to have started the experiment earlier in the year and to have increased the repetition. This was not possible, partly because of very poor weather conditions in July 2007 and partly because of time constraints.

However, the results of this pilot experiment, with overall more oviposition found near model flowers than at control positions, do suggest that the presence of model flowers with the features identified as most attractive from the work described in previous chapters, enhance syrphid oviposition in their vicinity.

The results also suggest that there was a decline in the gravid female population during the course of the work; at all positions fewer eggs were laid during the second than during the first experimental period. Although no trapping was carried out in 2007, this suggests that the pattern of occurrence of gravid females, with peak occurrences in early August, was followed by a decline as identified by a number of workers (e.g. Rotheray, 1980; Sutherland, 1998; Gilbert, 2005) (see Appendix). This same pattern was found in previous years and may be connected with the gradual decline in syrphid populations associated with the change in environmental conditions and the migratory strategies of *E. balteatus* (Svensson & Janzon (1984).

Had the experiment been carried out in the margins of cereal fields, the amount of variation between the different positions at which model flowers and controls were placed would be expected to be much less. Although there might be natural flowers or hedges in field margins, as in some of the positions used in this experiment, the Boldrewood area as a whole was much more shaded and variable than a farm environment, with the majority of positions under trees. As each position was used consecutively as both a control and model flower position, the possibility that variations in oviposition resulting from environmental differences between positions affected the results was reduced to a minimum. However, the complexity of the site and the interacting effects of landscape context and habitat quality made interpretation of the results more difficult. It is therefore suggested that in further experiments where oviposition near model flowers and controls is to be compared, then experiments should be carried out in a much less complex environment.

Trees provide shelter, overwintering sites and food resources, which has a positive effect on species diversity and the development of syrphid populations (Salveter, 1998). It might therefore have been expected that the species composition of the population of gravid females, as reflected in the species composition of the eggs laid, would be more diverse from that found in a farm environment. In fact almost all eggs, on bait plants in flower beds, under trees or by hedgerows, were identified as being laid by E. balteatus. This is perhaps not surprising. Agricultural landscapes near woodland have been associated with significantly higher numbers of E. balteatus in and around farm fields (Marshall & West, 2007). This also suggests that in orchards, where aphid pests can cause economic damage to flowers, fruitlets or fruits directly (Solomon et al., 2000; Rossi et al., 2006), model flowers may be of great value in attracting gravid E. balteatus. However, model flowers will be of little value if the spraying regime common in commercial orchards is in use. Knowledge of the phenology of E. balteatus may be one solution in determining spray timings and regimes.

*E. balteatus* also demonstrates a very positive habitat association with hedgerows (Sutherland *et al.*, 1999), presumably in response to aphid resources and shelter. Hoverflies generally are known to use hedgerows as movement corridors between feeding and oviposition sites. The importance of hedgerows in maintaining hoverfly populations has been emphasised by a number of workers (e.g. Janzen, 1967; Kevan & Baker, 1983; Sutherland *et al.*, 1999). Janzen (1967), for example, noted a reduction in predator populations in areas where hedgerows had been removed to create larger

fields. Syrphids may accumulate in the lea of the hedge (Lewis, 1969a), which offers the best protection from wind movements.

Except for the plant beds, all positions in this experiment were distant from flowering plants. Although immature hoverflies depend on pollen and nectar for reproductive success (e.g. Schneider, 1948; Salveter, 1998) and therefore require flowers as sources of food, it was found during this project that the amount of oviposition near model flowers was not affected by the presence or absence of food (see Chapter Three). The fact that in this experiment at nearly all positions more eggs were found on bait plants associated with model flowers, which contained no food resources, reinforced these findings. However, it seems likely that the presence of natural flowers enhanced the effect of the models as more eggs were found at the two flower bed positions than at any of the others. This agrees with the work of Schneider (2006) who suggested that syrphids prefer areas with flowers for oviposition and that landscapes without floral resources may hamper their ecological and economical efficiency. It seems likely that the visual stimulus of flowering plants enhanced the stimulus provided by the model flowers alone to attract more gravid females. It is not known whether any of these females used the natural flowers as a food resource, but as more eggs were found by model flowers than by controls, even in the flower beds, it may well be the case that a combination of model and natural flowers would be most effective for enhancing oviposition in crops.

In designing the model used in this experiment, some floral characteristics (e.g. morphology) were not investigated at all and for those that were investigated it was only possible to test a few variations of a particular characteristic. It would also be useful to look at the effects of using multiples of model flowers compared to single flowers.

Further work is needed to continue to find the optimum model flower and the optimum way of using it. However the results do suggest strongly that the use of model flowers does increase syrphid oviposition by *E. balteatus* at least in

their vicinity and therefore is of potential use in enhancing biological control of aphids by syrphid larvae.

#### **CHAPTER 7**

#### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

The aim of this project was to investigate the effects of standardised model flowers on oviposition in their vicinity by aphidophagous hoverflies. The question of whether the presence of flowers near a crop increases hoverfly oviposition near at hand remains controversial and the amount of variation associated with testing this using real flowers, adds to the difficulty of producing a definitive answer. Therefore, in order to minimise the variation associated with the use of natural occurring flowers, simple standardised model flowers, that could be exactly replicated, were used instead. These were put in field margins close to winter wheat crops and natural flowers near the models were removed. It was decided that the important attributes that the model should have were high visual impact, as visual stimuli are very important in flower recognition and choice by hoverflies (e.g. Kevan & Baker, 1983) and food resources, as hoverflies are flower feeders. The decision to use fluorescent yellow painted flowerpot trays as the 'flowers' was based on their success, when filled with water, in trapping hoverflies in the field (see Appendix), where they were seen to contain food rewards. The visual impact of the models was intensified by setting them out in groups of three and presenting them on stakes at different heights. Honey and pollen were added to the trays and oviposition levels by flowers and controls were assessed using standardised bait plants infested with aphids. No aphids were found in the crop itself, so another source of possible variation was eliminated.

Chapter two describes the testing of this model. In 2002, when the testing began, the numbers of hoverflies including gravid females (See Table 1. Appendix), were the lowest of all the years of this project. Despite low levels of oviposition overall, it was found that more eggs were laid on bait plants near model flowers than at control positions with no flowers. Although it cannot be assumed that the same results would have been seen if it had been possible to standardise real flowers to the same extent, and use them instead of models, it provides strong supporting evidence that adding flowers to a crop

environment is likely to increase hoverfly oviposition locally. At this time, it was not known whether or not the attraction to the yellow model flowers might increase if a different yellow paint was used. This was explored in Chapter Three.

From a follow up experiment in 2002 and 2003, another year when number of hoverflies were low (see Appendix), by comparing the relative importance of the model's attributes (colour, honey and pollen) it was found that more eggs were laid near yellow than near unpainted models, and that the presence or absence of pollen and/or honey made no difference to the numbers of egg laid on the bait plants, even when the visual stimulus provided by a bright 'vellow' flower was absent. This was an unexpected result as it had been assumed that most visits to flowers by hoverflies would be made because they were hungry and that in the absence of food, they would fly away and search for it elsewhere. Subsequent laboratory work found that for gravid E. balteatus flies which had been starved for 24 h laid as many eggs, and landed on yellow targets no more often, than flies which before the experiment had been given uninterrupted access to food. This suggested that, for gravid females of this species at least, yellow targets are attractive, and ovipositional stimuli are responded to, regardless of their hunger state. However, poplar pollen and honey from unknown sources were used as food rewards in both field and laboratory experiments. Most of the eggs collected during this project (and most of the hoverflies trapped) were E. balteatus, and as discussed (Chapter 2), these foods are unlikely to be optimal for this species. It is possible that the use of different food resources might have made the traps more attractive. To clarify this point it would be useful to carry out further lab and field experiments using food rewards from plant species known to be attractive to E balteatus in particular.

A practical point is that if yellow targets alone could be used to attract gravid hoverflies to the crop. This would potentially be a very cheap and simple way of enhancing the biological control of aphids in the crop. From a farmer's point of view, plain yellow targets without food resources require little labour and are easy to maintain. During the course of this project, oviposition levels were only investigated near targets sited in the field margins. Although significant differences in the numbers of eggs laid between treatments were found at a distance of 10m from the targets, it was not known how far this effect extended. Model flowers may be of more value if placed both in the field margins and in the crop. The best distance to leave between targets and their effectiveness in attracting gravid syrphids to all areas of the crop still needs to be assessed.

A related area requiring investigation concerns the question of where the hoverflies that were attracted to the targets actually came from. It is possible that even targets in the field margins only concentrate populations of hoverflies that are already in the vicinity and do not attract them from outside the crop. Given the extreme mobility of hoverflies (e.g. Schneider, 1966; Svensson & Janzon, 1984; Cowgill, 1991) this seems unlikely. However, it is possible that local clusters of hoverflies were formed near the targets used in this project, leading to their redistribution within the field and possibly depleting areas of the field distant from the targets. If gravid females were attracted away from the field centre (see Laubertie *et al.*, 2006), where they play an important role in natural pest control, this could actually lead to a drop in biological control of aphids rather than an enhancement of it. Time was not available to investigate this during the course of this project but further work using mark and recapture techniques to track the movements of gravid hoverflies might help to elucidate this.

This work only looked at gravid females. In a much wider context, the absence of food resources might be a limiting factor, as pollen is needed by immature adults so that they become sexually mature. Further work using model flowers and natural flowers would be required to confirm this.

The remainder of the project focused on improving the model to make it as attractive as possible. Of the flower attributes (colour, pollen, nectar) used here, colour appeared to be of paramount importance in eliciting the response that was seen and it was decided not to add food to any further models. Different aspects of the model flower such as colour (Chapter Three), the effects of adding aphid and plant-derived volatiles (Chapter Four) and size, height and pattern preferences of gravid female hoverflies (Chapter five) were explored. Finally, a model flower with 'optimum' characteristics was tested in the grounds of the University of Southampton (Chapter Six).

It was established (Chapter Three) that ultraviolet reflecting fluorescent yellow was more attractive to E. balteatus and to gravid syrphids generally, than nonfluorescent yellows or fluorescent yellow trays without the ultraviolet component. However, E. balteatus and E. corollae responded differently to the two ultraviolet reflecting trays. Such differences could be the result of genetic variation (Sadeghi & Gilbert, 2000), which may be a mechanism for resource partitioning and the avoidance of competition for resources (Haslett, 1989a). However, different hoverfly species may show preferential attraction to different coloured flowers (Colley & Luna, 2000). Although this work did not look at the effect of other colours on behaviour, the yellow paint used was accurately defined by spectral reflectance curves to match those of real flowers that are known to attract E. balteatus and E. corollae (Chambers & Adams, 1986: Pike et al., 1991). However, other fluorescent ultraviolet reflecting colours may be as attractive, but these were not investigated. Older E. balteatus may show a pronounced response to green and yellow/greens as they age and it would be worth investigating oviposition responses to these colours in future trials. Another idea would be to use plant 'tags' as visual stimulants in the hope that these might attract gravid syrphids. The idea is that the yellow upper surface (possibly coated with wax) would act as a visual cue. The underside of the 'leaf' could be coloured green and impregnated with honeydew to stimulate oviposition.

Investigations were carried out to find out whether an aphid-derived volatile, nepetalactone and a plant-derived volatile, *cis*-jasmone enhanced the design of the model flower (Chapter Four). Information on the effects of nepetalactone on hoverflies was extremely limited (e.g. Sutherland, 1998), but there is some evidence (e.g. Powell & Glinwood, 2003; Wadhams *et al.*, 2004; Birkett & Pickett, 2004) to suggest that the pheromone may enhance parasitoid activity. This work demonstrated that nepetalactone, on its own, in

different concentrations, or in conjunction with model flowers did not enhance syrphid oviposition on nearby bait plants or further into the crop. Release of the pheromone by female aphid migrants in the autumn may indicate a reduction in food supply for aphidophagous syrphid larvae. Indeed, nepetalactone appeared to be an oviposition deterrent, and not an attractant as noted by several workers (e.g. Hardie *et al*, 1994; Lilley *et al.*, 1994; Powell & Glinwood, 1998) in parasitoids. Although Sutherland (1998) recorded strong electrophysiological activity to nepetalactone in *E .balteatus*, little is known about the receptors responsible for the apparent repellent response (Peterson & Coats, 2001). If nepetalactone is to be used in the integrated control of crop pests, then any decision on its use would have to consider the possibility that it might diminish syrphid activity in the crop.

The role of *cis*-jasmone in enhancing the oviposition behaviour of parasitoids has been evaluated (e.g. Powell et al., 1991; Pickett et al., 1992; Hardie et al., 1994; Lilley et al., 1994), but no studies have been undertaken to assess its efficacy on aphidophagous syrphids. In 2004, there was a trend for oviposition to be enhanced on bait plants near cis-jasmone, although a follow up experiment the following year produced no evidence to suggest that gravid females were attracted to yellow water trays near the volatile. Flaws in the experimental design meant that rainy weather affected dispersal of the volatile. There is also evidence to suggest that the effects of *cis*-jasmone are long-lived (Bruce et al., 2003) and it is possible that plants within the vicinity of cis-jasmone acted as a sink for the volatile, which affected responses when trap positions were changed. The importance of designing an experiment that is unaffected by environmental conditions and the persistent effect of cisjasmone was highlighted by this. It was not possible to come to any conclusions on the possible usefulness of cis-jasmone as an attractant for gravid hoverflies as time did not permit further work to be carried out. However, it certainly seems likely that flower feeders such as hoverflies would be attracted by flower volatiles and there is evidence for this. Laubertie et al. (2006), for example, found that the addition of rose water to yellow water traps significantly increased the number of hoverflies caught. Although cis-jasmone

is insoluble in water, alternative formulations may offer opportunities for further investigation.

The work described in Chapter Five used yellow water trap data to examine preference for height, size and pattern of model flower targets. As it was gravid females that were being targeted, and it could not be assumed that their behaviour and preferences would be the same as immature females and males, trapped females were dissected to see if they were gravid. In most cases, gravid females exhibited the same preferences as did all adults grouped together. However, this was not the case for size preference where gravid females preferred the large traps, while adults as a whole appeared to prefer the small ones. This may be because small flowers represent better food rewards which are possibly less important to gravid females. However all the trays used were bigger and brighter than natural flowers that would be encountered by a hoverfly in the UK, and it cannot be assumed that the response to them would be the same. This preference for small traps was not maintained in the last part of the experiment when three small, two medium and one large trap were presented together in a set. In this arrangement the large traps were most attractive to all adults combined as well as to gravid females. This may have been a consequence of a change in behaviour associated with increasing age.

For height, size and pattern experiments treatments were presented in groups and in isolation. Preferences tended to be less clearly defined when traps were presented singly. This was expected as no choice was offered. However, the preferred treatments were the same when treatments were isolated from each other as when they were singly placed. It was important to know this because if yellow model flower targets are to be used to enhance hoverfly oviposition in a crop, the model used would presumably be an optimum one and the element of choice would be removed.

Overall it was established that traps at a height of 30 cm, (possibly related to favourite oviposition levels) the largest size (25 cm diameter) used and a target with no pattern were the preferred options. These features were

incorporated into an 'optimum' model which was tested in the grounds of Southampton University (Chapter Six). Volatiles were left out of the model because of the lack of any evidence that they would be effective. Model flowers were without food resources as it was established (Chapter Two) that oviposition occurred in their absence.

Overall, significantly more eggs were found on bait plants near model flowers than on bait plants near controls. It was also found that more eggs, though the difference was not significant, were laid in positions where model and natural flowers were close together. Presumably this was because of the increased visual stimulus produced. Natural flowers are important as a source of food for hoverflies and this suggests that if natural and model flowers were combined in e.g. a field margin, the effect of the model might be enhanced as well as food and shelter being provided for hoverflies and other natural enemies of pest species.

Despite the complexity of the site, and the short time period over which the experiment was carried out and the fact that this was a small-scale experiment, the model flower 'worked'. However further refining of the model and further testing in a crop environment is important.

During years 2001-5 yellow water trap data were collected to monitor local syrphid populations during the period of this project (Appendix). This phenology study was useful in that it provided information concerning the occurrence of gravid females of hoverfly species important in the biological control of aphids such as *E. balteatus*. This species was the most abundant throughout the project with *E. corollae* also well represented. This suggests that targeting *E. balteatus*, the most important hoverfly for the control of aphids on agricultural land (Chambers *et al.*, 1986) where there are different preferences between hoverfly species for e.g. colour, is a sensible option.

As was found by Owen (1991), there were huge fluctuations in numbers of hoverflies between years. In 2001 and 2005 numbers trapped were two orders of magnitude higher than in the years in between. Unfortunately these (2002-4) were the main years in which experiments that involved measuring oviposition were carried out. These figures emphasise the fact that pest control that relies on biological agents is never going to be entirely predictable. However in all years, no matter what the overall population levels, the peak period for gravid females was consistently at the end of July or the beginning of August. This suggests that there is potential in using targets in crops that mature later in the year and are susceptible to aphid attack.

The work has consistently produced evidence that model flowers do attract gravid hoverflies and that their presence leads to increased syrphid oviposition in their vicinity. Importantly, the work has shown that a visual cue and an aphid stimulus elicit an oviposition response whether or not food resources are available. A model based on optimum height, size, pattern and colour was tested in the field and proved effective. This could be of great interest to farmers and growers. Model flowers may attract hoverflies to fruit orchards, nursery gardens, horticultural industries and crop fields, where aphids can cause economic damage to herbs, flowers and ground crops such as spinach, cabbage and broccoli throughout the growing season.

However there still remain many questions to answer. Apart from those addressed earlier in this discussion, areas in which further research could be carried out include:

- 1. Many features of model flowers e.g. morphology, were not considered in the design of the model flower and would be worth investigating. Another area that could be explored would be to look at the angle at which model flowers are presented. In female Hessian flies, for example, Harris *et al.* (1993) demonstrated that vertical shapes were more attractive than shapes presented horizontally. Surface texture and other tactile cues may also improve the design of the model flower. It is also possible that the motion of floral parts may enhance visibility. This could be accomplished by placing model
  - 162

flowers on flexible 'stems'. Further work on the effects of adding volatiles to the model are also needed.

- 2. How far apart do model flowers need to be, where should they be sited and should they be presented singly or in groups?
- 3. This study did not investigate the impact of model flowers on the dynamics of aphid populations in the crop and therefore the economic effects of using this method to enhance oviposition by aphidophagous hoverflies still needs to be assessed.

# Appendix

### Analysis of yellow water trap data from 2001-2005.

The data (from yellow water traps) included here was collected during the course of this project, from a large garden (2001 - 2002) and from the farm where the main experiments were carried out (2003 - 2005).

### Garden site

The garden was a 2-acre site at Carriers Crossing, Salisbury, Wiltshire (OS Grid ref. SU 338 125) (Fig.1) which provided habitats abundant in floral resources, the main species being *Senecio monroi* (ragwort), *Campanulla* spp. (bariegata), *Sedam kamtschaticum* (stonecrop), *Lamium album* (white dead nettle), *Papaver orientale* (poppy) and *Lavandula angustifolia* (lavender). Other plant species included *Vicia faba* (broad bean), *Phaseolus coccineus* (runner bean), *Peucedanum graveolens* (dill), *Mentha spicata* (mint), *Ocimum basilicum* (basil), *Salvia officinalis* (sage), *Thymus vulgaris* (thyme), *Festuca elatior, F. ovina* (meadow fescues) and *Anthoxanthum odoratum, Lolium perenne* (grasses). The site also had an assortment of *Fagus sylvatica* (beech), *Alnus glutinosa* (Alder) and *Corylus avellana* (hazel) species.

To the north, east and west of the site, water meadows were managed by Country Stewardship. To the south, mature maple lined the boundary fence. Behind this, a large field was under winter wheat. The whole area was designated a Special Site of Scientific Interest.

### Field sites 2003 -2005

In 2003, 2004 and 2005, syrphids were collected from four winter wheat fields (between 14 & 16-ha) (harvested 16<sup>th</sup> August) located at Uggford Farm, Wilton, Salisbury, Wiltshire, UK. Field boundaries for each site consisted primarily of hawthorn hedgerows (*Crataegus monogyna*), hazel (*Corylus avellana*), beech

(*Fagus sylvatica*) and alder (*Alnus glutinosa*) interspersed with common chalkland grasses such as cocksfoot (*Dactylis glomerata*) and broome (*Bromus erectus*). In the open spaces, the main flowering species were hogweed (*Heracleum sphondylium*), white dead nettle (*L. album*), hedge mustard (*Sisymbrium officinale*), field scabious (*Knautia arvensis*) and sheepsbit scabious (*Jasione* montana) and red and white clovers (*Trifolium pratense, T. repens*). A farm track ran parallel to one side of each field.



Figure 1. Sketch map of the site at Carriers Crossing, Salisbury, Wiltshire (not to scale).

### The treatments

In each year, the type of trap used was a 19 cm diameter x 2cm deep flowerpot tray pre-sprayed with fluorescent yellow enamel paint. (see Chapter 2, Methods section for details of trap preparation). Traps contained tap water and a few drops of ordinary household detergent (this enabled the insects to drown quickly). Traps were emptied, cleaned and reset at intervals (see below for details).

# 2001/2

Traps were treated with Glocote 1263 (Goo-Var Ltd., high visibility). Sets of five traps (total 40) were placed on the ground in a straight line with 45 cm between in eight different parts of the garden (see Fig.1). The minimum distance between sets of traps was 25 metres. Traps were left for seven days and then emptied. In 2001, collections of hoverflies were made from 8 July to 15 September and in 2002, from 26 May to 25 August.

### 2003-5

In each of the years 2003 to 2005, 15 traps were treated with Plasti-Kote 142S fluorescent yellow enamel paint. Single traps were placed on the ground at 25 metre intervals in the field margins of three winter wheat fields (five in each field). Traps were left out for 48h before emptying. Collections of hoverflies were made from 8 July to 11 August (2003), 21 May to 27 August (2004) and from 9 July to 11 August (2005).

#### 2.2.4. Identification

Syrphid catches were transferred to 70% alcohol in labelled plastic vials and then identified to species and sex using keys from Stubbs & Falk (2000). Female syrphids were dissected, and any eggs counted. Flies were placed on a glass slide and the head and thorax removed with a scalpel under a dissecting microscope (x60). The ventral surface of the abdomen was then freed from the underlying membranes (Gilbert, 1993) using a curved pin. A drop of water was added to prevent drying before exuding the abdominal contents with forceps.

# Meteorological data

Meteorological station weather data for Wiltshire was obtained for the years 2001 – 2005 (Met. Office: 2001 – 2005).

### Analysis

As the numbers of traps, and collection periods differed between years, data were analysed as the number of aphidophagous syrphids and gravid females caught per trap per day. Only data from traps emptied from 12 July to 11 August were included in the analysis since very few syrphids, and only three gravid females, were trapped before or after these dates.

#### Results

#### Numbers and species of syrphids

Table 1 shows the number of all adult aphidophagous syrphids and the number and percentages of gravid females caught per trap per day over the period of analysis in each year and Figures 2 a-d show the actual numbers of males, females and gravid females counted on for each collection period. The main species trapped was *E. balteatus* (79% of all adults and 72% of all gravid females). The next most represented species was *E. corollae* (8% of all adults and 13% of gravid females). This general pattern applied to each year over which collecting took place (Fig 2 a – d). Other species trapped included *Syrphus ribesii, S. vitripennis, Scaeva pyrastri, Platycheirus* species, *Sphaerophoria scripta, Chrysotoxum bicinctum* (L.) and *Xanthandrus comtus* (Harris) species. Overall, more females were caught than males (Figs 2. a and c).

There were very big fluctuations between years in numbers of syrphids trapped (Table 1) Total numbers of gravid females trapped in individual years varied from nine in 2003 (0.06 per trap per day) nine in 2004 (0.06) and 14 in 2002 (0.01) to

280 (1.87) in 2005 and 608 (0.43) in 2001 (Fig. 2 b and d). The same pattern was seen for all adults combined (Fig. 2 a and c).

Percentages of gravid females in each collection varied, but the highest numbers of gravids, and for adult syrphids overall, were always found in trap catches emptied at the end of July or the beginning of August.

# 2.3.2. Weather conditions

July 2001 was a dull month with near normal rainfall and temperature. August temperatures approached 32°C with most areas receiving more sunshine than average. Conditions in 2002 were wet throughout July and early August with higher than average rainfall. In July and August 2003 temperatures were above average and conditions were very warm and sunny across all parts of the UK. In July 2004, Wiltshire and the UK generally, received above average rainfall. August was a very wet month and mean temperatures were only one or two degrees higher than average? In 2005, rainfall varied across the south in July and August, although mean temperatures were above average.

Year	ear 12 July		21 July		29 July		6 August			13 August					
	All	Gravid	%	All	Gravid	%	All	Gravid	%	All	Gravid	%	All	Gravid	%
2001	0.400	0.021	5.2	2.200	0.329	4.9	13.411	0.704	5.2	5.107	0.990	19.4	0.736	0.011	17.5
2002	0.050	0.007	14.0	0.043	0.011	25.6	0.200	0.018	9.0	0.082	0.004	4.9	0.096	0.011	11.5
		12 July		21 July		29 July		6 August		13 August					
	All	Gravid	%	All	Gravid	%I	All	Gravid	%	All	Gravid	%	All	Gravid	%
2003	0.867	0.033	3.8	0.433	0.000	0.0	0.700	0.133	19.0	0.200	0.067	33.5	0.233	0.067	28.8
2004	0.133	0.067	50.0	0.133	0.067	50.0	0.233	0.033	14.2	0.400	0.100	25.0	0.333	0.033	9.1
2005	1.600	0.333	20.8	13.000	0.200	15.4	120.800	6.633	5.5	16.670	1.433	8.6	12.467	0.733	5.9

**Table 1**. Numbers of all aphidophagous syrphid and gravid females caught per day per trap from traps emptied between 12 July and 11 August in each year. Percentages refer to the percentage of gravid females in the catch. Data for 2001 and 2 were derived from the combined contents of 40 traps, arranged in sets of five, and data for 2003-5 were derived from 15 traps set out singly.



**Figure 2a.** Total numbers of male and female aphidophagous syrphids caught in traps in 2001 and 2002. Each bar represents the combined contents of 40 yellow water traps over a collecting period of seven days.


**Figure 2.b.** Numbers of gravid female aphidophagous syrphids trapped in 2001 and 2002. Each bar represents the combined contents of 40 yellow water traps over a collecting period of seven days.



**Figure 2.c**. Total numbers of male and female aphidophagous syrphids caught in traps in 2003-2005. Each bar represents the combined contents of 15 yellow water traps over a collecting period of two days.









**Figure 2.d**. Numbers of gravid female aphidophagous syrphids trapped between 2003 and 2005. Each bar represents the combined contents of 15 yellow water traps over a collecting period of two days.

## Conclusions

In each year, a similar pattern was seen in that *E. balteatus* was overwhelmingly the most abundant gravid species throughout the trapping period. This suggests that tailoring attractants to this species in particular where there are inter-species preferences in terms of colour or other factors such as height or size of targets is likely to achieve the best overall results in terms of enhanced biocontrol of aphids.

From this work, and the work of others described above, potentially, the most effective period to put out model flower targets to attract gravid females to enhance biocontrol of aphids by syrphid larvae would be in late July and early August when peak occurrences are seen. This is too late to coincide with the period when the main cereal crops in U.K. are susceptible to aphids and crops targeted would need to be those that mature later in the season. The effectiveness of doing this would also be dependent on weather conditions remaining suitable for the successful hatching and maturation of the larvae. Exploitation of aphid colonies before host-plant quality declines and weather conditions change is important if biological control is to be achieved (van Emden *et al.*, 1969).

However as there is much evidence that syrphid larvae are effective predators of aphids in cereal crops in the U.K., with *E. balteatus* the most dominant predator in aphid colonies on wheat in midsummer (Sadeghi & Gilbert, 2000), targeting gravid females from early summer onwards for crops where aphids may be a problem during this period would be recommended, despite the fact that few or none were trapped at the relevant times in this project.

## REFERENCES

- ADAMS, J. (2007) *Lilacs-Overtaken by Scent*. Landscape Planning: Practical Techniques for the Home Gardener.
- ALMOHAMAD, R., VERHEGGEN, F. J., FRANCIS, F. & HAUBRUGE, E (2006) Evaluation of hoverfly *Episyrphus balteatus* De Geer (Diptera: Syrphidae) oviposition behaviour toward aphid-infested plants using a leaf disc system. *Communications in Agricultural and Applied Biological Sciences* **71**, 404-412.
- ALMOHAMAD, R., VERHEGGEN, F. J., FRANCIS, F. & HAUBRUGE, E. (2007) Predatory hoverflies select their oviposition site according to aphid host plant and aphid species. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **125** (1), 13–21.
- ANKERSMIT, G. W., DIJKMAN, H., KEUNING, N. J., MERTENS, H., SINS, A & TACOMA, H. M (1986) *Episyrphus balteatus* as a predator of the aphid *Sitobion avenae* on winter wheat. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **42**, 271-277.
- ARIKAWA, F.N., CUNNOLD, D.M. & PRINN, R.G (1987) Pentachromatic visual system in a butterfly. *Naturwissenschaften* **74**, 297-298.
- ARRIGNON, F., SARTHOU, J.P., DECONCHAT, M. & MONTELL, C. (2005) What we should know about *Episyrphus balteatus* to improve the modelling of its individual overwintering survival? 3r<sup>d</sup> International Symposium on Syrphidae, 5<sup>th</sup> September, Leiden, The Netherlands.
- ASGARI, A. (1966) Untersuchungen über die im Raum Stuttgart-Hobenheim als wichtigste Prädatoren der grünen Apfelblattlaus (*Aphidula pomi* Deg.) auftetenden Arthropoden. *Zeitschrift für Angewandte Zoologie* 53, 35 – 93.
- ASHBY, J. W. & POTTINGER, R. P. (1974) Natural regulation of *Pieris rapae* Linnaeus (Lepidoptera: Pieridae) in Canterbury, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research* **17**, 229-239.
- VAN DEN ASSEM, J. (1996) Mating behaviour. In *Insect Natural Enemies: Practical Approaches to their Study and Evaluation*. Eds. M. Jervis & N. Kidd. Chapman and Hall, London, pp 163-221.
- AUBERT, J., AUBERT, J. J. & GOELDLIN, P (1976) Twelve years of systematic trapping of syrphids at Bretolet Pass in the Alps, *Mitteilungen der schweizerischen entomologischen Gesellschaft* **49**, 115-142.

- AVIDOV, Z., BALSHIN, M. & GERSON, U (1970) Studies on Aphytis coheni: A parasite of the California Red Scale, Aonidiella aurantii, in Israel Entomophaga **15**, 191-207.
- AZMEK, S.J., OWEN, K., SORENSEN, D. & GILBERT, F. (1998) Mimicry profiles are affected by human-induced habitat changes. *Proceedings. Royal Society London* B **265**, 2285 – 2290.
- BACKHAUS, W. (1991) Colour opponent coding in the visual system of the bee. *Vision Res.* **31**, 1381-1397.
- BACKHAUS, W. (1993) Colour vision and colour choice behaviour of the honeybee. *Aphidologie* **24**, 309 331.
- BACKHAUS, W.G. K., KLIEGL, R. & WERNER, J.S. (1998) Colour Vision: Perspectives from Different Disciplines. Berlin, Germany: De Gruyter.
- BACKHAUS, W., MENZEL, R. & KREIßL, S. (1987) Multidimensional scaling of colour similarity in bees. In: *Journal of Comparative Physiology A* Eds. L. Chittka & R. Menzel. **171**, pp 171-181.
- BAKER, H. G. & BAKER, I. (1979) Starch in angiosperm pollen grains and its evolutionary significance. In: *Annual Review Entomology* 28, Eds. P. G. Kevan & H. G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- BAKER, H. G., BAKER, I. (1983) Floral nectar sugar constituents in relation to pollination type. In: *Handbook of Experimental Pollination*. Eds. C.E. Jones & J. Little, New York: Von Nostrand.
- BAKER, T.C. & CARDÉ, R.T. (1984) Techniques for behavioural bioassays. In: WYATT, T. D. (1997) Methods in Studying Insect Behaviour. In: Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology. Eds. D.R. Dent & M. P. Walton, CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- BALL, S.G. & MORRIS, R.K.A. (2000) *Provisional atlas of British Hoverflies* (*Diptera*). Biological Records Centre, Huntingdon.
- BANKOWSKA, R. (1980) Fly communities of the family Syrphiae in natural and anthropogenic habitats in Poland, *Memorabilia Zoologica* **33**, 3-93.
- BANKS, C. J. (1953) Studies on the predator complex of certain Aphididae (Hem.) with particular reference to Aphis fabae (Scop.) PhD Thesis, London University.
- BARBOSA, P. & LETOURNEAU, D.K. (1988) Novel Aspects of Insect-Plant Interactions. Wiley, New York, pp 362.

- BARGEN, H., SAUDHOF, K. & POEHLING, H. M. (1998) Prey finding by larvae and adult females of *Episyrphus balteatus*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **87**, 245-254.
- BARKER, A. M. & MACZKA, J. M. (1996) The relationships between host selection and subsequent larval performance in three free-living graminivorous sawflies. *Ecolological Entomology* **21**, 317-327.
- BARLOW, C. A. (1961) On the biology and reproductive capacity of *Syrphus* corallae Fab. In: the laboratory. *Entomologia Experimentalis et* Applicata **4**, 91–100.
- BARTLETT, B. R., BLAIR, R. & ORTEGA, J. C. (1952) Relation between natural enemies and DDT-induced increases in frosted scale and other pests of walnuts. In: *Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds*. Ed. P. Debach, Chapman and Hall Ltd.
- BARTON BROWN, L. (1993) Physiologically induced changes in resourceorientated behaviour. In: *Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology.* Eds. D. R. Dent, J. R. Miller, T.A Miller & M. P. Walton, CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- BECK, S.D. & REESE, J.C. (1976) Insect-plant interactions: nutrition and metabolism. *Recent Advances in Phytochemistry*, **10**, 41-92.
- BELL, G. (1985) On the function of flowers. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B*, **224**, 223-265.
- BELL, W.J. & CARDE, R.T. (1984) *The Chemical Ecology of Insects.* Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Mass.
- BELL, W.J., KIPP, L. R. & COLLINS, R. D. (1995) The role of chemo-orientation in search behaviour. In: *Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology.* Eds. J. R. Miller & T.A Miller, D. R. Dent & M. P. Walton. CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- BERNAYS, E. A. & CHAPMAN, R. F. (1994) *Host-plant Selection by Phytophagous Insects.* Chapman and Hall, London.
- BIRCH, M. C. & HAYES, K. F. (1982) *Insect Pheromones.* Studies in Biology **147**, Edward Arnold, London.
- BIRKETT, M.A., CAMPBELL, C. A. M., CHAMBERLAIN, K., GUERRIERI, E., HICK, A.J. MARTIN, J.L. MATTHES, M., NAPIER, J.A., PETTERSSON, J. PICKETT, J.A., POPPY, G.M., POW, E.M., PYE, B.J., SMART, L.E., WADHAMS, G.H., WADHAMS, L.J. &

WOODCOCK, C.M. (2000) New roles for *cis*-jasmone as an insect semiochemical and in plant defense. PNAS **97**, 9329-9334.

- BIRKETT, M.A., CHAMBERLAIN, K., HOOPER, A.M. & PICKETT, J.A. (2001) Does allelopathy offer real promise for practical weed management and for exploiting rhizosphere interactions involving higher plants? *Plant and Soil* **232**, 31-39.
- BLACK, J. (1994) The biochemistry and biosynthesis of nepetalactone. University of Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.
- BOMBOSCH, S. (1962) Untersuchung über die Auslösung der Eiablage bei Syrphus corollae Fabr. (dipt. Syrphidae). Z. Angew. In: Ethology 6, Ed. E. Kan. pp 135-142.
- BOMBOSCH, S. (1963) Untersuchungen zur Vermehrung von Aphis fabae Scop. Entomology **52**, 105-141.
- BONNEMAISON, L. (1972) Aphides et traitments insecticides du pommier I. Facteurs des pullulations aphidiennes sur le pommier. *Annales de Zoologie, Ecologie Animale* **4**, 129-149.
- BORDEN, J.H., HUNT, D.W.A. MILLER, D.R. & SLESSOR, K.N. (1986) Orientation in forest Coleoptera: an uncertain outcome of responses by individual beetles to variable stimuli. In: *Mechanisms in Insect Olfaction*, Eds. T.L. Payne, M.C. Birch and C.E.J. Kennedy, Oxford Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp 97-116.
- BOUCHARD, Y. & CLOUTIER, C. (1984) Honeydew as a source of hostsearching kairomones for the aphid parasitoid Aphidius nigripes (Hymenoptera: Aphidiidae). Canadian Journal of Zoology 62, 1513-1520.
- BOWIE, M. H., GURR, M. H., HOSSAIN, G. M., BAGGEN, Z. & FRAMPTON, C. M. (1999) Effects of distance from field edge on aphidophagous insects in a wheat crop and observations on trap design and placement. *International Journal of Pest Management* **45** (1), 69 – 73.
- BRANQUART, E. (1999) Life-history strategies of hoverflies with predacious larvae (Diptera: Syrphinae). *Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment* **150**, 29.
- BRANQUARTE, E. & HEMPTINNE, J. L. (2000) Development of ovaries, allometry of reproductive traits and fecundity of *Episyrphus*

*balteatus* (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Eur. J. Entomologia* **97** (2), 165 – 170.

- BROOKS, L., HEIN, G., JOHNSON, G., LEGG, D., MASSEY, B., MORRISON, P., WEISS, M. & PEARS, F. (1994) Economic impact of the Russian Wheat aphid in the western United States: 1991-1992. *Great Plains Agricultural Council Publication* **147**, 250-268.
- BRUCE, T.J.A., MARTIN, J.L., PICKETT, J.A., PYE, B.J., SMART, L.E. & WADHAMS, L.J. (2003) Cis-jasmone treatment induces resistance in wheat plants against the grain aphid, *Sitobion avenae* (Fabricius) (Homoptera: Aphididae). Pest Management Science **59**, 1031-1036.
- BRUNEL, E., MESQUIDA, J., RENARD, M. & TANGUY, X. (1994) Répartition de l'entomofaune pollinisatrice sue des fleurs de colza (*Brassica napus* L.) et de navette (*Brassica campestris* L.): Incidence du caractère apétale de la navette. *Apidologie* 25, 12-20.
- BUDENBERG, W. J. & POWELL, W. (1992) The role of honeydew as an ovipositional stimulant for two species of syrphids. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **64**, 57-61.
- BUGG, R. L. (1992) Habitat manipulation to enhance the effectiveness of aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). Sustainable Agriculture Technical Review **5** (2), 2, 1-8.
- BURGIO, G. & SOMMAGGIO, D (2007) Syrphids as landscape bioindicators in Italian agroecosystems: *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **120** (2 4), 416-422.
- BURKHARDT, D. (1983) Wavelength perception and colour vision. In: *The Biology of photoreception* **36**, Eds. D.J. Cosens & D. Vince-Price, *Society of Experimental Biology Symposium,* pp 371-397.
- BUTLER, C. G. (1951) The importance of perfume in the discovery of food by the worker honeybee (*Apis mellifora* L.) In: *Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees*. Ed. J.B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England (1970), pp 269-265.
- BYERS, J.A. (1988) Novel diffusion-dilution method for release of semiochemicals testing pheromone component ratios on western pine beetle. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **14**, 199-212.

- BYERS, J.A. (1992) Optimal fractionation and bioassay plans for isolation of synergistic chemicals: the subtractive-combination method. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **18**, 1603-1621.
- CANTELO, W.W. & JACOBSON, M. (1979) Phenylacetaldehyde attracts moths to bladder flower and to blacklight traps. *Annual Revue of Entomology* **28**, 407-438.
- CARTER, M. C. & DIXON, A, F.C. (1984) Honeydew: an arrestant stimulus for coccinellids. *Ecological Entomology* **9**, 383-387.
- CARTER, N., MCLEAN, I. F.G., WATT, A. D. & DIXON, A. F. G. (1980) Cereal aphids: a case study and review. In: *Integrated control of cereal pests,* Eds. J. L. Hemptinne, J. L., Doucet & C. Gaspar. *IOBC/WPRS Bulletin* **17**, pp 1-12.
- CHAMBERS, R. J. (1991) Oviposition by aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphiade) in relation to aphid density and distribution in winter wheat. In: Oviposition site selection of Episyrphus balteatus. Eds.
   D. Scholz & H.M. Peohling. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 94, pp 149-158.
- CHAMBERS, R.J. & ADAMS, H.K. (1986) Quantification of the impact of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) on cereal aphids in winter wheat: An analysis of field populations. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **23**, 895-904.
- CHAMBERS, R. J. SUNDERLAND, WYATT, I. J., VICKERMAN, G.) (1983) The effects of predator exclusion and caging on cereal aphids in winter wheat. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **20**, 209 -224.
- CHAMBERS, R. J. SUNDERLAND, K. D. STACEY, D. L. & WYATT, I. J. (1986) Control of cereal aphids in winter wheat by natural enemies: aphid specific predators, parasitoids and pathogenic fungi. *Annals of Applied Biology* **108**, 219-231.
- CHANDLER, A. E. F. (1965) Some aspects of host plant selection in aphidophagous Syrphidae. In: *Ecology of Aphidophagous Insects, Proceedings Symposium.* Ed. I. Hodek. Academia Publishing House, Prague, pp 113-115.
- CHANDLER, A. E. F. (1967) Oviposition response by aphidophagous Syrphidae (Diptera). *Nature* **213**, 736.
- CHANDLER, A. E. F. (1968a) Height preferences for oviposition of aphidophagous Syrphidae (Diptera). *Entomophaga* **13**, 187-195.

- CHANDLER, A.E.F. (1968b) Some host-plant factors affecting oviposition by aphidophagous Syrphidae (Diptera). *Annals of Applied Biology* **61**, 415-423.
- CHANDLER, A. E. F. (1968c) Some factors influencing the site and occurrence of oviposition by aphidophagous Syrphidae (Diptera). *Annals of Applied Biology* **61**, 435-446.
- CHANDLER, A. E. F. (1968d) The relationship between aphid infestations and oviposition by aphidophagous Syrphidae (Diptera). Annals of Applied Biology 61, 425-446.
- CHAPMAN, J. W., KNAPP, J.J. & GOULSON, D. (1999) Visual responses of *Musca domestica* to pheromone impregnated targets in poultry units. Medical and Veterinary Entomology **13**, 132-138.
- CHITTKA, L. (1996) Does bee colour vision predate the evolution of flower colour? *Naturwissenschaften*, **76**, 82-83.
- CHITTKA, L. BEIER, W., HERTEL, H. STEINMANN, E. & MENZEL, R. (1992) Opponent colour coding is a universal strategy to evaluate the photoreceptor signals in Hymenoptera. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A* **170**, 545-563.
- CHITTKA, L. & LUNAU, K. (1992) Colour coding and innate preferences for flower colour patterns in bumblebees. In: *Rhythmogenesis in neurons and networks.* Eds. N. Elsner, D.W. Richter. *Proceedings* 20<sup>th</sup> Göttingen Neurobiology Conference, 1992, Thieme, Stuttgart, pp 298.
- CHITTKA, L. & MENZEL, R. (1992) The evolutionary adaptation of flower colours and the insect pollinators' colour vision. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A* **171**, 171-181.
- CHITTKA, L. & WASER, N.M. (1997) Why red flowers are not invisible to bees. Isreal Journal of Plant Science **45**, 169-184.
- CIEPIELEWSKA, D. (1996) The occurrence of aphid predators on crops and their neighbourhood in Olszryn macroregion. In: Variation in species spectrum of hoverflies (Diptera: Surphudae) in arable crops depending on the collection method. Eds. G. Sobotag & J. Twardowski (2004) Electronic Journal of Polish Agricultural Universities 7 (2), pp 1-9.
- CLARK, L. R. (1963) The influence of predation by *Syrphus* sp. On the numbers of *Cardiaspina albitextura* (Psyllidae). *Australian Journal of Zoology* **11**, 470-487.

- CODERRE. D. & TOURNEUR, J. C. (1988) Summer decline in aphid populations on maize. *Revue d'Entomologie du Quebec* **33**, 16 – 24.
- COE, R. L. (1953) Diptera. Family Syrphidae. *Handbook for the identification of British Insects* **10**, 1-98.
- COGIN, R. & ZAKAR, K. (1976) *Biocjem. Systems Ecol.* 4, 165-168.
- CONNER J. (1997) Floral evolution in wild radish: the roles of pollinators, natural selection, and genetic correlations among traits. *International Journal of Plant Science* **158**, 108-120.
- COLLETT, T.S. & LAND, M. F. (1975) Visual spatial memory in a hoverfly. Journal of Comparative Physiology **100**, 59-84.
- COLLEY, M.R. & LUNA, J.M. (2000) Relative attractiveness of potential beneficial insectary plants to aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Entomological Society of America*, October 2000. 1054-1059.
- COOMBES, D.S. & SOTHERTON, N. W. (1986) The dispersal and distribution of polyphagous predatory Coleoptera in cereals. In: *The Usefulness of Phacelia tanacetifolia strips as a resource for aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) on arable land.* Ed. J.M. Hickman. Ph. D.Thesis, University of Southampton.
- COURTNEY, S.P., CHEN, G.K. & GARDNER, A. (1989) A general model for individual host selection. *Oikos* **55**, 55-65.
- COURTNEY, S. P. & KIBOTA, T. T. (1990) Mother does not know best: selection of hosts by ovipositing insects. In: *Insect-plant Interactions* **11**, Ed. E. A. Bernays. CRC, Boca Raton, pp 161-188.
- COWGILL, S. (1989) The role of non-crop habitats on hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) adults and the distribution and composition of their eggs in winter wheat. *Annals of Applied Biology* **123**, 499-515.
- COWGILL, S. (1990) The ecology of hoverflies on arable land. *Game Conservancy Review* **21**, 70-71.
- COWGILL, S. (1991) The role of field boundaries in hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) foraging on arable land. *Proceedings of the Brighton Crop Protection Conference-Weeds*, 1103-1108.
- COWGILL, S. E. WRATTEN, S. D. & SOTHERTON, N. W. (1993) The selective use of floral resources by the hoverfly *Episyrphus balteatus*

(Diptera: Syrphidae) on farmland. *Annals of Applied Biology* **122**, 223-231.

- CRONIN, T.W. & MARSHALL, N. J. (1989) Multiple spectral classes of photoreceptors in the retinas of gonodactyloid stomopod crustaceans, *J. Comp. Physiol. A.* **106**, 267-275.
- CRONIN, T. W., MARSHALL, N.J. QUINN, C.A. & KING, C.A. (1994) Ultraviolet perception in mantis shrimp. *Vision Res.* **34**, 1443-1449.
- CRONIN, T.W., JÄRVILEHTO, M., WECKSTRÖM, M. & LALL, A. B. (2000) Tuning of photoreceptor spectral sensitivity in fireflies (Coleoptera: Lampyridae) *Journal of Comparative Physiology A* **106**, 267 – 275.
- DAFNI, A., LEHRER, M. & KEVAN, P.G. (1997) Spatial flower parameters and insect spatial vision. *Biological Reviews* **72**, 239-282.
- DAUMER, K. (1956) Reizmetrische Untersuchungen des Farbensehens der Bienen. In: *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, **204**. Eds. P.G. Kevan, L. Chittka & A.G. Dyer, pp 2571-2580.
- DAUMER, K. (1963) Blumenfarben, wie sie die Bienen sehen. In: Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees.
   Ed. J. B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England, (1970) pp 269-265.
- DAVIES, A. (1993) There to bee seen. *The British Journal of Photography*, 22-24.
- DAWSON, G.W., GRIFFITHS, D.C., JANES, N.F., MUDD, A., PICKETT, J.A., WADHAMS, L. J. & WOODCOCK, C.M. (1987) *Nature* **325**, 614-616.
- DEAN, G.J (1974) Effects of parasites and predators on the cereal aphids *Metopolophium dirhodum* and *Macrosiphum avenae* (Hem: Aphididae), *Bulletin of Entomological Research* **63**, 411 – 422.
- DEAN, G.J. (1982) Phenology of aphid predators. *Annals of Applied Biology* **101**, 182-184.
- DEBACH, P. (1973) *Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds.* Chapman & Hall Ltd, London.
- DEFRA (2002) New Semiochemical Opportunities from Nepeta spp as a nonfood crop. CIMNFC link project (NF0523).

- DEFRA (2006) Final Project Report CSG15. Rothamsted Research, Harpenden, Herts. AL5 2JQ.
- DEGEN, T. & STÄDLER, E. (1997) Foliar form, colour and surface characteristics influence oviposition in the carrot fly. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **83**, 99-112.
- DEMENT, W.A. & RAVEN, P.H. (1974) Nature 252, 705-706.
- DENNIS, P. & FRY, G. L. A. (1992) Field margins: can they enhance natural enemy population densities and general arthropod diversity on farmland. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **40**, 95-115.
- DICKE, M. & SABELIS, M.W. (1988) Infochemical terminology: should it be used on cost-benefit analysis rather than origin of compounds? *Functional Ecology* **2**, 131-139.
- DICKE, M., SABELIS, M. W. & TAKABAYASHI, J. (1990) Symp. Biol. Hung. 39, 127-134.
- DICKE, M., VAN BECK, T., VAN POSTHUMUS, M.A., BEN DOM, N., VAN BOKHOVEN, H. & DE GROOT, Æ. (1990) Costs and benefits of chemical information conveyance: proximate and ultimate factors. In: *Insect Chemical Ecology*. Eds. B.D. Roitberg & M. B. Isman. Chapman & Hall (1992), pp 122 -148.
- DICKENS, J.C. (1999) Are herbivore-induced plant volatiles reliable indicators of herbivore identity to foraging carnivorous arthropods? *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **91**, 131-142.
- DINKEL (1999) In: Flower recognition by Eristalis tenax. Ed. K. Lunau. Verhandlungen der Westdeutscher Entomologentag 1998, pp 81-88.
- DINKEL, T. & LUNAU, K. (1976) How drone flies (Eristalis tenax L., Syrphidae, Diptera) use floral guides to locate food sources. *Journal of Insect Physiology* **47** (10), 1111 – 1118.
- DINKEL, T. & LANAU, K. (2001) How drone flies (Eristalis tenax L., Syrphidae, Diptera) use floral guides to locate food sources. Institut fur Neurobiologie, AG Zoologie und Didaktik der Biologie, Heinrich-Heine-Universitat, Universitatsstrasse 1, D-40225, Dusseldorf, Germany.
- DISNEY, R.H. L., ERZINCLIOGLU, Y. Z., HENSHAW, D.J. de C., HOWSE, D., UNWIN, D.M., WITHERS, P. & WOODS, A. (1982) Collecting

methods and the adequacy of attempted faunal surveys, with special reference to the Diptera. *Field Studies* **5**, 607-621.

- DIXON, T. J. (1959) Studies on the oviposition behaviour of Syrphidae (Diptera). In: Resource assessment and utilisation by aphidophagous syrphids, and its implications for integrated pest management. Ed. J. P. SUTHERLAND, Ph. D Thesis (1998), Manchester Metropolitan University.
- DIXON, A. F. G. (1970) Factors limiting the effectiveness of the coccinellid beetle, *Adalia bipunctata* (L), as a predator of the sycamore aphid, *Drepanosiphum platanoides* (Schr.): *Journal of Animal Ecology* **39**, 739-751.
- DIXON, A. F. G. (1985) Aphid Ecology. Blackie, Glasgow.
- DIXON, A. F. G. (1987) The way of life of aphids: host specificity, speciation and distribution. In: *World Crop Pests 2A*. Eds. A. K. Mirıks & P. Harrewijn, Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 197-208.
- DIXON, A. F.G. & AGARWALA, B. K. (1999) Ladybird-Induced Life-History Changes in Aphids. *Proceedings: Biological Sciences* **266** (1428), 1549-1553.
- DONG, K., DONG KUN., DONG YAN., DONG, Y., LUO, Y. Z. & LUO YOUZHEN (2004) Rearing method of the adults of *Episyrphus balteaus* in the laboratory. *Entomological Knowledge* **41** (2), 157 – 160.
- DUKAS, R. & REAL, L. (1991) Learning foraging tasks by bees: a comparison between social and solitary species. *Animal Behaviour* **42**, 269-276.
- DYER, A. G. (1998) The colour of flowers in spectrally variable illumination and insect pollinator vision. *J. Comp. Physiol. A.* **183**, 203-212.
- DZIOCK, F. & SARTHOU, J.P. (2005) A review on the use of hoverflies as bioindicators (Diptera: Syrphdae). UFZ-Centre for Environmental Research, Dept. of Conservation, Biology. Permuser Str. 15, D04318 Leipzig, Germany.
- EARLY, J. W. (1984) *Parasites and Predators.* In: *New Zealand Pest and Beneficial Insects.* Ed. R. R. Scott. Lincoln University College of Agriculture, Canterbury, New Zealand.
- EDMUNDS, M. (2000) Why are there good and poor mimics? Biological *Journal* of the Linnean Society, **70**, 459 466.

EISNER, T. (1964) Science, N.Y. 146, 1318-1320.

- EISNER, T., EISNER, M., HYYPIO, P. A., ANESHANSLEY, D. & SILBERSGLEID, R.E. (1973) *Science N.Y.* **179**, 486.
- EISNER, T., JOHNESSE, J.S., CARVELL, J., HENDRY, L.B. & MEINWALD, J. (1974) *Science. N.Y.* **172**, 277-279.
- ELLE, E. & CARNEY, R. (2003) Reproductive assurance varies with flower size in Collinsia parviflora (Scrophulariaceae). *American Journal of Botany* **90**, 888-896.
- ELZINGA, R. J. & BROCE, A. B. (1986) Labellar modifications of Muscomorpha flies (Diptera). *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* **79**, 150-209.
- ELZINGA, R.J. & BROCE, A.B. (1989) Labellar modifications of Muscomorpha flies (Diptera). In: *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 67, Eds. F.S. Gilbert & M. Jervis, pp 495-535.
- VAN EMDEN, H. F. (1965) The role of uncultivated land in the biology of crop pests and beneficial insects. *Science Horticultural* **17**, 121-136.
- VAN EMDEN, H.F. & SWIRSKI, E. (1969) The ecology of *Myzus persicae*. A. Rev. Ent. **14**, 197-270.
- VAN EMDEN, H. F. (1983) The interaction of plant resistance and natural enemies: Effects on populations of sucking insects. In: *Interactions* of *Plant Resistance and Parasitoids and Predators of Insects*. Eds. D.J. Boethel & R.D. Eikenbary. Wiley, New York, pp 138-150.
- VAN EMDEN, H. F. (1987) Cultural methods: the plant. In: *Integrated Pest Management*, Eds. A. J. Burn, T. H. Coaker & P.C. Jepson. Academic Press, London, pp 27-68.
- VAN EMDEN, H.F. (1988) The potential for managing indigenous natural enemies of aphids on field crops. *Philosophical Translations of the Royal Society of London*, B **318**, 183-201.
- VAN EMDEN, H. F. (1990) Tri-trophic interactions involving plants in the biological control of aphids. In: *Proceedings, Aphid-Plant Interactions: Populations to Molecules.* Eds. D. C. Peters, J. A. Webster & C. S. Chlouber. USDA/Agricultural Research Service, Oklahoma State University.
- VAN EMDEN. H.F., EASTOP, V.F., HUGHES, E. D. & WAY, M.J. (1969) The ecology of *Myzus persicae. Annual Review of Entomology* **14**, 197-270.

- ENGLEBERTH, J., ALBORN, H.T., SCHMELZ, E.A. & TUMLINSON, J.H. (2004) Airborne signals prime plants against herbivore attack. *Plant Biology* **101** (6), 1781-1785.
- ENTWHISTLE, J. C. & DIXON, A. F. G. (1989) The effect of augmenting grain aphid *Sitobion avenae* numbers in a field of winter wheat in spring on the aphid's abundance in summer and its relevance to the forecasting of outbreaks. *Annals of Applied Biology* **114**, 399-408.
- ERICKSON, J. M. & FEENY, P. (1974) Ecology 51, 103-111.
- FÆGRI, K. & VAN DER PIJL, L. (1979) *The Principles of Pollination Ecology*. Pergamon Press Ltd: London.
- FIEBIG, M. POEHLING, H. M. & BORGEMEISTER, C. (2004) Barley yellow dwarf virus, wheat, and *Sitobion avenae*: a case of trilateral interactions. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Apolicata* **110**, 11 – 21.
- FEINSINGER, P. (1983) Co-evolution and pollination. In: *Co-evolution*. Eds. D.J. Futuyma & M. Slatkin. Sinauer, Sunderland, Mass, pp 282-310.
- FINCH, S. (1986) Assessing host-plant finding by insects. In: Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology. Eds. D. R. Dent & M. P. Walton. CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- FINCH, S. (1991) Influence of trap surface on the numbers of insects caught in water traps in brassica crops. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **59**, 169-173.
- FINCH, S. (1992) Improving the selectivity of water traps for monitoring populations of the cabbage root fly. *Annals of Applied Biology* **120**, 1-7.
- FINCH, S. & COAKER, T.H. (1969) Comparison of the nutritive values of carbohydrates and related compounds to *Erioischia brassicae*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **12**, 441-453.
- FINCH, S. & COLLIER, R.H. (1989) Effects of the angle of inclination of traps on the numbers of large Diptera caught on sticky boards in certain vegetable crops. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **52**, 23-27.
- FITT, G. P. (1986) The influence of a shortage of hosts on the specificity of oviposition behaviour in species of *Dacus* (Diptera: Tephritidae). *Physiological Entomology* **11**, 133-143.

- FLUKE, C. L. (1937) The culture of aphidophagous hoverflies. In: Culture Methods for Invertebrate Animals. Eds. P.S. Gattsoff, F.E. Lutz, P. S. Welch and J. G. Needham, pp. 409 -410. Dover Publications Ltd. New York.
- FRANK, T. (1999) Density of adult hoverflies (Dipt: Syrphidae) in sown weed strips and adjacent fields. *Journal of Applied Entomology* **123** (6), 351 – 355.
- FRANZ, J. M. (1961) Biologische Schädlingsbekämpfung. In: *Biological Control* of Insect Pests and Weeds. Ed. P. DeBach. Chapman & Hall Ltd., London.
- FRAZER, B. D. (1972) A simple and efficient method of rearing aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). Journal of the Entomological Society of British Columbia 69. 23 -24.
- FRAZER, B.D. (1988) Predators. In: Aphids: Their Biology, Natural Enemies and Control, Eds. A.K. Minks & P. Harrewijn. World Crop Pests 2B. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 217-230.
- FREE, J. B. (1970) Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England, 269-265.
- FREE, J. B. (1993) *Insect Pollination of Crops*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Academic Press, London.
- VON FRISCH, K. (1950) *Bees, Their Vision, Chemical Senses and Language.* Cornell, Ithaca, New York.
- VON FRISCH, K. (1967) The dance language and orientation of bees. In: Insects as flower visitors and pollinators. Eds. P. G. Kevan & H. G. Baker, Ann. Rev. Entomologia 28, pp 407-53.
- FROHLICH, M. W. (1976) Appearance of vegetation in ultraviolet light: absorbing flowers, reflecting backgrounds. *Science* **194**, 839-841.
- FUKUSHI, T. (1990) Colour discrimination from various shades of gray in the trained blowfly, *Lucilia cuprina*. *Journal of Insect Physiology* **36**, 69 75.
- FUSSEL, M. & CORBERT, S.A. (1991) Forage for bumblebees and honeybees in farmland: a case study. *Journal of Apicultural Research* 30, 87-97.

- GANGE, A. C. (1996) Reduction in vine weevil growth by mycorrhizal fungi. School of Biological Sciences, Royal Holloway, Surrey.
- GATTER, W. & SCHMID, U. (1990) The migration of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) at Randecker Maar, S.W. Germany (In English). Spixiana Zeitschrift für Zoologie Supplement **15**, 9-100.
- GAUDCHAU, M. (1981) Zum Einfluss von Blutenpflanzen in intensiv bewirtschafteten Getreidebestanden auf die Abundanz und Effizienz naturlicher Feinde von Getreide (In English). *Mitt. Dtsch. Ges. Allg. Angew. Ent.* **3**, 312-315.
- GEIER, T., MASSE, R. & BOOKER, P. (2004) A search for an effective repellent in the yellow fever mosquito, of *Aedes aegypti*. *Innovation in Life Sciences*, PBL. Technology.
- GILBERT, F. (1981) The foraging ecology of hoverflies (Diptera, Syrphidae): morphology of the mouthparts in relation to feeding on nectar and pollen in some common urban species. *Ecological Entomology* **6**, 245-262.
- GILBERT, F. (1985) Ecomorphological relationships in hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* **224**, 91-105.
- GILBERT, F. S. (1990) Size, life history, phylogeny and feeding specialisation in insect predators. In: *Insect Life Cycles: Genetics, Evolution and Coordination*, Ed. F. Gilbert. Springer Verlag, London, pp 101-124.
- GILBERT, F.S. (1986) *Naturalist's Handbook 5 hoverflies*. Eds. S.A. Corbet & R.H.L. Disney. Cambridge University Press, London.
- GILBERT, F. S. (1993) *Hoverflies: Naturalists' Handbooks V.* The Richmond Publishing Co. Ltd., Slough.
- GILBERT, F. (2005) Syrphid aphidophagous predators in a food-web context. *Eur. J. Entomologia* **102**, 325 333.
- GILBERT, F. S. & JERVIS, M. (1998) Functional, evolutionary and ecological aspects of feeding-related mouthpart specialisations in parasitoid flies. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **67**, 495-535.
- GITTINGS. T. GILLER. P. & O'HALLOVAN, J. (2005a) Effects of afforestation on hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) biodiversity. BIOFOREST Project, Dept. of Zoology, Ecology and Plant Science. University College, Cork.

- GITTINGS, T. GOOD, J. & SPEIGHT, M. (2005b) The use of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) as indicators of wetland habitat quality: a case study from Pollardstown Fen, Co. Kildare, Ireland. 3<sup>rd</sup> International Symposium on Syrphidae, 5<sup>th</sup> September. Leiden, The Netherlands.
- GIURFA, M., VOROBYEV, M., KEVAN, P. G. & MENZEL, R. (1996) Detection of coloured stimuli by honeybees: minimum visual angles and receptor specific contrasts. *J. Comp. Physiol. A.* **178**, 699-709.
- GLINWOOD, R. T., DU, Y. J., SMILEY, D. W. & POWELL, M. W. (1999) Responses of Parasitoids to Synthetic and Plant-Extracted Nepetalactone Component of Aphid Sex Pheromones, *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 25 (7), 1481 – 1488.
- GODFRAY, H. C. J. (1994) *Parasitoids: Behavioural and Evolutionary Ecology.* Princeton University Press, New Jersey.
- GOELDIN DE TIEFENAU, P. (1974) Contribution à l'étude systématique et écologique des Syrphidae (Dipt.) de la Suisse occidentale. *Mitteilungen der Schweirischen Entomologischen Gesellschaft* **47**, 151 – 251.
- GOFFE, E.R. (1934) *Episyrphus balteatus* DeGeer (Dipt. Syrph.) on wing in February. In: *Resource assessment and utilisation by aphidophagous syrphids, and its implications for integrated pest management.* Ed. J. P. Sutherland. PhD Thesis (1998) Manchester Metropolitan University.
- GOLDING, Y.C., SULLIVAN, M. S. & SUTHERLAND, J.P. (1999) Visits to manipulated flowers by *Episyrphus balteatus* (Diptera: Syrphidae): partitioning the signal of petals and anthers. *Journal of Insect Behaviour* **12**, 39-45.
- GOLDSMITH, T.H. (1994) Ultraviolet receptors and colour vision: evolutionary implications and a dissonance of paradigms. *Vision Res.* **34**, 1479-1487.
- GONZÁLES, W.L., RAMIREZ, C.C. OLEA, N. & NIEMEYER, H.M. (2002) Host plant changes produced by the aphid *Sipha flava*: consequences for aphid feeding behaviour and growth. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **103**, 107-113.
- GOOS, M., DEPTUCH, S. & FALIGOSKA, K. (1976) Introductory studies on collecting insects using coloured traps in foeld experiments. *Polskie Pismo Entomologiczne*, **46**, 829-834.

- GOULSON, D., CRUISE, J., SPARROW, K., HARRIS. A., PARK, K., TINSLEY, M. & GILBURN, A. (2007) Choosing rewarding flowers; perceptual limitations and innate preferences influence decision making in bumblebees and honeybees. *Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology* **61** (10), 1523 – 1529.
- GREEN, C. H. & WARNES, M.L. (1992) Responses of female New World screwworm flies, *Cochliomyia hominivorax*, to coloured targets in the laboratory. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, **6**, 103-109.
- GROEGER, U. (1992) Untersuchungen zur Regulation von Getreidblattläusen unter EinfluB der Landschaftsstruktur. In: *Predicting predation efficiency of biocontrol agents: linking behaviour of individuals and population dynamics.* Ed. B. Tunhumberg (1995) School of Natural Resources, University of Nebraska, USA.
- GUEST, P. (1984) *Oviposition strategies of aphidophagous Syrphidae.* Ph. D thesis, London University.
- GULDBERG, L. & ATSATT, P.R. (1975) Frequency of reflection and absorption of ultraviolet light in flowering plants. *Am. Midl. Nat.* **93**, 35-43.
- GUMBERT, A. (2000) Color Choices by bumble bees (*Bombus terrestris*): innate preferences and generalisation after learning. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* **48**, 36-43.
- GURNEY, B. & HUSSEY, N.W. (1970) Evaluation of some coccinellid species for the biocontrol of aphids in protected crops. *Ann. Applicata Biol.* **65**, 451-458.
- GURR, G. M., van EMDEN, H. F. & WRATTEN, S. D. (1999) Habitat manipulation and natural enemy efficiency: implications for the control of pests. In: *Enhancement of biological control with beneficial insectary plantings,* Ed. J. Luna, Organic Farming Research Foundation, 2001. pp 2 – 15.
- HAGEN, K.S. (1986) Ecosystem analysis: plant cultivars (HPR), entomophagous species and food suplements, In: *Interactions of Plant Resistance and Parasitoids and Predators of Insects.* Eds. D.J. Boethel & R.D. Eikenbary. John Wiley, New York, pp 151-197.
- HAGEN, K. S., SAWALL, E. F. & TASSAN, R. L. (1971) The use of food sprays to increase effectiveness of entomophagous insects. *Proceedings* of the Tall Timbers Conference on Ecological Animal Control and Habitat Management **2**, 59-81.

- HAILE, A. & MEGENASA, T. (1987) Survey of aphids on barley in parts of Shewa, Welo and Tigrai, Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Agricultural Science* **9**, 39-53.
- HAJJAR, A. (2003) Chemically inducible plant promoters. *Innovation in Life Sciences,* PBL. Technology.
- HALL, M.J. R., FARKAS, R. KELEMEN, F., HOSIER, M.J. & EL-KHOGA, J.M. (1995) Orientation of agents of wound myiasis to hosts and artificial stimuli in Hungary. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, **9**, 77-84.
- HARBOURE, J.B. (1972) Introduction to Ecological Biochemistry, 1st Edition. Academic Press Ltd.
- HARBORNE, J. B. (1992) *Introduction to Ecological Biochemistry* 4<sup>th</sup> Ed. Academic Press, London.
- HARBORNE, J. B., HEYWOOD, V.H. & KING, L. (1976) *Biochem. Systems Ecol.***4**, 1-4.
- HARDER, L. D. (1988) Choice of individual flowers by bumblebees: interaction of morphology, time and energy. Behaviour **104**, 60-77.
- HARDIE, J., HICK, A.J., HÖLLER, C., MANN, J., MERRITT, L. NOTTINGHAM, S.F., POWELL, W., WADHAMS, L.J., WITTHINRICH, J. & WRIGHT, A.F. (1994) The responses of *Praon* spp. parasitoids to aphid sex pheromone components in the field. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **71**, 95-99.
- HARLOW, P. M. (1956) A study of ovarial development and its relation to adult nutrition in the blowfly *Protophormia terrae-novae* (R-D). *Journal of Experimental Biology* **33**, 777-797.
- HARRINGTON, R. DEWAR, A. M. & GEORGE, B. (1989) Forecasting the incidence of virus yellows in sugar beet in England. *Annals of Applied Biology* **114**, 459-469.
- HARRIS, C. L. (2000) Low temperature storage and cryopreservation of hoverflies as biological control agents. Ph. D. Thesis, University of Birmingham.
- HARRIS, M. O. & MILLER, J. R. (1983) Host-acceptance behaviour in a herbivorous fly, *Delia antiqua*. *Journal of Insect Physiology* **34**, 179-190.

- HARRIS, M. O & MILLER, J. R. (1991) Quantitative analysis of ovipositional behaviour: effects of a host-plant chemical on the onion fly (Diptera: Anthomyiidae). *Journal of Insect Behaviour* **4**, 773-792.
- HARRIS, M. O., ROSE, S. & MALSCH, P. (1993) The role of vision in the host plant-finding behaviour of the Hessian fly. *Physiological Entomology* **18**, 31-42.
- HARRIS, M. O. & ROSE, S. (1990) Chemical, colour, and tactile cues influencing oviposition behaviour of the Hessian fly (Diptera: Cecidomyiidae). *Environmental Entomology* **19**, 303-308.
- HART, A. J. & BALE, J. S. (1997) Evidence for the first strongly freeze-tolerant insect found in the U.K. *Ecological Entomology* **22**, 242-245.
- HART, A.L., BALE, J.S. & FENLON, J.S. (1997) Developmental threshold, daydegree requirements and voltinism of the aphid predator *Episyrphus alteatus* (Diptera: Syrphiae). *Annals of Applied Biology* **130**, 427-437.
- HARTING, L. K., PLOWRIGHT, R. C (1979) An investigation of inter- and intrainfluorescence visitation rates by bumblebees on red clover with special reference to seed set. *Proceedings* 4<sup>th</sup> International Symposium No 1, 457 – 660.
- HARWOOD, A., MACLEOD, A., HICKMAN, J. M., SHERRATT, T. & WRATTEN, S. D. (1994) Managing field margins for hoverflies. In: *British Crop Protection Monograph No.* **58**. Ed. N. Boatman.
- HARWOOD, R. W. J. WRATTEN, S. D. & NOWAKOWSKI, M. (1992) The Effect of managed field margins on hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) distribution and within-field abundance. *Brighton Crop Protection Conference, Pests and Diseases 1992,* 1033-1037.
- HASHMI, K (2002) Daylight vs Artificial Light. Department for Sustainable Energy Management.
- HASLETT, J. R. (1983) A photographic account of pollen digestion by adult hoverflies. *Physiological Entomology* **8**, 167-171.
- HASLETT, J. R. (1989a) Interpreting patterns of resource utilisation: randomness and selectivity in pollen feeding by adult hoverflies. *Oecologia* **78**, 433-442.

- HASLETT, J. R. (1989b) Adult feeding by holometabolous insects: pollen and nectar as complementary nutrient sources for *Rhingia campestris* (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Oecologia* **81**, 361-363.
- HASLETT, J. R. & ENTWHISTLE, P. F. (1980) Further notes on *Eriozona* syrphoides (Fall.) (Diptera: Syrphidae) in Hafren Forest, mid-Wales. *Entomologists Monthly Magazine* **116**, 36.
- HEIMPEL, G.E., ROSENHEIM, J.A.& KATTARI, D. (1997) Adult feeding and lifetime reproductive success in the parasitoid *Aphytis melinus*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **83**, 305-315.
- HEMPTINNE, J. L., DOUCET, J. L. & GASPAR, C. (1994) How do ladybirds and syrphids respond to aphids in the field? In: *Integrated control of cereal pests. IOBC/WPRS bulletin* **17**, 1-12.
- HEINRICH, B. (1978) "Majoring" and "minoring" in bumblebees: an experimental analysis. In: *Annual Review Entomology* 28, Eds. P.G. Kevan P. G. & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- HEINRICH, B. & PANTLE, C. (1975) Thermoregulation in small flies (*Syrphus* sp.): basking and shivering. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **62**, 599-610.
- HICKMAN, J. M. (1996) The Usefulness of Phacelia tanacetifolia strips as a resource for aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) on arable land. Ph. D.Thesis, University of Southampton.
- HICKMAN, J. M., LÖVEI, G. L. & WRATTEN, S. D. (1995) Pollen feeding by adults of the hoverfly *Melanostoma fasciatum* (Diptera: Syrphidae). *New Zealand Journal of Zoology* **22**, 387-392.
- HICKMAN, J. M & WRATTEN, S. D. (1994) Use of *Phacelia tanacetifolia* to enhance populations of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) in sweetcorn fields. In: *Integrated control of cereal pests*. *IOBC/WPRS bulletin* **17**, 156-167.
- HICKMAN, J. M. & WRATTEN, S. D. (1995) Use of *Phacelia tanacetifolia* (Hydrophyllacae) as a pollen resource to enhance hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) populations in cereal fields. *Journal of Entomology*, **89**, 832-840.
- HICKMAN, J. M. & WRATTEN, S. D. (1996) Use of *Phacelia tanacetifolia* strips to enhance biological control of aphids by hoverfly larvae in cereal fields. *Journal of Economic Entomology* **89**, 832-840.

- HICKMAN, J. M., WRATTEN, S. D., JEPSON, P. C. & FRAMPTON, C. M. (2001) Effect of hunger on yellow water trap catches of hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) adults. *Agricultural Forest Entomology* **3**, 33 – 40.
- HOBACK, W. W., SVATOS, T. M., SPOMER, S. M. & HIGLEY, L. G. (1999) Trap color and placement affects estimates of insect family-level abundance and diversity in a Nebraska salt Marsh. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **91**, 393-402.
- HODGES, C. M. (1981) Optimal foraging in bumblebees: Hunting by expectation. Animal Behaviour **29**, 1166 – 1171.
- HOFFMAN, A. A. (1994) Behaviour genetics and evolution. In: *Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology.* Eds. D. R. Dent & M. P. Walton. CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- HOLLAND, J. (2004) Consumers demand less pesticides. Press Release: The Game Conservancy Trust, Fordingbridge, Hampshire.
- HOLLING, C.S. (1966) The functional response of invertebrate predators to prey density. *Entomological Society of Canada*, **48**, 86-86.
- HONDELMANN, P. & POEHLING, H. M. (2007) Diapause and overwintering of the hoverfly *Episyrphus balteatus*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **124** (2), 189–200.
- HOOD HENDERSON, D. E. (1982) Fine structure and neurophysiology of a gustatory sensillum on the ovipositors of *Metasyrphus venablesi* and *Eupeodes volucris* (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 60, 3187-3195.
- HORN, D. J. (1981) Effect of weedy backgrounds on colonisation of collards by green peach aphid, *Myzus persicae* and its major predators. *Environmental Entomology* **10**, 285-289.
- HOROVITZ, A. & COHEN, Y. (1972) Am. J. Bot. 59, 706-713.
- HORRIDGE, G. A., MIMURA, K. & TSUKAHARA, Y. (1975) Fly photoreceptors 11. Spectral and polarised light sensitivity in the drone fly *Eristalis*. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London* **190**, 225-237.
- HUFFAKER, (1959) Biological control of weeds with insects. In: *Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds.* Ed. P. Debach (1973) Chapman & Hall Ltd, London. pp 467-471.

- HUGHES, R. D. (1963) Population dynamics of the cabbage aphid *Brevicoryne* brassicae (L.). Journal of Animal Ecology **32**, pp 393-424.
- HUMPHREY, J. W., HAWES, C., PEACE, A. J., FERRIS-KAAN, R. & JUKES, M. R. (1999) Relationships between insect diversity and habitat characteristics in plantation forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **113**, 11-21.
- HUREJ, M. (1992) Natural control of *Aphis fabae* Scop. Population by Syrphidae (Diptera) on sugar beet crop. *Polskie Pismo Entomologiczne* **52**, 287-294.
- HURVICH, L. M. (1981) Colour Vision. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates Inc.
- IDOINE, K. & FERRO, D. N. (1988) Aphid honeydew as a carbohydrate source for *Edovum puttleri* (Hymenoptera: Eulophidae). *Environmental Entomology* **17**, 941-944.
- INOUYE, D. W. (1978) Resource partitioning in bumblebees: experimental studies of foraging behaviour. In: *Annual Review Entomology*, **28**, Eds. P.G. Kevan & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- IRVIN, N. A., WRATTEN, S.D., FRAMPTON, C.M., BOWIE, M. H., EVANS, A.M.
  & MOAR, N. T. (1999) The phenology and pollen feeding of three hoverfly (Diptera: Syrphidae) species in Canterbury, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Zoology 26, 105 115.
- ISLE, D. (1949) Colour discrimination in the dronefly, *Eristalis tenax. Nature*, **163**, 255-256.
- ITO, Y. & IWAO, S. (1977) Ovipositional behaviour of a syrphid, *Episyrphus balteatus*, in relation to aphid density on the plant. *Japanese Journal of Applied Entomological Zoology* **21**, 130-134.
- JANVIER, H. (1956) Hymenopterous predators as biological control agents. In: Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds. Ed. P. Debach (1973) Chapman & Hall Ltd, London. pp 467-471.
- JANZEN, D. H. (1967) The deflowering of America. In: *Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds.* Ed. P. Debach (1973) Chapman & Hall Ltd, London. pp 467-471.
- JERVIS, M. A. & COPLAND, M. J. W. (1996) The life cycle. In: *Insect Natural Enemies: Practical Approaches to their Study and Evaluation,* Eds. M. Jervis & N. Kidd. Chapman and Hall, London, pp 63-161.

- JERVIS, M. A., KIDD, N. A. C. (1986) Host-feeding strategies in hymenopteran parasitoids. Biological Reviews 61, 395-434.
- JERVIS, M. A., KIDD, N.A.C., FITTON, M.G., HUDDLESTON, T. & DAWAH, H.A. (1993) Flower visiting by hymenopteran parasitoids. *Journal of Natural History* **27**, 67-105.
- JOHNSON, S. D. & DAFNI, A. (1998) Response of Bee-Flies to the Shape and Pattern of Model Flowers: Implications for Floral Evolution in a Mediterranean Herb. *Functional Ecology*, **12** (2), 289-297.
- JONES. C.E. (1983) The biological significance of post-pollination mechanisms. In Annual Review Entomology, 28. Eds. P.G. Kevan & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- KAHL, H. (1996) Border strip planting to enhance biological control of the cabbage aphid, *Brevicoryne brassicae* (L.) by hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). School of Horticulture Research, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- KAISER, R. (1993) *The Scent of Orchids: Olfactory and Chemical Investigations*. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- KAN, E. (1986) Assessment of the maple aphid colony by the Hover Fly, Episyrphus balteatus (de Geer) (Diptera: Syrphidae). Journal of Ethology **4**, 121-127.
- KAN, E. (1988a) Assessment of aphid colonies by hoverflies. I Maple aphids and *Episyrphus balteatus* (de Geer) (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Journal of Ethology* **6**, 39-48.
- KAN, E. (1988b) Assessment of Aphid Colonies by Hoverflies. 11 Pea Aphids and 3 Syrphid Species: *Betasyrphus serarius* (Wiedemann), *Metasyrphus frequens* Matsumura and *Syrphus vitripennis* (Meigen) (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Journal of Ethology* 6, 135-142.
- KAN, E. (1989) Assessment of aphid colonies by hoverflies. 111 Pea aphids and *Episyrphus balteatus* (de Geer) (Diptera: Syrphiae). *Journal of Ethology*, **7**, 1-6.
- KAN, E. & SASAKAWA, M. (1986) Assessment of the maple aphid colony by the hoverfly *Episyrphus balteatus* (de Geer) (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Journal of Ethology*, **4**, 121-127.
- KAREIVA, P. & SAHAKIAN, R. (1990) Tritrophic effects of a simple architectural mutation in pea plants. *Nature* **345**, 433-434.

- KAY, Q. O. N. (1976) Preferential pollination of yellow-flowered morphs of *Raphanus raphanistrum* by *Pieris* and *Eristalis* spp. *Nature* 261, 230 – 232.
- KELBER, A. (2001) Receptor based models for spontaneous colour choices in flies and butterflies. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **99** (2), 231-244.
- KENDALL, D.A. & SOLOMON, M. E. (1973) Quantities of pollen on the bodies of insects visiting apple blossom. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **10**, 627-634.
- KEVAN, P. G. (1972) Floral colours in the High Arctic with reference to insect flower relations and pollination, *Can. J. Bot.* **50**, 2289-2316.
- KEVAN, P. G. (1978) *The Pollination of Flowers by Insects*. Linnean Society Symposium Series 51 (6). Academic Press, pp 51-77.
- KEVAN, P.G. (1979) The spectral efficiency of phototaxis in some High Arctic Diptera. *J. Arctic Alpine Res.***11**, 349-352.
- KEVAN, P.G. (1980) Pollination in the alpine, *Abstract 2<sup>nd</sup> International Congress* Systems of Evolution Biology, Vancouver, p 58.
- KEVAN, P. G. (1983) Flower colours through the insect eye: what they are and what they mean In: *Annual Review Entomology* **28**, Eds. P.G. Kevan & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- KEVAN, P. G., BAKER, H.G. (1983) Insects as flower visitors and pollinators, Annual Review Entomology 28, 407-53.
- KEVAN, P. G., CHITTKA. L. & DYER, A. G. (2001) Limits to the salience of ultraviolet: lessons from colour vision in bees and birds. *The Journal* of Experimental Biology, **204**, 2571 – 2580.
- KIKUCHI, T. (1962) Studies on the coaction among insects visiting flowers 1, Ecological groups in insects visiting the chrysanthemum flower, *Chrysanthemum leucanthemum. Sci. Rep. Tohoku Universit,*. *Section 4, Biology*, **28**, 17-22.
- KIRK, W.D.J. (1984) Ecologically selective coloured traps. *Ecological Entomology* **9**, 35-41.
- KLEIJN, D. & van LANGEVELDE, F. (2006) Interacting effects of landscape context and habitat quality on flower visiting insects in agricultural landscapes. *Basic and Applied Biology* **7** (3), 201 214.

- KLOEN, H. & ALTIERI, M. (1990) Effect of mustard (*brassica hirta*) as a non-crop plant on competition and insect pests in broccoli. *Crop Protection* **9**, 90 – 96.
- KOLB, G. & SCHERER, C (1982) Experiments on the wavelength specific behaviour of *Pieris brassicae* L. during drumming and egg-laying. *Journal of Comparative Physiology – A Sensory Neural and Behavioural Physiology* 149, 325-332.
- KRUESS, A. & DAUBER, A. (2004) Spatial-temporal dynamics of cultural landscapes and trophic interactions. Symposium 04.
- KUGLER, H. (1930) Blütenökologische Uutersuchungen mit Hummeln 1. In: Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees. Ed. J. B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England (1970), pp 269-265.
- KUGLER, H. (1943) Hummeln als Blütenbesucher. In: Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees. Ed. J.
   B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England (1970), pp 269-265.
- KUGLER, H. (1950) Der Blütenbesuch der Schammfliege (*Eristalomyia tenax*). (The petal visits of the dronefly (*Eristalomyia tenax*). In: *Annual Review Entomology* **28**, Eds. P.G. Kevan & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- KUGLER, H. (1956) Uber die optische Wirkung Von Fliegenblumen auf Fliegen. (Concerning the action of optical cues from "fly flowers" to flies). *Berichte der Deutschen Botanischen Gesellschaft* **69**, 387-398.
- KUGLER, H. (1963) UV-Musterungen auf Blüten und ihr Zustandekommen. *Planta*, **59**, 296-329.
- KUHN (1923) In: *Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees*. Ed. J. B. Free, Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England (1970), pp 269-265.
- KÜHN, A. (1927) Über den Farbensinn der Bieren. Z. Vergl. Physiol. 5, 296-329.
- KULA, E. (1997) (Dipt.: Syrphidae) of spruce forest in different health condition. Entomophaga, **42** (1-2), 133 – 138.
- LAGERLÖF, J., STARK, J. & SVENSSON, B. (1992) Margins of agricultural fields as habitats for pollinating insects. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **40**, 117-124.

- LAING, J. E. & HAMAI, J. (1976) Biological control of insect pests and weeds by imported parasites, predators, and pathogens. In: *Theory and Practice of Biological Control*, Eds. C. Huffaker & P.S. Messenger. Academic, New York, pp 685-743.
- LANAU, K. & WACHT, S. (1994) Optical releasers of innate proboscis extension in the hoverfly *Eristalis tenax* L. (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Journal of Comparative Physiology* **174**, 575 – 579.
- LAND, M. F. (1997) The resolution of insect compound eyes. *Israel Journal of Plant Sciences* **45**, 79 – 91.
- LANDIS, D.A., WRATTEN, S. D. & GURR, G.M. (2000) Habitat management to conserve natural enemies of arthropod pests in agriculture. *Ann. Rev. Entomologia* **45**, 175 201.
- LANDOLT, P. J. ADAMS, T., REED, H.C. & ZACK, R.S (2004) Trapping alfalfa looper moths (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) with single and double component floral chemical lures. *Environmental Entomology*, **30** (6), 667 – 672.
- LANGER, A & HANCE, T (2003) Enhancing parasitism of wheat aphids through apparent competition: a tool for biological control. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* **102** (2), 205 – 212.
- LAUBERTIE, E. A., WRATTEN, S. D. & SEDCOLE, J. R. (2006) The role of odour and visual cues in the pan-trap catching of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Annals of Applied Biology* **148**, 173 178.
- LAUGHLIN, S. B. (1981) Neural principles in the peripheral visual system of invertebrates. In: *Invertebrate visual centers and behaviour 1*. Ed.
   H. J. Autrum. *Handbook of sensory physiology*, **11** (6B), Springer, New York, pp 133-280.
- LEE, Y. I., KOUVARITAKIS, B. & SOMMAGGIO, D. (1999) Syrphidae: can they be used as environmental bioindicators? *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **74**, 343-356.
- LEHRER, M. (1997) Honeybee's use of spatial parameters for flower discrimination. *Israeli Journal of Plant Science* **45**, 157 168.
- LEIR, V. & BARLOW, C. A. (1982) Effects of starvation and age on foraging efficiency and speed of consumption by larvae of a flower fly, *Metasyrphus corollae* (Syrphidae). *Canadian Entomologist* **114**, 897-900.

- LEIUS, K. (1961) Influence of food on fecundity and longevity of adults of *Itoplectis conquistor* (Say) (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae). In: *Annual Review Entomology*, 28, Eds. P.G. Kevan & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- LEIUS, K. (1967) Influence of wild flowers on parasitism of tent caterpillar and codling moth. In: *Annual Review Entomology*, **28**, Eds. P.G. Kevan & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- VAN LENTEREN, J.C. (1990) Biological Control in a Tritrophic System Approach. In: Aphid-plant interactions: Populations to Molecules Proceedings MP-132, Eds. Peters, D.C., Webster, J.A. & Chlouber, C.S, pp 3-21.
- LEPPIA, N. (2005) Do companion plants support natural enemies? Integrated Pest Management, University of Florida, IFAS Extension.
- LEWIS, T. (1965) The effects of an artificial windbreak on the aerial distribution of flying insects. *Annals of Applied Biology* **55**, 503-512.
- LEWIS, T. (1969a) The distribution of flying insects near a low hedgerow. *Journal* of Applied Ecology **6**, 443-452.
- LEWIS, T. (1969b) The diversity of the insect fauna in a hedgerow and neighbouring fields. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **6**, 453-458.
- LEWIS, T. & SMITH, B. D. (1969) The insect faunas of pear and apple orchards and the effects of wind breaks on their distribution. *Annals of Applied Biology* **64**, 11-20.
- LEWIS, T. & TAYLOR, L.R. (1967) Comparison of sampling methods. In: Introduction to Experimental Ecology, Academic Press, 125-129.
- LEX, T. (1954) Duftmale an Blüten. In: *Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees*. Ed. J.B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England, pp 269-265.
- LILLEY, R., HARDIE, J. POWELL, W. & WADHAMS, L.J. (1994) The aphid sex pheromone: a novel host location cue for the parasitoid, *Praon volucre. Proceedings of the Brighton Crop Protection Conference*-*Pests and Diseases*, 1157-1162.
- LINDSEY, A. H. (1984) Reproductive biology of Apiaceae 1: Floral visitors to *Thaspium* and *Zicia* and their importance in pollination. *American Journal of Botany* **71**, 375-387.

- LÖSEL, P. M., LINDEMANN, M., SCHERKENBECK, J., MAIER, J., ENGELHARD, B., CAMPBELL, C.A.M., HARDIE, J., PICKETT, J.A., WADHAMS, L. J., ELBERT, A. & THIELKING, G. (1999) The Potential of Semiochemicals for Control of *Phorodon humuli* (Homoptera: Aphididae). *Pesticide Science* **48** (4), 293 – 303.
- LÖVEI, G. L., HICKMAN, J. M., MCDOUGALL, D, & WRATTEN, S. D. (1994) Field Penetration of beneficial insects from habitat islands: hoverfly dispersal from flowering crop strips. *Proceedings of the 46<sup>th</sup> New Zealand Plant Protection Conference 1993*, 325-328.
- LÖVEI, G. I., MCDOUGALL, D., BRAMLEY, G., HODGSON, D. J. & WRATTEN, S. D. (1992) Floral resources for natural enemies: the effect of *Phacelia tanacetifolia* (Hydrophyllaceae) on within-field distribution of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Proceedings of the 45<sup>th</sup> New Zealand Plant Protection Conference,* Wellington, NZ. Ed. A.J. Popay, 60-61.
- LÖVEI, G.L., HICKMAN, J.M. MCDOUGALL, D. & WRATTEN, S.D. (1994) Field penetration of beneficial insects from habitat islands: hoverfly dispersal from flowering crop strips. *Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> New Zealand Plant Protection Conference 1993*, 325-328.
- LUNAU, K. (1990) Colour saturation triggers innate reactions to flower signals: flower dummy experiments with bumblebees. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, **166**, 827 – 834.
- LUNAU, K. (1993) Interspecific diversity and uniformity of flower colour patterns as cues for learned discrimination and innate detection of flowers. *Experientia* **49**, 1002-1010.
- LUNAU, K. (1996) Signalling functions of floral colour patterns for insect flower visitors. *Zoologischer Anzeiger* **235**, 11-30.
- LUNAU, K. (2000) Flower recognition by Eristalis tenax. Verhandlungen der Westdeutscher Entomologentag 1998: 81-88.
- LUNAU, K. (2005) Interspecific diversity and uniformity of flower colour patterns as cues for learned discrimination and innate detection of flowers. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **49** (11), 1002 -1010.
- LUNAU, K. & MAIER, E.J. (1995a) Visual key stimuli to the innate proboscis extension in the hoverfly *Eristalis tenax* L. (Syrphidae: Diptera). *Journal of Comparative Physiology*, **174**, 575-579.

- LUNAU, K. & MAIER, E.J. (1995b) Innate colour preferences of flower visitors. Journal of Comparative Physiology A **177**, 1-19.
- LUNAU, K. & WACHT, S. (1994) Optical releasers of innate proboscis extension in the hoverfly *Eristalis tenax* L. (Diptera; Syrphidae) *Journal of Comparative Physiology* **174**, 575-579.
- LUNAU, K., WACHT, S. & CHITTKA, L. (1996) Colour choices of naive bumblebees and their implications for colour perception. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, **178**, 477-489.
- LUTZ, F.E. (1924) Apparently non-selective characters and combinations of characters, including a study of ultraviolet in relation to flowervisiting habits of insects. In: *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, **204**. Eds. P.G. Kevan, L. Chittka & A.G. Dyer, pp 2571-2580.
- MACDONALD, L. L. & RAUBENHEIMER, D. (1995) Hidden Markov models and animal behaviour, *Biometrical Journal*, **6**, 701-712.
- MACKAUER, M. & WAY, M. J. (1976) *Myzus persicae* Sulz., an aphid of world importance. In: *Studies in Biological Control*, Ed. V.L. Delucchi. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 51-119.
- MACLEOD, A. (1994) Provision of plant resources for beneficial arthropods in arable ecosystems. In: The usefulness of Phacelia Tanacetifolia strips as a resource for aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) on arable land. Ed. J.M. Hickman. Ph. D Thesis, University of Southampton.
- MAIER, C.T.(1978) The immature stages and biology of *Mallota posticata* (Fabricius) (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington* **80**, 424-440.
- MAIER, C.T. (1982) Larval habitats and mate-seeking sites of flower flies (Diptera: Syrphidae, Eristalinae). *Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington* **84**, 603-609.
- MANN, B. P., WRATTEN, S. D., POEHLING, M. & BORGEMEISTER, C. (1991) The Economics of reduced-rate insecticide applications to control aphids in winter wheat. *Annals of Applied Biology* **119**, 451-464.
- MANNING, A. (1956) The effect of honey-guides. In: Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees. Ed. J.B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England (1970), pp 269-265.

- MARBOUTIE, G. (1976) Premiers resultats d'essais de lutte biologique en vergers de pechers et de pomme. *Revue de Zoologie Agricole et de Pathologie Vegetale* **75**, 23-30.
- MARSHALL, E. J. P. & SMITH, B. D. (1987) Field margin flora and fauna; interaction with agriculture. In: *Resource assessment and utilisation* by aphidophagous syrphids, and its implications for integrated pest management. Ed. J.P. Sutherland, PhD Thesis 1998, p 11.
- MARSHALL, E. J. P. & WEST, T. M. (2007) Impacts of field margins, landscape and crop on the distributions of Syrphidae on an arable farm. *Aspects of Applied Biology* **81**, 91-99.
- MARTIN, P. & BATESON, P. (1993) *Measuring Behaviour: An Introductory Guide*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Cambridge University Press.
- MCALPINE, J. F. (1981) Morphology and terminology-adults. In: *Manual of Nearctic Diptera*, **2**, Eds. J. F. McAlpine, B. V. Peterson, G. E. Sherwell, H. J. Teskey, J. R. Vockeroth & D. M. Wood, pp 9-63
- MCEWAN, P., NEW, T. R. WHITTINGTON, A. E. (2004) *Lacewings in the Crop Environment*. Cambridge, pp 94-96.
- MCNEIL, J. N. (1991) Behavioural ecology of pheromone-mediated communication in moths and its importance in the use of pheromone traps. *Annual Review of Entomology* **36**, 407-430.
- MENZEL, R. (1979) Spectral sensitivity and colour vision in invertebrates. In: Invertebrate photoreceptors: Handbook of sensory physiology, 7 (6A), Ed. H. Autrum. Springer, New York, pp 503-580.
- MENZEL, R. (1985) Learning in honeybees in an ecological and behavioural context. In: *Experimental Behavioural Ecology*, Eds. B. Hölldobler, M. Lindauer, G. Fischer & F. Stuttgart, pp 55-74.
- MENZEL, R. & BACKHAUS, W. (1991) Colour vision in insects. In: The evolutionary adaptation of flower colours and the insect pollinators' colour vision. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, **171**, Eds. L. Chittka. & R. Menzel, pp 171-181.

Met Office: <http://www.metoffice.gov.uk.html>

MILLER, D. (1921) *Material for a Monograph on the Diptera Fauna of New Zealand*. Marcus F. Marks, Wellington.

- MILLER, D. (1971) Common Insects in New Zealand. A.H. & A.W. Reed Ltd, Wellington.
- MILNE, W. (1971) Factors affecting aphid populations on broad beans. PhD thesis, University of London.
- MIÑARRO, M., HEMPTINNE, J. L. & DAPENA, E. (2005) Colonization of apple orchards by predators of Dysaphis plantaginea: sequential arrival, response to prey abundance and consequences for biological control. *Biocontrol* **50**, (3), 403 – 414.
- MINKENBERG, O. P. J. M., TATAR, M. & ROSENHEIM, J. A. (1992) Eggload as a major source of variability in insect foraging and oviposition behaviour. *Oikos* **65**, 134-142.
- MINKS, A. K. & HARREWIJN, P. (1989) Aphids: Their Biology, Natural Enemies and Control. *World Crop Pests 2C*. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p. 312.
- MOERICKE, V. (1969) Host plant specific colour behaviour by *Hyalopteus pruni* (Aphididae). *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **12**, 524-534.
- MOLS, P.J.M. (1987) Hunger in relation to searching behaviour, predation and egg production of the carabid beetle *Pterostichus coerulescens* L.: results of stimulation. *Acta. Phytopath. Entom. Hung.* **22**, 187-205.
- MONDOR, E. B. (1995) Syrphid captures on red sphere traps deployed for the apple maggot fly *Ragoletis pomonella* (Walsh). *Ecoscience* **2**, 200-2002.
- MORRIS, M. C. & FRANK, Y. LI. (2000) Coriander (*Coriandrum sativum*) "companion plants" can attract hoverflies, and may reduce pest infestations in cabbages. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Sciences* **28**, 213 – 217.
- MOSHE, C. & MOSHE, G. (2002) Omnivory in terrestrial arthropods: Mixing plant and prey diets. *Annual Revue of Entomology* **47**, 267-97.
- MOZURAITIS, R., STRANDEN, M. RAMIREZ, M. I., BORG-KARLSON, A. K. & MUSTAPARTA, H. (2002) Germacrene-D increases attraction and oviposition by the tobacco moth. *Chemical Senses* **27** (6), 505 509.
- MULLIGAN, G. A. & KEVAN, P. G. (1973) Colour, brightness and other floral characteristics attracting insects to blossoms of some Canadian weeds. *Canadian Journal of Botany* **51**, 1939-1952.

- NG, D. (1988) A novel level of interactions in plant-insect systems. *Nature* **334**, 611-613.
- NGAMO, T. L. S. & HANCE, T. (1997) Reduction of predatory efficiency of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) in cereal fields due to parasitism. Mededelingen Faculteit Landbouwkundige en Toegepaste Biologische Wetenschappen Universiteit Gent **62** (2B), 469 – 472.
- NIEMCZYK, E. & PRUSKA, M. (1986) The occurrence of predators in different types of colonies of apple aphids. *Ecology of Aphidophaga* **2**, Ed. I. Hodek. Academia, Prague, pp 303-310.
- NIETSCHKE, B. S., MAGAREY, R. D., BORCHERT, D. M., CALVIN, D. D. & JONES, E. (2006) A developmental database to support insect phenology models. *Crop Protection* **8**, 110-116.
- NODA, H. SOGAWA, K. and SAITO, T (1973) Amino acids in honeydews of the rice planthoppers and leafhoppers (Homoptera: Delphacidae, Deltocephalidae). *Applicata Entomologia Zool.* **8**, 191-197.
- NORDSTRÖM, K., BARNETT, P. D. & O'CARROLL, D.C. (2006) Detection of Small Targets Moving in Visual Clutter. LoS Biology **4** (3), 54.
- NORLUND, D.A. and LEWIS, J.W. (1976) Terminology of chemical releasing stimuli in intraspecific and interspecific interactions. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. **2**, 211-220.
- NYLIN, S. JANZ, N. (1993) Oviposition preference and larval performance in *Polygonia c-album* (Lepidoptera: Nymphalidae): the choice between bad and worse. *Ecological Entomology* **18**, 394-398.
- OBRYCHI, J. J., TAUBER, M. J. & TINGEY, M. (1983) Predator and parasitoid interactions with aphid resistant potatoes to reduce aphid-densities: a two-year field study. *Journal of Entomology* **76**, 456-462.
- OBRYCHI, J.J. (1986) The influence of foliar pubescence on entomophagous species. In: *Interactions of Plant Resistance and Parasitoids and Predators of Insects*, Eds. D.J. Boethal & R.D. Eikenbury, Wiley, New York, pp 61-83.
- O' CARROLL, D.C., LAUGHLIN, S. B., BIDWELL, N. J. & HARRIS, R. A. (1997) Spatiotemporal properties of motion detectors matched to low image velocities in hovering insects. *Vision Research* **37**, 3427-3439.
- ORTU, S. & FLORIS, I. (1990) Osservazoni sul cromotropismo di alcune specie di ditteri sirfidi (Diptera: Syrphidae). (Observations on the chromotropism of various species of syrphid flies (Diptera: Syrphidae). Bollttino della Societa Entomologica Italiana 122, 151-157.
- OWEN, D. F. (1956) A migration of insects at Spurn Point, Yorkshire. Entomologist's Monthly Magazine **92**, 43-4.
- OWEN, J. (1991) *Ecology of a garden*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- OWEN, J. & GILBERT, F. S. (1989) On the Abundance of Hoverflies (Syrphidae) Oikos 55 (2), 183-193.
- OWEN, D.F. & OWEN, J. (1990) Assessing insect species-richness at a single site. *Environmental Conservation* **17**, 362-364.
- OZOLS, E.Y. (1964) Nutritional base of imaginal stages of entomophagous insects in agrocenoses. In: *Biological Control of Agricultural and Forest Pests,* Ed. A. Cherapanov. Biological Institute Israeli Program for Scientific Translations, Jerusalem, pp 134-135.
- PARAMETER, L. (1951) Diptera. Flies and their selection of flowers they visit. Entomologists' Record and Journal of Variation **68**, 242-243.
- PARK, K. C., ELIAS, D., DONATO, B. & HARDIE, J. (2000) Electroantennogram and behavioural responses of different forms of the bird cherry-oat aphid, *Rhopalosiphum padi*, to sex pheromone and a plant volatile. *Journal of Insect Physiology* **46** (4), 597 – 604.
- PAYNTER, Q. & BRADY, J. (1993) Flight responses of tsetse flies (*Glossina*) to octenol and acetone vapour in a wind-tunnel. *Physiological Entomology* **18**, 102-108.
- PEITSCH, D., FIETZ, A., HERTEL, H., de SOUZA, J., VENTURA, D.F. & MENZEL, R. (1992) The spectral input systems of hymenopteran insects and their receptor-based colour vision. J. Comp. Physiol. A. 170, 23-40.
- PESHKEN, D. (1965) Untersuchungen zur Orientierung aphidophager Schwebfliegen (Diptera: Syrphidae). In: *Annals of Applied Biology*, **61**, Ed. A. E. F. Chandler, pp 435-446.
- PETERSON, C. & COATS, J. (2001) Insect repellents past, present and future. *Pesticide Outlook,* 154 -158.

- PHOON, C. G. (1973) Biology and ecology of some aphidophagous Syrphidae (Diptera). MSc thesis, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.
- PICHERSKY, E. & DUDAREVA, N. (2007) Scent engineering: towards the goal of controlling how flowers smell. Department of Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, University of Michigan, USA.
- PICKETT, J.A. BRUCE, T.J.A., CHAMBERLAIN, K. HASSANALI, A., KHAN, Z.R., MATTHES, M.C., NAPIER, J.A., SMART, L.E., WADHAMS, L.J. & WOODCOCK, C.M. (2006) In: *Plant volatiles yielding new* ways to exploit plant defence. Chemical Ecology: from gene to ecosystems. Eds. M. Dickie & W.Takken, pp 161-173.
- PICKETT, J. A. & BIRKETT, M. A. (2004) Biological Control Systems based on Nepeta-derived Semiochemicals. Centre for Sustainable Pest and Disease Management, Biological Chemistry Department, Rothamsted Reseatc, Harpenden, Herfordshire, AL5 2LQ. UK.
- PICKETT, J. A., WADHAMS, L. J. WOODCOCK, C. M. & HARDIE, J.(1992) The chemical ecology of aphids. *Annual Review of Entomology* **37**, 67-90.
- PICKETT, J. A., WADHAMS, L. J. & WOODCOCK, C. M. (1993) Exploiting behaviourally active phytochemicals in crop protection. In: *Phytochemistry and Agriculture,* Eds. T.A. van Beck & H. Breteler. Clarendon Press, Oxford, pp 62-75.
- PIKE, K. S., ALLISON, D., TANIGOSHI, L. K., HARWOOD, R. F., CLEMENT, S. L., HALBERT, S. E., SMITH, C. M., JOHNSON, J. B., REED, G. L. & ZWER, P.K. (1991) Russian wheat aphid-biology, damage, and management. *Pacific Northwest Ext. Publ. PNW371:* p. 24.
- PLOWRIGHT, R. C., PENDRAL, B.A., MCLAREN, I. A. (1978) The impact of aerial fenitrothion spraying upon the population biology of bumblebees (*Bombus* Latr. Hym.) in south-western New Brunswick. In *Annual Review Entomology* 28, Eds. P.G. Kevan & H.G. Baker, pp 407-53.
- PLOWRIGHT, C.M.S., COHEN-SALMON, D., LANDRY, F. & SIMONDS, V. (1999) Foraging for nectar and pollen on thistle flowers (*Cirsium vulgare*) and artificial flowers: how bumblebees (*Bombus impatiens*) respond to colony requirements. *Behaviour* **136**, 951-963.
- POELING, H. M. (1996) Agricultural practices which enhance numbers of beneficial arthrpods. *Acta. Jutlandica* **71**, 269 275.

- POLLARD, E. (1969) The effect of removal of arthropod predators on an infestation of *Brevicoryne brassicae* (Hemiptera: Aphididae) on Brussels sprouts. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **12**, 118-124.
- POLLARD, E. (1970) Hedges V1. Habitat diversity and crop pests: a study of *Brevicoryne brassicae* and its syrphid predators. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 7, 751-780.
- POLLARD, E. (1971) Hedges V1 Habitat diversity and crop pests. A study of Brevicoryne brassicae (Hemiptera: Aphididae) on Brussels sprouts. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 12, 118-124.
- POPPY, G.M. POWELL, W., & PENNACCHIO, F. (1997) Aphid parasitoid responses to semiochemicals-Genetic, conditioned or learnt? Entomophaga, **42**, 193-199.
- POWELL, W. (1986) Enhancing parasite activity in crops. In: *Insect parasitoids,* Eds. J. Waage & D. Greathead. Academic Press, London. pp 314-340.
- POWELL, W. (2004) Using field margins and aphid pheromones for promotion of cereal aphid biocontrol in the UK. Plant and Invertebrate Ecology Division, Rothamstead Research, Harpendenden, Herts, PL5 2JQ. UK.
- POWELL, W. (2005) The Use of Catmint-Derived Semiochemicals for Manipulating Beneficial Insects. Plant and Invertebrate Ecology Division, Rothamsted Research, Harpenden, Herts, AL5 2JQ.
- POWELL, W. & GLINWOOD, T. (1998) Aphid sex pheromones to enhance parasitoid efficiency. *HGCA Cereals Project Report* **155**, IACR-Rothamsted, Harpenden.
- POWELL, W., DECKER, U.M. & BUDENBERG, W.J. (1991) The influence of semiochemicals on the behaviour of cereal aphid parasitoids (Hymenoptera). In: *Behaviour and Impact of Aphidophaga*. Eds. L. Polgar, R.J. Chambers, A.F.G. Dixon & I Hodek. *Proceedings of the* 4<sup>th</sup> Meeting of the IOBC working group, SPB Academic Publishing, pp 149-157.
- POWELL, W. & GLINWOOD, T. (1998) Aphid sex pheromones to enhance parasitoid efficiency. *HGCA Cereals Project Report* **155**, IACR-Rothamsted, Harpenden.

- POWELL, W. & PICKETT, J.A. (2003) Manipulation of parasitoids for aphid pest management: progress and prospects. *Pest Management Science* 59 (2), 149-155.
- PRESTON, C. A., BETTS, H. & BALDWIN, I.T. (2002) Methyl jasmonate as an allelopathic agent: sagebrush inhibits germination of a neighboring tobacco, *Nicotiana attenuate*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **29**, 1007-1023.
- PRICE, W. R. (1975) Insect Ecology, Wiley Interscience, New York. Pp 252-253.
- PRICE, W.R. (1986) Ecological aspects of host plant resistance and biological control: Interactions among three trophic levels. In: *Interactions of Plant Resistance and Parasitoids and Predators of Insects*. Eds. D. J. Boethel, R.D. Eikenbary & R.D. Wiley, New York, pp 11-30.

PROCTER, M. & YEO, P. F. (1973) The Pollination of Flowers. Collins, London.

- PROKOPY, R. J. (1986) Visual and olfactory stimulus interaction in resource finding by insects. In: *Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology.* Eds: D. R. Dent & M. P. Walton. CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- PROKOPY, R. J., COLLIER, R.H. & FINCH, S. (1983) Leaf colour used by cabbage root flies to distinguish among host plants. *Science* **221**, 190-192.
- PROKOPY, R. J., ECONOMOPOULOS, A. P. & MCFADDEN, M. W. (1975) Attraction of wild and laboratory cultured *Dacus oleae* flies to small rectangles of different hues, shades and tints. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **18**, 141-152.
- PROKOPY, R. J. & OWENS, E. D. (1983) Visual detection of plants by herbivorous insects. *Annual Review of Entomology*, **28**, 337-364.
- PUTRA, N. S., & YASUDA, H. (2006) Effects of prey species and its density on larval performance of two species of hoverfly larvae, *Episyrphus balteatus* de Geer and *Eupeodes corollae* Fabricius (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, **41**, 389-397.
- PYKE, G. H. (1982) Local geographic distribution of bumblebees near Crested Butte, Colorado: competition and community structure. *Ecology* **63**, 555-573.

- RABB, R. L. & BRADLEY, J. R. (1968) The influence of host plants on parasitism of the eggs of the tabacco budworm. *J. Econ. Entomol* **61**, 1249-1252.
- RAUSHER, M. D. (1983) Ecology of host-selection behaviour in phytophagous insects. In: *Variable plants and herbivores in natural and managed systems*, Eds. R. F. Denno & M. S. McClure, Academic Press, New York, pp 223-257.
- RASHED, A. & SHERRATT, T. N. (2006) Mimicry in hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae): a field test of the competitive mimicry hypothesis. *Behavioural Ecology* **10**, 1093.
- READ, D.P., FEENY, P.P. and BOOT, R.B. (1970) Habitat selection by the aphid parasite *Diaeretiella rapae* (Hymenoptera: Braconidae) and hyperparasite *Charips brassicae* (Hymenoptera: Cyripidae). *Canadian Entomologist* **102**, 1567-1578.
- REEPMEYER, H. (1969) Studies on the influence of aphids on oviposition in Syrphus corollae Fabr. (Diptera: Syrphidae). Unpublished dissertation, Faculty of Agriculture, Georg-August University, Göttingen, Germany.
- RHOADES, D.F. & CATES, R.G. (1976) A general theory of plant herbivore chemistry. *Recent Advances in Phytochemistry* **10**, 168-213.
- RITTER, F. J. (Ed.) (1979) *Chemical Ecology: Odour Communication in Animals.* Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- ROCKSTEIN, M. (1978) *Biochemistry of Insects*, Academic Press, New York, p 649
- RÖDER, G. (1990) Biologie der Schwebfliegen (Diptera: Syrphiae). (The Biology of German hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphiae). Erna Bauer Verlag, Keltern-Weiler, BRD.
- ROESSINGH, P. & STÄDLER, E (1990) Floiar form, colour and surface characteristics influence oviposition in the cabbage root fly *Delia* radicum. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata **81**, 53-59.
- ROJO, S., HOPPER, K. R. MARCOS-GARCIA, M. A. (1996) Fitness of the hover flies *Episyrphus balteatus* and *Eupeodes corollae* faced with limited larval prey. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, **81** (1), 53 -59.

- ROSSI, J., GAMBA, U., PINNA, M., SPANGNOLO, S. VISTENTIN, C. & ALMA, A. (2006) Hoverflies in organic apple orchards in north-western Italy. *Bulletin of Insectology* **59** (2), 111-114.
- ROTHERAY, G. E. (1980) The Life Cycle and Distribution of Syrphus ribesii (L) Diptera: Syrphidae) occurring in the British Isles. Unpublished PhD Thesis.
- ROTHERAY, G. E. (1986) Effects of plant topography and larval morphology on the searching efficiency of aphidophagous Syrphidae. In: *Ecology of Aphidophaga* 1, Eds. I. Hodek & W. Junk. Academia, Prague, pp 107-111.
- ROTHERAY, G. E. (1989a) *Aphid predators*. Cambridge Naturalists' Handbooks **7**. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- ROTHERAY, G. E. (1989b) Colour, shape and defence in aphidophagous syrphid larvae (Diptera). *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* **88**, 201-216.
- ROTHERAY, G. E. (1993) Colour Guide to Hoverfly Larvae (Diptera: Syrphidae) in Britain and Europe. Dipterists' Digest **9**, 1-156.
- ROTHERAY, G. E. & GILBERT, F. S. (1989) The phylogeny and systematics of European predacious Syrphidae (Diptera) based upon larval and puparial stages. *Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society* **95**, 340-345.
- ROTHERAY, G. E. & GILBERT, F. S. (1993) Phylogeny of palaeractic syrphidae. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society **27**, 1-79.
- ROTHERAY, G.E. & MARTINAT, P. (1984) Searching behaviour in relation to starvation of *Syrphus ribesii. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **36**, 17-21.
- RÜŽiČKA, Z. (1975) The effect of various aphids as larval prey on the development of *Metasyrphus corollae* (Diptera, Syrphidae). *Entomophaga* **20**, 393-402.
- SADEGHI, H. & GILBERT, F. (1999) Individual variation in oviposition preference, and its interaction with larval performance in an insect predator. *Oecologia* **118**, 405-411.
- SADEGHI, H. & GILBERT, F. (2000a) Oviposition preferences of aphidophagous hoverflies, *Ecological Entomology* **25**, 91-100.

- SADEGHI, H. & GILBERT, F. (2000b) The effect of egg load and host deprivation on oviposition behaviour in aphidophagous hoverflies. *Ecological Entomology* **25**, 101-108.
- SALVETER, R. (1996) Population structure of aphidophagous syrphids (Diptera: Syrphidae) in agricultural landscapes. PhD thesis, University of Bern, Switzerland, p 117.
- SALVETER, R. (1998) The influence of sown herb strips and spontaneous weeds on the larval stages of aphidopgahous hoverflies (Dipt., Syrphidae). *Journal of Applied Entomology* **122** (2-3), 103-114.
- SALVETER, R. & NENTWIG, W. (1993) Hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) in the agrarian landscape: Phenology, abundance and labelling experiments. *Mitteilungen der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Bern* **50**, 147-191.
- SANDERS, W. (1979) Das Eiablageverhalten der Schwebfliege Syrphus corollae Fabr. In: Abhängigkeit von der Gröbe der Blattlauskolonie Zeitschrift für Angewandte Entomologie **66**, 217-232.
- SANDERS, W. (1981) Der Einfluss von weissen und schwarzen Flachen auf das Verhalten der Schwebfliege *Syrphus corollae* Fabr. *Zeitschrift fur Angewandte Zoologie* **68**, 307-314.
- SANDERS, W. (1983a) The searching behaviour of gravid *Syrphus corollae* Fabr. (Dipt: Syrphidae) and its dependence on optical cues (in German). *Zeitschrift für Angewandte Zoologie* **70**, 235-247.
- SANDERS, W. (1983b) The searching behaviour of gravid Syrphus corollae Fabr. (Dipt: Syrphidae) in relation to variously designed plant models (in German). Zeitschrift für Angewandte Zoologie 70, 449-662.
- SANDERSON, T. A., MAUDSLEY, M. M. J. & DIXON, A. F. G. (1992) The relative role of natural enemies and weather in determining cereal aphid abundance. *Aspects of Applied Biology* **31**, 1-9.
- SARTHOU, E. E., QUIN, A., GILBERT, F., HODEK, I, ARRIGON, F., BARREAU,
  G., MICHAUD, J., OBRYCKI, J., BOUVIOU, B (2005) Landscape parameters explain the distribution and abundance of *Episyrphus balteatus* (Diptera: Syrphidae). *European Journal of Entomology* 102 (3), 539-545.

- SCHEPERS, A. (1989) Chemical Control. In: *Aphids: Their Biology, Natural Enemies and Control.* In: *World Crop Pests* **2C**, Eds. A.K. Milne & P. Harrewijn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 89-122.
- SCHMID, U. (2004) The hoverfly *Episyrphus balteatus* (DeGeer, 1776) (Dipt., Syrphidae) – insect of the year 2004. *Entomologische Nachrichten und Berichte* **48** (1), 1-10.
- SCHMID-HEMPEL, P. & SPEISER, B. (1988) effects of inflorescence size on pollination in *Epilobium angustifolium*. *Oikos* **53**, 98-104.
- SCHNEIDER, F. (1948) Syrphidae (Dipt.) attracted to yellow colours. In: Annual Review of Entomology. 28, Eds. P.G. Baker & H.G. Baker, pp 407-438.
- SCHNEIDER, F. (1969) Bionomics and physiology of aphidophagous Syrphidae. Annual Review of Entomology, 103-124.
- SCHNEIDER. F. (2006) Bionomics and Physiology of Aphidophagous Syrphidae. Federal Research Station Wädenswil (Zurich), Switzerland.
- SCHOFIELD, S. & BRADY, J. (1997) Effects of carbondioxide, acetone and 1octen 3-ol on the flight responses of the stable-fly, *Stomoxys calcitrans*, in a wind tunnel. *Physiological Entomology* **22**, 380-386.
- SCHERER, C. & KOLB, G. (1987) Behavioural elements on the visual processing of colour stimuli in *Pieris brassicae* L (Lepidoptera). *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*. **160**, 645-656.
- SCHOLZ, D. & POEHLING, H. M. (2000) Oviposition site selection of *Episyrphus* balteatus. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata **94**, 149-158.
- SCHOONHOVEN, L. M., JERMY, T. & VAN LOON, J. J. A. (1998) Insect-plant Biology. Chapman & Hall, London.
- SCHUHMACHER, H. & HOFFMAN, H. (1982) Zur Funktion der Mundwerkzeuge von Schwebfliegen bei der Nahrungsaufnahme (Diptera: Syrphidae). (On the function of the mouthparts of hoverflies in food uptake). *Entomologia Generalis* **7**, 327-342.
- SCOGIN, R. & ZAKAR, K. (1976) Biochemical Systems Ecol. 4, 165-168.
- SHAH, M.A. (1982) The influence of plant surfaces on the searching behaviour of coccinellid larvae. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **31**, 377-380.

- SHAH, M.A. (1982) The influence of plant surfaces on the searching behaviour of coccinellid larvae. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **31**, 377-380.
- SHONOUDA, M. L., BOMBOSCH, S., SHALABY, A. M. & OSMAN, S. I. (1998) Biological and chemical characterisation of a kairomone excreted by the bean aphid, *Aphis fabae* Scop. (Hom: Aphididae) and its effect on the predator *Metasyrphus corollae* Fabr. 1. Isolation, identification and bioassay of aphid-kairomone. *Journal of Applied Entomology* **122**, 15-23.
- SINGER, M. C. (1986) The definition and measurement of oviposition preference in plant-feeding insects. In *Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology.* Eds. D. R. Dent & M. P. Walton. CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- SINGER, M. C., Ng, D. & THOMAS, C. D. (1988) Heritability of oviposition preference and its relationship to offspring performance within a single insect population. *Evolution* **42**, 977-985.
- SJÖDIN, N. ERIK (2007) Pollinating insect responses to grazing intensity, grassland characteristics and landscape complexity. Dept. of Ecology, SLU. Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae. 55.
- SLATER, P.J. B. (1983) The study of communication, In: *Animal Behaviour,* **2**, *Communication.* Eds. P. P. G. Bateson & P. H. Klopfer, New York: Plenum Press, pp 35-49
- SLATER, P.J. B. (1999) *Essentials of Animal Behaviour*. Cambridge University Press.
- SMILEY, J. (1978) Plant chemistry and the evolution of host specificity: new evidence from *Heliconius* and *Passiflora*. *Science* **201**, 745-747.
- SNYNDER, A. W., MENZEL, R. LAUGHLIN, S. B. (1973) Structure and function of the fused rhabdom. *Journal of Comparative Physiology*, **87**, 99-135.
- SOBOTA, G. TWARDOWSKI, J. (2004) Variation in species spectrum of hoverflies (Diptera: Surphudae) in arable crops depending on the collection method. *Electronic Journal of Polish Agricultural Universities* **7** (2), 1-9.
- SOL, R. (1966) The occurrence of aphidophagous syrphids and their larvae on different crops, with the help of coloured water traps. In: *Ecology of*

*Aphidophagous Insects.* Ed. I.Hodek, *Symposium Proceedings.* Prague (1965), pp 181-184.

- SOLOMON, M. G., CROSS, J. V., FITZGERALD, J. D., CAMPBELL, C. A. M., JOLLY, R. L., OLSZAK, R. W., NIEMCZYK, E. & VOGT, H. (2000) Biocontrol of Pests of Apples and Pears in Northern and Central Europe. *Biocontrol Science and Technology* **10**, 100-102.
- SOUTHWOOD, T. R.E. (1978) *Ecological Methods, with Particular Reference to the Study of Insect Populations.* London: Chapman & Hall.
- SOUTHWOOD, T.R.E. (1986) Plant surfaces and insects-an overview. In: Insects and the Plant Surface, Eds. B, Juniper & R. Southwood, Edward Arnold, London, pp 1-22.
- SPAETHE, J., TAUTZ, J. & CHITTKA, L. (2001) Visual constraints in foraging bumblebees: Flower size and color affect search time and flight behavior. Proceedings of the National Academy of the United States of America 98 (7), 3898–3903.
- SPEARS, E. E. (1983) A direct measure of pollinator effectiveness. *Oecologia, Berlin,* **57**, 196-9.
- SPEIGHT, M. C. D. (2005) Why do females predominate in Malaise trap catches of syrphids (Dipeta: Syrphidae)? 3<sup>rd</sup> International Symposium on Syrphidae. 5<sup>th</sup> September, Leiden, Netherlands.
- SPHENGEL, C. K. (1793) Das entdeckte, Geheimnis der Natur im Bau und in der Befrüchtung der Blumen. In: Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees. Ed. J.B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England (1970), pp 269-265.
- SSYMANK, A. & GILBERT, F. (1993) Anemophilous pollen in the diet of syrphid flies, with special reference to the leaf feeding strategy occurring in <u>Xylotini</u> (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Deutsche Entomologische Zeitung* **2**, 245-258.
- STARY, P. (1988) Aphidiidae. In *World Crop Pests* **2B.** Eds. A. K. Milne & P. Harrewijn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 171-184.
- STAVENGA, D. G. (1974) Visual receptor optics Rhodopsin and pupil in fly retinula cells. In *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London,* **190**, Eds. G.A. Horridge, F.R.S. Mimura & Y. Tsukahara, pp 225-237.

- STAVENGA, D. G. (1979) Pigments in compound eyes. In: *Facets of vision*, Eds. D.G. Stavenga & R.C. Hardie. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, New York, pp 152-172.
- STAVENGA, D. G. (1989) Pigments in compound eyes. In: *Facets of Vision*. Eds. D. G. Stavenga & R. C. Hardie. Springer, New York, pp 152-172.
- STAVENGER, D.G. & SHWEMER, J. (1984) Visual pigments of invertebrates. In: Journal of Comparative Physiology A **171**. Eds. L. Chittka & R. Menzel, pp 171-181.
- STAVENGA, D.G. SMITS, R.P. & HOENDERS, B.J. (1993) Simple exponential functions describing the absorbance bands of visual pigment spectra. *Vision Res.* **33**, 1011-1017.
- STEIDLE, J.L.M. & VAN LOON, J.J.A (2003) Dietary specialization and infochemical use in carnivorous arthropods: testing a concept. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **108**, pp 133-148.
- STAVENGA, D. G. (1989) Pigments in compound eyes. In: *Facets of Vision*. Eds. D. G. Stavenga & R. C. Hardie. Springer, New York, pp 152-172.
- STELLEMAN, p. (1978) The possible role of insect visits in pollination of reputedly anemophilous plants, exemplified by *Plantago lanceolata*, and syrphid flies. In: *The Pollination of Flowers by Insects*. Ed. A.J. Richards, Linnean Society Symposium Series, 6, Academic Press, pp 41-46
- STUBBS, A. E. & FALK, S. J. (2000) *British Hoverflies.* British Entomological and Natural History Society: Hurst, Reading.
- SUTHERST, R. W., MAYWALD, G.F., YONOW, T. & STEVENS, P. M. (1999) CLIMEX: *Predicting the Effects of Climate on Plants and Animals*. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Australia, p 88.
- SUTHERLAND, J. P. (1998) Resource assessment and utilisation by aphidophagous syrphids, and its implications for integrated pest management. Ph. D Thesis, Manchester Metropolitan University.
- SUTHERLAND, J. P., SULLIVAN, A. S. & POPPY, G. M. (1999) The influence of floral character on the foraging behaviour of the hoverfly *Episyrphus* balteatus (Degeer). Entomologia Experimentalis et Apllicata, **93**, 157-164.
- SUTHERLAND, J. P., SULLIVAN, M. S. & POPPY, G. M. (2001) Distribution and abundance of aphidophagous hoverflies (Diptera:

Syrphidae) in wildflower patches and field margin habitats *Agricultural and Forest Entomology* **3** (1), 57–64.

- SVENSSON, B. G. & JANZON, L. A. (1984) Why does the hoverfly *Metasyrphus* corollae migrate? *Ecological Entomology* **9**, 329-335.
- TAMAKI, G., LANDIS, B. J. & WEEKS, R. E. (1967) Syrphid oviposition and predation on the autumn population of green peach aphid morphs on peach trees. *Journal of Economic Entomology* **60**, 433-436.
- TATCHELL, G. M. (1990) Monitoring and forecasting aphid problems. In: Proceedings, Aphid-Plant Interactions: Populations to Molecules, Eds. D. C. Peters, J. A. Webster & C. S. Chlouber. Agricultural Research Service, Oklahoma State University, pp 12-17.
- TELENGA, N.A. (1958) Investigations on Trichogramma evanescens (Westw.) and T. Pallida (Meyer) (Hymenoptera: Trichogrammatidae) and their use for the biological control of injurious insects in the U.S.S.R. In: *Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds.* Ed. P. Debach (1973) Chapman & Hall Ltd, London, pp 467-471.
- TENHUMBERG, B. (1992) Untersuchungen zur Populationsdynamik von Syrphiden in Winterweizenbeständen und Quantifi-zeirung ihrer Bedeutung Antago-nisten von Getreideblattläusen. In: Predicting predation efficiency of biocontrol agents: linking behaviour of individuals and population dynamics. Ed. B. Tenhumberg (2005) School of Natural Resources, University of Nebraska, USA.
- TENHUMBERG, B. (2005) Predicting predation efficiency of biocontrol agents: linking behaviour of individuals and population dynamics. School of Natural Resources, University of Nebraska, USA.
- TENHUMBERG, B. & POEHLING, H.M. (1995) Syrphids as natural enemies of cereal aphids in Germany: Aspects of their biology and efficacy in different years and regions. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment*, 52, 39-43.
- TEW, J. E. (1998) *Nectar And Pollen Producing Plants Of Alabama, A Guide for Beekeepers.* ACES Publications.
- THOMAS, M.B., WRATTEN, S.D. & SOTHERTON, N.W. (1991) Creation of 'island' habitats in farmland to manipulate populations of beneficial arthropods: predator densities and emigration. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **28**, 906-917.

- THOMAS, M.B., WRATTEN, S.D. & SOTHERTON, N.W. (1992) Creation of 'island' habitats in farmland to manipulate populations of beneficial arthropods: predator densities and species composition. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **29**, 524-531.
- THOMPSON, W.R., MEINWALD, J., ANESSHANSLEY, D. & EISNER, T. (1972) Science, N.Y. **177**, 528-530.
- THORNHILL, R. & ALCOCK, J. (1983) *The Evolution of Insect Mating Systems*. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- TINBERGEN, N. (1958) Curious Naturalist. In: Insects as flower visitors and pollinators. Ann. Rev. Entomologia **28**, 407-438.
- TORP, E. (1984) De Danske Svirrefluer (Diptera: Syrphidae). Kendetegn, levevis ogudbredelse (The Danish Hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). Characteristics, habits and distribution). Danmarks Dyreliv Bind 1. Fauna Bøger, København, Denmark.
- TORR, S.J. & HALL, M.J.R. (1992) Odour-baited targets to control new-world screwworm, *Cochliomyia hominivorax* (Diptera, Calliphoridae) a preliminary study. *Bulletin of Entomological Research*, **82**, 417-423.
- TUCKER, V. A. (1970) Energetic cost of locomotion in animals. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* **34**, 841-46.
- TURLINGS, T.C.J., TUMLINSON, J.H., LEWIS, W.J. & VET, L.E.M. (1989) beneficial arthropod behaviour mediated by airborne semiochemicals. 8. Learning of host-related odours induced by a brief contact experience with host by-products in *Cotesia marginiventris* (Cresson), a generalist larval parasitoid. *Journal of Insect Behaviour* 2, 217-225.
- VALENTINE, E. W. (1967) Biological control of aphids. *Proceedings of the 20<sup>th</sup> New Zealand Plant Protection Conference* **1967**, 204-207.
- VERLINDEN, L. & DECLEER, K (1987) The hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) of Belguim and their faunistics: Frequency, distribution, phenology, Institut Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique. Cocuments de Travail 39, Bruxelles.
- VERNON, R. S. & BARTEL, D. L. (1985) Effect of hue, saturation and intensity on color selection by the onion fly, *Delia antiqua* (Meigen) (Diptera: Anthomyiidae) in the field. *Environmental Entomology*, **14**, 210-216.

- VERNON, R. S. & BORDEN, J. H. (1983) Spectral specific discrimination by *Hylemya antiqua* (Meigen) (Diptera: Anthomyiidae) and other vegetable infesting species. *Environmental Entomology*, **12**, 650-655.
- VET, L.E.M., LEWIS, W.J., PAPAJ, D.R. & VAN LENTEREN, J.C. (1990) A variable response model for parasitoid foraging behaviour. *Insect Behaviour* **3**, 471-490.
- VIA, S. (1986) Genetic covariance between oviposition preference and larval performance in an insect herbivore. *Evolution* **40**, 778-785.
- VISNYOVSZKY, É. (1988) Phenological study of the syrphid flies caught by a Malaise trap. In: *Ecology and Effectiveness of Aphidophaga.* Eds.
   E. Niemczyk & A.F.G. Dixon, Symposium Proceedings, SPB Academic Publishing, The Hague, the Netherlands, pp 123-127.
- VOGT, H. & WEIGEL, A. (2000) Is it possible to enhance the biological control of aphids in an apple orchard with flowering strips? *IOBCIWPRS Bulletin* (in press).
- VOLK, S. (1964) Studies on the oviposition of *Syrphus corollae* Fabr. (Dipteria: Syrphidae) (in German with English summary). *Zeitschrift für angewandte Entomologie*, **54**, 365-386.
- VÖLKL, W. (1988) Food relations in *Cirsium*-aphid systems; The role of thistles as a base for aphidophagous insects. In: *Ecology and Effectiveness* of Aphidophaga Ed. E. Niemczyk & A.F.G. Dixon. *Symposium Proceedings,* SPB Academic Publishing, the Hague, Netherlands, pp 145-148.
- WACHT, S., LUNAU, K & HANSEN, K. (1996) Optical and chemical stimuli control pollen feeding in the hoverfly *Eristalis tenax*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **80**: 50-53.
- WADDINGTON, K. D. (1980) Flight patterns of foraging bees relative to density of artificial flowers and distribution of nectar. *Oecologia* **44** (2), 1432 1939.
- WADE, R. & WRATTEN, S. D. (2007) Excised or intact inflorescences? Methodological effects on parasitoid wasp longevity. *Biological Control* **40** (3), 347 -354.
- WADHAMS, L. J. (2003) Host location mechanisms in insects. *SEB Abstracts/Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology* Part A **134**, S63 A8.13.

- WADHAMS. L.J., BLIGHT, M.M., KERGUELEN, V., LEMETAYER, M., MARION POLL, F., MASSON, C., PHAM DELEGUE, M. H.& WOODCOCK, C.M. (2004) Discrimination of oilseed rape volatiles by honey-bee – novel combined gas-chromatographic electrophysiological behavioural assay. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **20**, 3221-3231.
- WADHAMS, L. J., BIRKETT, M. A., POWELL, W. & WOODCOCK, C. M. (1999) Aphids, predators and parasitoids. *Novartis Found Symposium* **223**, 60 – 70.
- WALL, R., GREEN, C.H., FRENCH, N. P. & MORGAN, K.L. (1992) Development of an attractive target for the sheep blowfly *Lucilia sericata*. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology*, **6**, 67-74.
- WALL, R. & WARNES, M. L. (1994) Responses of the sheep blowfly *Lucilia* sericata to carrion odour and carbon-dioxide. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **73**, 239-246.
- WALLACE, A. R. (1878) Tropical Nature and Other Essays. In: *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, **204**. Ed. P.G. Kevan., L. Chittka. & A.G. Dyer, pp 2571-2580.
- WALTERS, M. C., PENN, F., DU TOIT, F., BOTHA, T.C., AALBERSBERG, K., HEWITT, P.H. & BROODRYK, S. W. (1980) The Russian wheat aphid. *Farming in South Africa, Leaflet Service Wheat G.3:* 1-6.
- WEEMS, H.V. (1953) Notes on collecting syrphid flies (Diptera: Syrphidae) In: Biological Control of Insect Pests and Weeds. Ed. P. Debach (1973) Chapman & Hall Ltd, London, pp 467-471.
- WIEGMANN, D.D., WIEGMANN, D.A., MACNEAL, J. & GAFFORD, J. (2000) Transposition of flower height by bumble bee foragers (*Bombus impatiens*). Animal Cognition **3** (2), 85-89.
- WEISS, M. R. (1995) Associative colour learning in a nymphalid butterfly. *Ecological Entomology* **20**, 298-301.
- WERNER, A., MENZEL, R. & WEHRHAHN, C. (1988) Colour constancy in the honeybee. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **8**, 56-159.
- WHITE, A. J., WRATTEN, S. D., BERRY, N. A. & WEIGMANN, U. (1994) Border planting to enhance biological control of brassica pests by hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae). *Proceedings of the 47<sup>th</sup> New Zealand Plant Protection Conference*, 128-134.

WHITE, A. J., WRATTEN, S. D., BERRY, N. A. & WEIGMANN, U. (1995) Habitat manipulation to enhance biological-control of brassica pests by hover flies. *Journal of Economic Entomology* **88**, 1171-1176.

WHITMAN, D.W. & ELLER, F.J. (1990) Chemoecology, 1, 69-75.

- WHITTING, B. E. (2007) Relative attractiveness of habitat plantings to microhymenoptera. Department of Entomology, College of Agriculture and Life Sciences North Carolina State University, Raleigh, North Carolina 27695-7613.
- WIESMANN, R. (1960) Studies of the sensory function of baits. *Review of Applied Entomology* **50**, 210.
- WIKLUND, C. (1981) Generalist vs. specialist oviposition behaviour in *Papilio* machaon (Lepidoptera) and functional aspects on the hierarchy of oviposition preferences. *Oikos* **36**, 163-170.
- WILKENING, K. (1961) Erfahrungen und Beobachtung bei der Laboratoriumzucht von Syrphus Fabr. Zeitschrift für Angewandte Zoologie **48**, 221–240.
- WILLIAMS, I. H. & CHRISTIAN, D. G. (1991) Observations on *Phacelia tanacetifolia* Bentham (Hydrophyllaceae) as a plant food for honeybees and bumblebees. *Journal of Apicultural Research* 30, 3-12.
- WILLMER, P. (1986) Microclimatic effects on insects at the leaf surface. In: Insects and the Plant Surface, Eds. B. Juniper & R. Southwood, Edward Arnold, London, pp 65-80.
- WILSON, E. O. (1972) Chemical Communication within animal species. In: *Chemical Ecology*, Eds. Sondheimer, E. & Simeone, J.B, Academic Press, New York, pp 133-156.
- WINDER, L. HIRST, D. J., CARTER, S.D. WRTTEN, S.D. & SOPP, P.L. (1994) Estimating predation of the grain aphid *Sitobion avenae* by polyphagous predators. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **31**, pp 1 – 12.
- WINDER, L., PERRY, J. N. & HOLLAND, J. M. (1999) The spatial and temporal distribution of the grain aphid *Sitobion avenae* in winter wheat. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **93**, 277 -290.
- WNUK, A. (1972) Investigations on the species composition of predaceous Syrphidae (Diptera) occurring in the colonies if aphids on fruit trees

and shrubs (In Polish, English abstract). *Polski Pismo Entomologizine* **42**, 235 – 247.

- WNUK, A. (1977) The natural enemy *Episyrphus balteatus* (Deg) (Diptera: Syrphidae) limiting *Aphis pomi* Deg. (Hom, Aphidae). (In Polish, English abstract). *Polski Pismo Entomologizine* **47**, 455-460.
- WNUK, A. (1977) Evaluation of the effectiveness of *Episyrphus balteatus* (Deg.) (Diptera: Syrphidae) control of *Aphis pomi* Deg. (Hom: Aphidae). (In Polish, English abstract). *Polskie Pismo Entomologiozne* 47, 755–760.
- WNUK, A. (1979) *Episyrphus balteatus* (de Geer, 1776) (Diptera: Syrphidae) as an aphid predator (in Polish, with English and Russian summary). Rozprawa habilitacyjna, Akademia Polnicza im. H. Kollataja w Krakowie, Poland.
- WRATTEN, S. D., BOWIE, M. H. & WHITE, A. J. (1995a) Evaluation of novel crop plants as potential resources for hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) in Canterbury, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Crop Horticulture Research (in press).
- WRATTEN, S. D. & VAN EMDEN, H.F. (1995) Habitat management for enhanced activity of natural enemies of insect pests. In: *Ecology* and integrated farming systems, Eds. D.M. Glen, M. P. Greaves, & H. M. Anderson. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, pp 117-145.
- WRATTEN, S. D., WHITE, A. J., BOWRIE, M. H., BERRY, N. A. & WEIGMANN, U. (1995b) Phenology and ecology of hoverflies (Diptera: Syrphidae) in New Zealand. *Environmental Entomology* 24, 595-600.
- WYATT, T. D. (1997) Methods in Studying Insect Behaviour. In: *Methods in Ecological and Agricultural Entomology.* Eds. D. R. Dent & M. P. Walton. CAB International Press, pp 27-56.
- WYATT, T. D., VASTIAU, K. & BIRCH, M.C. (1997) Orientation of male *Anobium punctatum* (Coleoptera: Anobiidae): use of visual and turbulence cues to its own pheromone. *Physiological Entomology* (in Press).
- WYSS, E. (1995) The effects of weed strips on aphids and aphidophagous predators in an apple orchard. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **75**, 43-49.

- ZEEGERY, J. (2005) Changes in abundance's of Dutch Syrphidae. 3<sup>rd</sup> International Symposium on Syrphidae, 2-5<sup>th</sup> September. Leide, the Netherlands.
- ZERRAHN, G. (1934) Formdressur und Formunterscheidung bei der Honigbiene.
  In: Effect of flower shapes and nectar guides on the behaviour of foraging honeybees. Ed. J. B. Free. Rothamsted Experimental Station, Harpenden, Herts, England (1970), pp 269-265.
- ZHU, J., OBRYCHI, J. J. OCHIENG, S. A., BAKER, T. C., PICKETT, J. A. & SMILEY, D. (2005) Attraction of two lacewing species to volatiles produced by host plants and aphid prey. Naturwissenschaften 92 (6), 1432 – 1904.
- ZOEBELIEN, G. (1955) Der honigtau als nahrung der Insekten. I. (Honeydew as food for insects) Zeitschrift für angewandte Entomologie **38**, 369-416.